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CHEN Xian
LU Zhong
GE Xuan

Ms. FU Qiang was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 23 June
2017 when Mr. HUA Guanfa ceased to be a non-executive Director on the same
day.

Dr. TYEN Kan Hee Anthony was appointed as an independent non-executive

Director with effect from 27 March 2018 when Mr. CHEUNG Chung Yan David
ceased to be an independent non-executive Director on the same day.
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. NG Kwok Leung Frank (Chairman)
Mr. GE Xuan

Mr. LU Zhong

Dr. TYEN Kan Hee Anthony***

Ms. FU Qiang****

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. LI Jin
Ms. NG Sau Mei

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. NG Kwok Leung Frank
Ms. NG Sau Mei
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Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL ADVISER

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

36/F, Tower Two, Times Square
1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

*** Dr. TYEN Kan Hee Anthony was appointed as chairman of the Audit Committee, a
member of the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee and the Risk Management Committee with effect from 27

March 2018.

****Ms. FU Qiang was appointed as a member of the Risk Management Committee

with effect from 23 June 2017.
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HEADQUARTER
17/F, Tower B Fairmont, No. 1 Building, 33# Community

Guangshun North Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall, Cricket Square
Grand Cayman, KY1-1102, Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong
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China Minsheng Bank
Wing Lung Bank Limited
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Year ended 31 December

BZ+=-A=+-—8

Three months ended

BEUTAEH

tHEE IE=@A
31 December 30 September
2017 2017
—E—+F
2017 2016 Changes +=A=+— ZZ—+%F Changes

Bt —T—XE 5 BH H"A=+H -
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®BTT ARBTR ARETE
(Audited) (Audited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(223 (J& &= (REFEF) CREFR)

Revenue A 617,025 871,148 -29.2% 202,459 142,253 +42.3%
PC games revenue PC 3% Uk A 267,985 386,388 | -30.6% 80,357 65,706 +22.3%
Mobile games % B 7 B WA

revenue 260,824 377,049 -30.8% 75,756 64,975 +16.6%
Others H b 88,216 107,711 -18.1% 46,346 11,572 | +300.5%

(Loss)/Profit FNNETE
attributable to BEAEG
equity holders of (B8 FE N/A N/A
the Company (23,996) 148,669 T A 49,515 (5,087) TEMA

Non-IFRS adjusted  FEEI MR B # 3R &
net (loss)/profit* ERAKRAESF N/A N/A

(F18), RmE* (18,027) 182,122 TiEA 44,391 (2,079) TiE A

Attributable to equity 7K/ &) # &
holders of the B AEG N/A
Company 933 191,415 | -99.5% 55,930 (240) TE A

Attributable to FEERIE R IEL
non-controlling
interests (18,960) (9,293) | +104.0% (11,539) (1.839)| +527.5%

*

Non-IFRS adjusted net (loss)/profit was derived from the audited net (loss)/

profit for the year excluding share-based compensation expense.

*

FEBEFHREENEARFEER) A
KEFRANLEETF(BER)/FE  TBIEFEN

Bt RERHMERX -

—E-CEEH



Five Years Financial Summary
hFEUBRE

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
—F-=F —T-mMF —T-AF —ZT-RF ZB-tF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTET ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT AR%®TR

Revenue A 236,300 475,769 769,625 871,148 617,025
Gross profit EF 156,497 294,500 459,436 461,951 329,053
Profit/(Loss) before income & P8R AT FI5E
tax (B1#8) 44,767 111,599 139,145 146,499 (36,596)
Profit/(Loss] for the year FEME/(EE) 40,461 97,643 112,059 139,376 (42,956)
Attributable to equity RARERFAA
holders of the Company FE1h 35,062 97,641 114,351 148,669 (23,996)
Attributable to non- FEERE S RS
controlling interests 5,409 2 (2,292) (9,293) (18,960)

Non-IFRS adjusted net profit/ 3£ BB B 75 ¥k & 2 8|

(loss) CEEEERE
(B 18) 42,734 144,481 159,974 182,122 (18,027)
Attributable to equity RARERFAA
holders of the Company FEAG 37,261 144,479 162,266 191,415 933
Attributable to non- FEERE S RS
controlling interests 5,473 2 (2,292) (9,293) (18,960)
Assets and liabilities BEENEBE
Total assets BB E 207,996 965,306 1,191,945 1,428,881 1,618,212
Total liabilities wmeE 58,780 75,390 164,678 174,335 162,682
Total equity B 149216 889,916 1,027,267 1,254,546 1,455,530
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Year ended 31 December

Three months ended

BE+t-A=+—H BZUTAH
LFE L=@A
31 December 30 September
2017 2017
2017 2016 Changes —ZE—tH  —T—+tHF Changes
ZE—+F —T—RF 2% +—A=+—H NA=+H 2
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT ARBFTT ARETT
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REHER) CREE) (REES) CREE)
MAUs (inthousands): & AERBRAF
(LF&5IR) :
Self-developed games B 3 79 3 12 &
— Texas Hold'em —EMNER 578 822 -29.7% 709 569 +24.6%
— Mahjong — i 1% 3,911 5,607  -30.2% 4,135 3,966 +4.3%
— Fight the Landlord  — 3t 13,846 18,200 -23.9% 14,287 13956 +2.4%
— Other self-developed — Hfth 8+
games A 2% 07 5 3,401 4,983  -31.7% 3,691 3,391 +8.8%
Total et 21,736 29,612 -26.6% 22,822 21,882 +4.3%
MPUs (in thousands): B AfREBRAE
(XF &R :
Self-developed games B = [ 2 7 5 1,427 1,879 -24.1% 1,579 1,453 +8.7%
ARPPU (in RMB): NERFAHKA
(MAR% T
FIR)
Self-developed games B & [l 2% #2 5% 31 33 -6.1% 33 30 +10.0%

—E-CEEH
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Ourgame International Holdings Limited, | hereby
to present to you the results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017.

The revenue of the Group decreased by 29.2% to RMB617.025 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017. The non-IFRS adjusted net profit decreased
to a loss of RMB18.027 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. For
the three months ended 31 December 2017, the non-IFRS adjusted net
profit improved more than 22 times over the three months ended 30
September 2017 to RMB44.391 million.

2017 has been one of the most challenging years for the Company in recent
years. We encountered at the same time intensified competition and
challenges in our China domestic card and board games business, both
from intense competition from new apps that provide online game room
cards function, as well as adverse payment policy changes in the Company’s
main mobile carrier payment partners. The negative impact on both our PC
and mobile China domestic card and board game businesses, particularly in
the beginning of the year, has consequently caused a fairly substantial

downturn on revenue and profitability of the Company.

We addressed the challenges head-on and took the challenges as an
opportunity to revamp and transform our China domestic card and board
games businesses. For our mobile games payment channels, the Company
has made significant efforts to completely revamp most of our mobile
products to move from mobile carrier payments to 3rd party payment
channels such as WeChat and Alipay by the end of 2017, which made our
mobile payment solutions much more stable and cost effective. For both
our PC and mobile China domestic card and board game products, we have
introduced a number of new games features and have significantly
expanded our online/offline tournaments offerings to attract and retain
users to our platform. We have also been actively streamlining and
optimizing our cost structure to drive efficiency and savings. These efforts
take time and resources but we believe these measures are working and
have started to reflect in our quarter to quarter business results over the
year.

While we were addressing the challenges in our China domestic card and

board games business, we continued to invest in and progress on the
Company’s eSports, WPT and mind sports businesses.
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2017 has been a year of rapid progress for our eSports subsidiary, Tianjin
Allied eSports Technology Internet Co., Ltd. ("AES"], both domestically and
globally. 2017 witnessed the opening of the Shenzhen eSports Arena which
is AES’s flagship arena in Southern China. Globally, AES entered into an
agreement with MGM Group to open its global flagship arena at the MGM
Luxor Casino and Hotel which is scheduled to open in the first quarter of
2018 with MGM as its partner to provide substantial marketing and other
supports. With the introduction of this flagship arena, together with AES's
other US and European properties, AES will achieve critical mass in creating
its global arena network that will serve as the foundation to accelerate the
building of its own unique global tournaments and other critical IPs and
assets. AES also made significant progress in building its own branded IP
tournaments as well as establishing further partnerships. AES continued to
hold highly successful branded tournaments with record player participation
and viewership including its Legend Series — CS:Go tournament in Europe,
Super Star Series — Hearthstone in Europe, Overwatch Open Division
tournaments in China, Fight Series in the US and other tournaments. AES
has established itself as a first mover in the global eSports industry and laid
the foundation for further growth.

2017 has also been a year of transformation for our WPT business. WPT
continued to expand its geographic reach by entering into the Brazil, India
and Japan markets for the first time in its history with highly successful
tournaments. WPT's TV viewership is at its all-time high with its TV
programs reaching more than 140 million households worldwide in 2017.
Expanded geographic reach and TV viewership continued to add value to
WPT's brand and is reflected in WPT's expanding sponsorships and
licensing partners with a A-list line-up of sponsors such as Hublot Watch,

Dr. Pepper and JetSmarter.

The Group’s mind sports business managed by Tianjin Zhongqi Weiye Sports
Development Co. Ltd. ("Zhongqi”) made significant progress by continuing
to expand its approved mind sports titles and achieved profitability in 2017.
In the fourth quarter of 2017, People’s Daily Online (AR#3) affiliated fund
became Zhonggi's new strategic investor by taking a 5% stake in Zhonggqi

which will bring further synergy in the company’s future growth.
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In 2017, the Company announced and subsequently completed separate
share placement agreements with key management members and two
significant shareholders. The key management members of the Company,
Mr. Eric Yang, Chairman of the Board, Mr. Frank Ng, co-chief executive
officer of the Company, Mr. Zhang Peng, president of the Group, have
subscribed 89,189,189 shares of the Company. This demonstrated the
management team’s confidence in the Company’s future and will provide
additional cash for the Company’s development.

We will continue to invest in and strengthen our card and board game
business. Besides continuing to expand the Company’'s own games
offerings, we will be actively looking for acquisition opportunities to

complement and expand our games portfolio.

With its Las Vegas flagship arena and other properties coming online and
putting into operation, 2018 will be the year AES starts to generate
meaningful revenue. Based on AES’s global property network, we will focus
on developing breakthrough contents on top of AES's global property

network and tournament IP.

We will be leveraging on WPT's global brand equity to expand into more
geographies and forge more partnerships to further optimize our business.
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Overview

In 2017, loss attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted
to RMB24.0 million, as compared with profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company of RMB148.7 million in 2016. Non-IFRS
adjusted net profit* attributable to equity holders of the Company
amounted to RMBO0.9 million in 2017, as compared with non-IFRS
adjusted net profit* of RMB191.4 million in 2016.

* Non-IFRS adjusted net (loss)/profit was derived from the audited net (loss)/
profit for the year excluding share-based compensation expense.

Revenue

In 2017, revenue of the Group amounted to RMB617.0 million,
representing a decrease of RMB254.1 million or 29.2% as compared
with RMB871.1 million in 2016. The decrease was due to unexpected
changes in our market environment as mentioned above.

In 2017, revenue from PC games amounted to RMB268.0 million,
representing a decrease of RMB118.4 million or 30.6% as compared
with RMB386.4 million in 2016. Mobile games revenue decreased by
30.8% from RMB377.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2016
to RMB260.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. Other
revenue amounted to RMB88.2 million in 2017, representing a
decrease of RMB19.5 million or 18.1% as compared with RMB107.7
million in 2016.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit Margin

In 2017, cost of revenue of the Group amounted to RMB288.0 million,
representing a decrease of RMB121.2 million or 29.6% as compared
with RMB409.2 million in 2016. The resulting gross profit ratio
increased to 53.3% in 2017 from 53.0% in 2016.
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Other Income

In 2017, other income of the Group amounted to RMB51.1 million,
representing a decrease of RMB33.9 million or 39.9% as compared
with RMB85.0 million in 2016. This was primarily due to the decrease

in gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

In 2017, selling and marketing expenses of the Group amounted to
RMB196.7 million, representing an increase of RMB15.1 million or 8.3%
from RMB181.6 million in 2016. The increase in selling and marketing
expenses for the year was mainly due to additional cost incurred for

the increase in marketing activities.

Administrative Expenses

In 2017, administrative expenses of the Group amounted to RMB149.5
million, representing an increase of RMB13.5 million or 10.2%
compared with RMB135.6 million in 2016. The increase in
administrative expenses for the year was mainly due to the early
investments and expenses incurred in the eSports business.

Research and Development Expenses

In 2017, research and development expenses of the Group amounted
to RMB38.3 million, representing a decrease of RMB1.7 million or 4.1%
compared with RMB40.0 million in 2016. The decrease in research
and development expenses for the year was mainly due to the
increasing stability of our games and less expenses required for

research and development.

(Loss)/Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the
Company

In 2017, loss attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted
to RMB24.0 million, as compared with profit attributable to equity
holders of RMB148.7 million in 2016. The decrease was primarily due
to a significant decrease in revenue and significant increase in selling
and marketing and administrative expenses.
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10.

1.

Non-IFRS Measure — Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit

To supplement this annual report which is presented in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), we also
use non-1FRS adjusted net (loss)/profit* attributable to equity holders
of the Company as an additional financial measure to evaluate our
financial performance by eliminating the impact of items that we do

not consider indicative of the performance of our business.

In 2017, non-IFRS adjusted net profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company amounted to RMB0.9 million, as compared with non-
IFRS adjusted net profit of RMB191.4 million in 2016. This was
primarily due to a significant decrease in revenue and significant
increase in selling and marketing and administrative expenses
resulting from eSports business. Our non-IFRS adjusted net (loss)/
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for 2017 and 2016
were derived from (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company for the years excluding share of share-based compensation
expense of RMB24.9 million (2016: RMB42.7 million).

Non-IFRS adjusted net (loss)/profit was derived from the audited net (loss)/
profit for the year excluding share-based compensation expense.

Income Tax Expense

In 2017,
million, representing a decrease of RMBO0.7 million or 10.7% as
compared with RMB7.1 million in 2016.

income tax expense of the Group amounted to RMB6.4

Liquidity and Source of Funding and Borrowing

The Group's total bank balances and cash decreased by 12.8% to
RMB247.4 million as at 31 December 2017 from RMB283.6 million as
at 31 December 2016. The decrease in total bank balances and cash
during the year primarily resulted from the cash payments for the
acquisition of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

and investment activities during the year.
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12.

13.

As at 31 December 2017, the current assets of the Group amounted to
RMB775.7 million, including RMB267.4 million in bank balances and
cash and available-for-sale financial assets, and other current assets
of RMB508.3 million. The increase in trade and other receivables from
RMB311.1 million as at 31 December 2016 to RMB402.4 million as at
31 December 2017 was mainly attributable to a receivable of
RMB35,000,000 from the disposal of 5% of the equity interest in
Zhonggi to Ningbo Meishan Bonded Port Area People’'s Network One
Cultural Industry Equity Investment Partnership (L.P.), details of
which are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 7
December 2017. Current liabilities of the Group amounted to
RMB158.2 million, of which RMB53.8 million were trade payables and
deferred revenue, and other current liabilities of RMB104.4 million. As
at 31 December 2017, the current ratio (the current assets to current
liabilities ratio) of the Group was 4.9 as compared with 4.5 as at 31
December 2016. Gearing ratio is calculated on the basis of total
borrowings [net of cash and cash equivalents) over the Group’s total
equity. The Group did not have any bank borrowings and other debt
financing obligations as at 31 December 2017 and the resulting

gearing ratio was nil (2016: nil).

Material Investments

The Group did not have any material investments during the year
ended 31 December 2017.

Available-for-sale Investments

The Group makes available-for-sale investments for the purposes of (i)
supplementing the Group’s games portfolio to drive higher
monetization of our user base and profitability, (i} exploring new
business opportunities in related areas for acquisitions and also
minimizing the investment risks of the Group, and [iii) surplus cash
management. As at 31 December 2017, the Group's available-for-sale
investments amounted to RMB174.3 million (2016: RMB180.8 million).

Annual Report 2017

12.

13.

R-ZZE—+tHF+-_A=+—H £A&£H
MREBEEAARKETIISIEE L BIF
AREWTLEBEBLHERTEHEE S R
AtHEsREE UWREMRDEE
ARHBESBIESBITL - B 5 K H b 8 UK
BRBEZE-ZE—X"F+=-A=1+—HH
ARBIIBEELHEZHEZE-_Z—tF
T A=+ HBHNARBL24EE T
ERARMEREBLART SR AR
EHREXCEEREREGRLEER

AE)HEFRES%IEENERZEAR
%350000007z'a$\ EAVNYNIS RE o)

—tF+_AERAZAE - AEE
WME%%%AEMBMEEﬁ'ﬁ¢
ARKESSSEETLAE HENKIEAKE
FEWA - AR E MR E) B EARB104.4
BET - RZE—tEtHF+-A=+—
A AEBMRSER(RSHEEE D
BEMLEER)ABLY MRZZE—XRF+
A=+ RABLL-EAEBRBLENRE
BREEHERERBFEMER
EEBAEZOLERFE R —tF
TZA=+—H AEELHEEMMET
F%&EmﬁﬁﬂﬁfE it &E

BELEAT(CE—AF B)-
EARE
RBE-Z—tF+-A=+—BL%F

EAR AEBEYTEFRNEAREERER -

JHEERE

AEBEELHAHRBERE  BEINMRT
REBNBEREASUEDRMBPLEE

SEMREARBME D NEREEED
B T EE TS B DA 1T IR BB T R B PR (R AR
SEMNRERR  RlIETEBRESE

F R _FT—+tF+_A=+—H K&
SEATHEERERARKIT.3IEE T
(ZZ—RF: ARBI1808EET) °



BEES R RO (8)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s investments in unlisted
available-for-sale equity investments amounted to RMB154.3 million,
which included direct equity investments in selected startup
companies mainly engaged in games or mind sports related
technological research and development and direct subscription to
the interests in private equity funds ("Private Equity Funds”] (including
Gong Qing Cheng Wujiang Xingyao Investment Management
Partnership (L.P.) and Beijing Zhongchuang Yonglian Investment
Management Centre (L.P.) etc.) that focus on providing early-stage
funding for companies in the mind sports sector. A breakdown of the

majority of these investments is set out below:

X

—E—+tFE+_A=1+—H8 Xx&EH
RIELTMAHLERSRENTRERA
RELIBEL BIERETAERA
(EERBBEERE NESEBN N
MBEWEERZREREERBALE
RREe ((AEREES]) (BELESH
HEEREBREEEARPEBRER)
RIERBAXKBEEEERL(BERA
B)E ZERAEFPRABT HEDHAA
REATHRE) WED ZFRENKRE
FRAE SN

Amount of
Capital
Contributed Percentage of
Name of Investee Companies by the Group Shareholding Principal Business
REH
BIRENAER EESHE BRESL ETEBXEK
RMB’000
AREETF T
Beijing Leti Wofu Culture Communication Co., Ltd. 1,000 5% Offline sports venues operation
IERERR KL BEBR QA BTREGELE
Beijing Yilian Investment Centre (L.P.) 5,000 5% Investment/management
EREBRERL(BERER) - i
Gong Qing Cheng Wujiang Xingyao Investment 20,000 6.54% Investment/management
Management Partnership (L.P.)
HERDBERRETEAELE(BRE®) KRE /&8
Beijing Zhongchuang Yonglian Investment 23,000 20% Investment/management
Management Centre (L.P.]
IRBAKBREERRL(ERER) KE /&1
Hang Zhou Lehu Investment Partnership (L.P.) 10,000 19.61% Investment/management
MMNEEREEREX(BERAR) ®E e
Tong Xiang Juli Fengyuan Equity Investment Fund 20,000 39.2% Investment/management
Management Partnership (L.P.]
MAZXNEEREREEASERAREE KRE &1
(BER&R)

“_B-tEER
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Performance of unlisted available-for-sale equity investments for the
year ended 31 December 2017 was within the Group's risks tolerance
range without impairment. All these startup companies invested by
the Group are in relatively early stage, and are mainly focused on
product development and launching. For the year ended 31 December
2017, no dividends have been paid from invested startup companies. It
is expected that their own products and the synergistic effects with us
could be seen in the near future. Our Private Equity Funds were also
actively seeking and providing funds for early stage companies in the
Internet segment, which could provide us with a platform to leverage
on our experience and resources, and to minimize our investment
risks. We believe that our investment initiative is an important aspect
of our vision to build up our ecosystem as a whole. The Group will
continue to seek other investment opportunities that not only create
synergies on different levels but also offer high-yield return potential.
During the year ended 31 December 2017, we also disposed of certain
unlisted available-for-sale equity investments and realised a net gain
of approximately RMB2 million. The Group’'s surplus cash
management policy aims at ensuring that our surplus funds are
managed prudently to provide a reasonable return within an
acceptable risk profile. Investment in unlisted financial products
consists of notes with fixed interest return at an annual rate ranging
from 4% to 4.6%, which is managed by a third party investment entity.
The principal amounts of the investments in unlisted financial
products are guaranteed. The Group will continue to monitor its
available-for-sale investments and manage its surplus funds in a
responsible manner. There are no available-for-sale investments in
the Group’s investment portfolio that individually constitutes
significant investment as none of the investments has a carrying
amount that accounts for more than 5% of the Group’s total assets as
at 31 December 2017.
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14.

15.

16.

17.

Movements of available-for-sale investments
The movements of available-for-sale investments for the year ended

31 December 2017 are set out below:

THHERESES
BE-T—t5+-A=+—ALLEE
ZAGHERAZDRIIMT -

Unlisted
Unlisted equity financial
investments products Total
FLHREERE FLTEEER #Et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AREF T ARETTT
Balance as at 1 January 2017 RZZE—+tF—-—A—BO&R 110,759 70,000 180,759
Additions NE 54,290 20,000 74,290
Disposals k=4 (4,000) (70,000) (74,000)
Transfer to interests in associates B2 & pABE 2 N B A1 4 (6,705) - (6,705)
Balance as at 31 December 2017 R-ZE—+F+-_A=+—H
B 4 £R 154,344 20,000 174,344
Material Acquisitions 14. ERWE

Except as disclosed in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, the Group did not have any material

acquisitions during the year ended 31 December 2017.

Material Disposals

Except as disclosed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, the Group did not have any material
disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies during the year
ended 31 December 2017.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2017, none of the Group's assets was pledged (2016:
nil).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2017 (2016: nil).

15.

16.

17.
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18.

19.

20.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group mainly operated
in China and in the United States of America and the majority of its
transactions were settled in RMB or USD, being the functional
currencies of the Group entities to which the transactions relate. As
at 31 December 2017, the Group did not have significant foreign

currency exposure from its operations.

Employee’s Remuneration and Policy

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 463 employees, 126 of which
were responsible for game development and maintenance, 202 for
game operation and offline events organization, 4 for TV shows and
contents production, 87 for general administration and corporate
management and 44 for game production. The total remuneration
expenses, excluding share-based compensation expense, for the year
ended 31 December 2017 were RMB105.1 million, representing a

decrease of 9.3% as compared to the previous year.

We provide external and internal training programs to our employees.
As required by PRC law, we participate in various employee benefit
plans, including housing pension, medical, basic pension and
unemployment benefit plans, occupational injury and maternity leave
insurance. Pursuant to the 2014 Share Option Scheme, 1,440,000
share options were granted to the Directors and senior management
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2017. The Group's
share-based compensation expense for the year ended 31 December
2017 amounted to RMB24.9 million, representing a decrease of
RMB17.8 million as compared with RMB42.7 million in 2016.

Events Occurred since the end of the year ended
31 December 2017

On 16 January 2018,
agreements for the acquisition of 100% equity interests in each of

the Group entered into share transfer

Shenzhen Xunyou Internet Technology Co., Ltd., Nanjing Haoyun
Meicheng Electronics Co., Ltd. and Xiamen Yiwantang Internet
Technology Co., Ltd. (the "Acquisitions”). Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 16 January 2018, 30 January
2018 and 9 February 2018 for further details of the Acquisitions and
completion. Please also refer to the section headed “Purchase, Sale
or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities” below for more
other events occurred since the end of the year ended 31 December
2017.
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ESBRS

The Board is hereby to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017.

The principal activities of the Group are online card and board game
development and operation, organizing and broadcasting online-to-
offline mind-sports events, tournaments and eSports business. The
activities of our principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 14 to the

consolidated financial statements.

The analysis of the Group’s revenues and segment information are
set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2017 (including particulars of important events affecting
the Company that have occurred during the year ended 31 December
2017, an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators and a discussion on the Group's
future business development) is provided in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 8 to 10 of this annual report. A description of the
principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be
found on pages 83 to 85 of this Directors’ Report. In addition, the
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
available in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. Except
as disclosed in this annual report, no other important event affecting
the Company has occurred during the year ended 31 December 2017.

As far as the Board is aware, except as disclosed by the Group, during
the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has complied with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group in all material respects.

The Group values the rights and interests and the needs of each
employee, and strictly observes the provisions of the relevant laws,
statutes and regulations of the PRC to provide employees with various
security, welfare and benefits. The Group has also set up a sound
promotion and assessment system to encourage fair competition. In
addition, the Group attaches importance to communications with its
employees. Apart from personalized mailbox and Lync accounts,
there are systems in place to allow one-on-one communication
between employees and the Chief Executive Officers, communication
between employees and their line managers, and communication

channels including all-staff town hall meeting.

%2%%%%$ﬁi RASEEZE
E—+F+ A=+ —HIEFEZLK
Bt AMBERE -

$%§I%¥ﬁ%ﬁﬁ&%ﬁ@ﬁ%&
BRMERRERTENES

m%&*ﬁ%% B EZME QAN

EBHNEEMBEWMERME 14

BRAASBEZWARDRENZ DHTH
RERB R R M T4

AEERBE " T—+F+-_HA=+—
FLtFEHRANEFOB(BERREZRE
—F- t¢+ A=+—HIEFEHH
BAEREARAMARBEZSEMN FRX
ERMBHEREREEOMARERSE
RAEBERREBERN®) B I RA
FHRESEINWENIFEREN - BALSE
[ 7] RE & T R ) = 2 A Ko N RE M #R
FIMAEFSMEFEECEE - Il
AEENSHERERBRERBERHT
RERE B TR M FE33 o BR AN F 3R PR 3%
BEN RBE-_Z—+F+= H*+
—BILFEHHE TEELEZEARAR
WEMEEZEM -

RESEMA BRAKBEMBEESEIN
RBE-_T-—tF+-_A=+—AL
FEHMMB AEEERMAERTHE
SHASBAEEATEZRBERZE
e

AEBERTEREECEN EHZEH
K WERBEFHREAEERZ  ESR
FERZBTE REERBSERE |
FkFm- AEEBTEBELBEREZ 2B

RET 6 E AS B A F 5o hoh - A
SEERMEES 2/EH - R1E AL
BlynclRPON BB R FEE B gL
THRBHEHERR EERAEHK
BrHMERARPREZERSHEANZE
HMERE -

“_B-tEER



EESRS (B8)

As users of online card and board games could be regarded as the
main customers of the Group, the Group provides its users with high-
quality and safe services both in online and offline events. In relation
to online events, the Group has set up a link to the security center on
the official website and web games to protect users’ game accounts
and privacy. In respect of offline events, the Group coordinates with
the land administration offices and hotels to take various security
measures, and engages specialized security personnel externally to

provide security assurance.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group had approximately
269 suppliers. The Group selects, on its own initiative, suppliers
whose products and services are in compliance with relevant national
standards and adopts strict acceptance standards including a
preliminary assessment on the impact of the goods or services
provided by the suppliers on the environment and society. Under our
strict supervision, no risk has been identified in our supply chain
during the year ended 31 December 2017. Please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company dated
19 April 2018 for further details.

Taking the principal activities of the Group into consideration, less
destruction has been made directly to the environment, but protecting
the environment has always been essential to us and has guided our
actions to minimize our impact. In view of the scarcity of resources,
the Group advocates policies on the efficient use of resources on its
own initiative, motivates all of its employees to participate in
resources conservation activities and encourages them to save water,
power and paper. As most promotion campaigns are conducted
online, packaging or advertisement materials for such campaigns are
therefore not required and no consumption or waste is produced. In
respect of offline events, the Group encourages online advertising and
promotional activities and takes this as the principle. For various
materials used for offline events, the Group opts for recyclable
products so as to prolong their service cycles and reduce renewal
frequency.

Annual Report 2017

MR AR EEEER 2 AP AR AR E
BzIBXP AEBRRPREMHRL
RgTAES2BERRE2RY - EH&L
AT H ASECERTMBREA
BERLEBYTRE2HOMHEE  ARE
REZEBERBEPREN - ERTEST
W ASERIHERRAERAEES
B REZRBRLE2HEE HIHEFHE
ERRABRMHZERE -

BE_Z—+tF+-A=+—HILF
B RNEBHEAN2IBHER - NE
EIEEEERMRETAHEBERE
EZHEFRLRNEBEANRE B8R
HEERERZEMAMBLEIRE kit
SR B ML ERMNERE
ET RBE_ZT—LF+_A=+—
BEFEHRE - A ERLEER
TRRAR FEE-FFHBE FL2HEARN
RABRR-_FT-N\FOA+AAZE

B onekEEmSE -

ERANAKEBZEIRRY BEEHRE
ERZBEERL  BERERBEHEER
MEMERE LESIBRMAERDTHEE
Mg E ERERZBRIE  AEH
ITHEEERNAERZBE B2
RET2HBERGNEE HXBELTH
WRAK BERRHK ARAKZEER
ABERLET AEUEBEFITFER
BRABEEME BTEEHAENE
FoHEFTEHTH AEBEXER L
EERHEREE WAL SREA - HR
BRTEBMAZERBME  REBEEE
A EUREE AR 0 DA E £ AR 7% 1B H 3 B R
TR o



EERS (B8)

In addition to expanding the Group’s business, the Group highly values
environmental protection and the rights and interests of its
employees, and actively participates in charitable activities to
contribute to society. As a main supporter of “Chess and Card to the
West", an activity organized by the Chess and Card Center of General
Administration of Sport, the Group has been to Inner Mongolia,
Sinkiang, Ningxia and Qinghai to promote the game of chess and card
in the western region since May 2017. We have donated chess sets
and books amounting to RMB50,000 to the local people, primary
schools and welfare houses in these areas to enrich their culture and
sports life, and we have donated prizes and souvenirs to help more
chess and card players enjoy the game. For example, the relevant
goods and materials as well as teaching equipment we donated to
Yan'an Yaodian town center primary school, Yan'an new district
primary school and Ningxia Li Jing Zhong primary school are
extremely popular among students. Supported by KongZhong “Red
Telegraph Wave” public welfare, our outstanding employees
voluntarily participated in the “Support Teaching Activities” in
November 2017 in Panlong Town Central Primary School of Shaanxi
Province and Lingjiang Town Second Primary School of Sichuan
Province.

In the future, continuous efforts will be made by the Group and our
employees in promoting sustainability in environment, social and

corporate governance.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 110 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend to
the Shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: nil).
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
ES2RS (B)

RESERVES

Changes to the reserves of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2017 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Changes to the reserves of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2017 are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements. As at 31 December 2017, the Company had
reserves available for distribution of approximately RMB635.3 million
(2016: RMB495.8 million].

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Changes to the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
of the Group during the year are set out in Notes 11 and 12,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE INCENTIVE
SCHEMES

Details of the Company’'s share capital and share incentive schemes
are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and
the paragraph headed "Summary of the Share Option Schemes” on
pages 27 to 34 below, respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017
are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and of the financial positions

of the Group is set out on page 112 of this annual report.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EETTRS(B)

10. USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL

1.

OFFERING

The total net proceeds from the listing on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since 30 June 2014 (the “Listing”) which involved the issue
of 196,000,000 ordinary Shares of US$0.00005 each amounted to
approximately RMB600.3 million. During the year ended 31 December
2017, the net proceeds from the Listing were utilized in accordance
with the proposed applications set out in the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The balance of fund
will be utilized according to the manner as disclosed in the
Prospectus. The Group held the unutilized net proceeds in short-term
deposits with licensed institutions in Hong Kong.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Issue of Shares pursuant to Conversion of
Convertible Note

The Company issued and allotted 64,864,864 shares upon the exercise
of conversion rights in respect of a principal amount of
RMB104,076,322.636 (equivalent to HK$120 million) of the convertible
notes on 28 December 2017. Further details of the issuance of the
convertible note and the conversion shares are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 12 July 2017 and 28 December

2017 respectively.
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Issue of Shares pursuant to Completion of
Subscription Agreements

(a)

(b)

(c)

Management Subscription

On 12 September 2017, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with Total Victory Global Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
and owned equally by Mr. Yang Eric Qing (co-chief executive
officer and an executive Director of the Company, and chairman
of the Board), Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank (an executive Director
and co-chief executive officer of the Company) and Mr. Zhang
Peng (president of the Group], for the subscription of 89,189,189
shares (the "Management Subscription Shares”) at the
subscription price of HK$1.85 per subscription share (the
“Management Subscription”).

Connected Subscription

On 12 September 2017, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with Irena Group Co., Ltd., a company incorporated
under the laws of the People’s Republic of China with limited
liability and a substantial shareholder of the Company, for the
subscription of 64,690,848 shares (the “Connected Subscription
Shares”) at the subscription price of HK$1.85 per subscription
share (the "Connected Subscription”).

Independent Subscription

On 12 September 2017, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with Noumena Innovations (BVI) LTD., a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability,
for the subscription of 71,351,351 shares (the “Independent
Subscription Shares”) at the subscription price of HK$1.85 per
subscription share (the “Independent Subscription”).

(together, the "Subscriptions”).
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The gross proceeds from the Subscriptions amounted to
approximately HK$416.7 million and the net proceeds raised
from the Subscriptions was approximately HK$416.5 million.
The proceeds will be used by the Company in accordance with
the plan as disclosed in the circular issued by the Company on
13 October 2017.

The Independent Subscription was completed on 28 December
2017 and the Independent Subscription Shares were issued on
28 December 2017. The Management Subscription and
Connected Subscription were completed on 4 January 2018 and
the Management Subscription Shares and the Connected
Subscription Shares were issued on 4 January 2018. Further
details of the Subscriptions are set out in the circular of the
Company dated 13 October 2017 and the announcements of the
Company dated 28 December 2017 and 4 January 2018.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s securities during the year ended
31 December 2017.

Apart from the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the 2014 Share Option
Scheme as set out in section 13 and the Share Award Scheme as set
out in section 14 of this Directors’ Report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2017.
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The Company has adopted three share option schemes, namely, (i)
the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, (i) the Management
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and (iii) the 2014 Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2017, a total of 73,062,128 share options were

granted to the following Directors pursuant to the Management Pre-

IPO Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme:

Outstanding

RRAB RN =IARB R ETE - BE
BERLFBEMBRESS  (1EHE
BERAFEESAERESS L) =F
—MEERER S -

R-ZZE—+tF+_A=+—HB UTE
ECREEEBE AAMBESAERE
HEIR - EEREAEERSR
73,062,128 17 B& A% #

Outstanding

as at Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed as at
1 January during during during during 31 December Exercise price
Name of Directors Date of Grant 2017 the year the year the year the year 2017 per Share
R-Z—tF RZB—tH
=t~ +=ZHA=+-H
EEps BB HRITE RERRE RERTE REAZEHE RFEAXX i RITEE BRITREE
Mr. Yang Eric Qing 20 February 2014 20,851,064 — — - — 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
("Mr. Yang") —T—mE 0.16714303%7T
HEEE —A=-+H
(MBEED 5 January 2015 11,760,000 - - - - 11,760,000 HK$2.67
—T-h#F 2.6TETT
—HAEA
8 January 2016 3,920,000 — — - — 3,920,000 HK$5.506
—EREF 5.506/87C
—HANE
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung 20 February 2014 20,851,064 — — — — 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
Frank ('Mr.Ng") —Z—m& 0.16714303% 70
HEREAE ZA=Z+H
(ME%&E]) 5 January 2015 11,760,000 - - - - 11,760,000 HK$2.67
—Z-n%F 2.6TATT
—HAEA
8 January 2016 3,920,000 — — — — 3,920,000 HK$5.506
“ERF 5.50677T
—HN\R
Total
#st 73,062,128 — — - — 73,062,128

Annual Report 2017



EERS (B8)

On 27 March 2017, the Board resolved that all options granted to Mr.
Yang and Mr. Ng shall not be exercised until 1 July 2018, provided that
the share options held by each of Mr. Yang and Mr. Ng which should
vest without the aforesaid modification shall vest immediately upon: (a)
the termination of his service contract with the Company or his
retirement from the Company; (b) any consolidation, merger, sale or
transfer that results in a change of control of the Company (as defined
under the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission in Hong Kong as
amended from time to time); or (c) any such event provided for in the
Listing Rules or the rules of the 2014 Share Option Scheme and/or
the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. The modification of
vesting periods was approved by the Shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 19 May 2017.

Summary of the Share Option Schemes

Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Purpose

The purpose of the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to give
employees of the Group an opportunity to acquire a personal stake in
the Company and help motivate such employees to optimize their
performance and efficiency, and to retain the employees whose
contributions are important to the long term growth and profitability
of our Group. The options entitle eligible employees to obtain existing
issued Shares in the Company from Blink Milestones Limited and will

not involve the Company issuing any new Shares.

Exercise Price

The exercise price under the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is RMB0.1276 per Share [(adjusted for capitalisation issue, on the
basis of RMB0.12756). Please refer to “Appendix IV — Statutory and

General Information” of the Prospectus for further information.
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Exercise of Option

The Shares subject to the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall be vested in four equal annual instalments, with the first
instalment representing twenty five percent (25%) of the Shares
subject to the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme vesting on the
first anniversary of the Listing Date, and an additional instalment
vesting on each anniversary thereafter, subject to the fulfilment of the
grantee’s performance target for the full calendar year before the
vesting determined by the Company being fulfilled and the grantee’s
continuing to be an employee of the Company and being in compliance
with the terms and conditions of the option award agreement dated
20 February 2014 through each such date.

Maximum Numbers of Shares

The maximum numbers of Shares in respect of which options under
the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme may be granted is
25,009,600 Shares. On 7 March 2014, 25,009,600 share options (adjusted
for capitalization issue) were granted to 29 key employees of the
Company by Blink Milestones Limited, after that no further options
were granted. The particulars of the options granted under the
Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in “Appendix IV

— Statutory and General Information” of the Prospectus.

Life of the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
The Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is effective from 7
March 2014 and the remaining life of the scheme is approximately 6

years.

Outstanding Share Options

During the year ended 31 December 2017, 10,152,798 share options
under the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were exercised,
with none of the options forfeited and/or lapsed. As at 31 December
2017, 25,009,600 share options (adjusted for capitalization issue) were
granted under the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme,
15,366,397 options have been exercised and 4,566,803 options have
been forfeited, with 5,076,400 options outstanding, representing
approximately 0.55% of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2017.
Save as disclosed above, none of the options granted have been
exercised, forfeited and/or lapsed.
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RBE-_Z—tF+-_A=t—RHIF
EHHEEERAMEERBARESD
BTIBREEH ZFBHENTRRES

Details of the movements of the options under the Employee Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2017 are
set out below and in Note 27(a) to the consolidated financial

statements: B IS 3R 3= B 5 27(a) -
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed as at
1 January during during during during 31 December Exercise price
Grantees Date of Grant 2017 the year the year the year the year 2017 per Share
RZB—+tH RZB—+tH
-A-A +=A=t+-8
ARA REBAH HRTE FREW FRITE FREAK i RITEE BRITEE
Certain employees 7 March 2014 15,229,198 —  (10,152,798)"" - 5,076,400 RMB0.1276
ATEE —E-mEF ARE0.1276 T
=HA+tH
Total 15,229,198 — (10,152,798 — 5,076,400
st

(1] The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before
options were exercised was HK$2.17.

Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Purpose

The purpose of the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
give Mr. Yang, Mr. Ng, Mr. Zhang Peng [the "Participants’] an
opportunity to acquire a personal stake in our Company and help
motivate such Participants to optimize their performance and
efficiency, and also to help retain the Participants whose contributions
are important to the long-term growth and profitability of our Group.

The principal terms of the Management Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme are substantially the same as the terms of the Employee
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme except that:

(a)  the exercise price under the Management Pre-IPQO Share Option
Scheme is US$0.16714303 per Share (adjusted for capitalisation
issue, on the basis of US$0.34398035);

(b]  twenty five percent (25%) of the Shares subject to the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be vested on
the first anniversary of the grant date and the remaining Shares
subject to the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall
be vested in 36 equal monthly instalments with the first
instalment vesting upon the 13th monthly anniversary of the
grant date and each of the remaining instalments vesting on
each monthly anniversary of the 13th monthly anniversary of
the grant date thereafter. The options may be exercised upon
the Listing.
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Maximum Numbers of Shares Available for Issue

The maximum numbers of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options under the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is 50,042,553 Shares.

Life of the Management Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme

The Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is effective for a
period of 10 years from 7 March 2014 and the remaining life of the
scheme is 6 years.

Outstanding Share Options

As at 31 December 2017, 50,042,553 share options were granted to
certain members of our senior management and Directors under the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, of which 3,822,624 share
options were exercised, leaving an outstanding balance of 46,219,929
options, representing approximately 5.01% of the issued Shares as at
31 December 2017. Save as disclosed, none of the options so far
granted have been exercised, forfeited and/or lapsed.

Details of the movements of options under the Management Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2017 are
set out in the table below and in Note 27(b] to the consolidated
financial statements:

TRITCRERDEE
EEEERAREBESABRESZET

ROz EBREETFRAIZT &
= 28 B 19 450,042,553 §% °

EEEERNFERBENERES T

ZEH
EEEERAAARENEREE A

E-ME=AtBER+FHMEXR
BRI FHR/NF o

HRTEERE

WZZE—+tE+-_A=+—8 REE
BEEBEA AHABENBEREFIE M
BEMEToREEEXRERESERY
50,042,553 & Ak & - H 3,822,624 17 B8
R 4 B FEATE - 82 T 46,219,92917 B P4
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E R E IR E RN SRS R A

SETHBREEZS ZFBEARN TR EE
BB WRME27(b) :

Outstanding Outstanding
asat  Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed asat
Position in relevant 1 January during during during during  31December  Exercise price
Grantees Group companies Date of Grant 2017  theyear  theyear  theyear  theyear 2017 per Share
R-B-tF R-B—tF
REREE —-R-H +=A=t-H R
ERA AR ZR R AH HATE FRRE FrTE FREE  FRXX HRITE %8
Mr. Yang Chairman, Co-Chief 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - - - - 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
Executive Officer
of the Company
oyt KRR ERR —T-|mE 0.16714303% T
HRITIRAR —A=tAH
Mr. Ng Co-Chief Executive Officer 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - - - - 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
of the Company
s /NG eSS 0.16714303% 7T
BRITIREE —A=tH
Mr. Zhang Peng President of the Company 20 February 2014 4,517,801 — — — — 4517,801  US$0.16714303
RigEE ENSIECE “E-mE 0.16714303% 7T
~“A=tH
Total 46,219,929 - - - - 46,219,929
fast
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2014 Share Option Scheme

Purpose

The Company adopted the 2014 Share Option Scheme on 19
November 2014 (the “Adoption Date”). The 2014 Share Option Scheme
is valid for a period of 10 years from the grant date of each option. The
purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme is to provide key
employees, directors or officers of the Group (‘Eligible Persons”)
with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company
and to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company and its Shares for the benefit of the Company and
Shareholders as a whole. The 2014 Share Option Scheme provides the
Company with a flexible means of retaining, incentivizing, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to Eligible
Persons.

Any individual, being an employee, director or officer of any member
of the Group whom the Board or its delegatel(s] considers, in their
sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to the Group is
entitled to be offered and granted options.

Number of Shares Available for Issue under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes is 78,400,000, being no more than 10% of the Shares
in issue as at the Adoption Date. Such scheme mandate limit may be
refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of the Shareholders in
general meetings and/or such other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time. However, the overall limit on the
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2014
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company at any time must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue

from time to time.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 13 May 2016,
the Shareholders approved the proposed refreshment of the scheme
mandate, so that the Company could grant further options under the
2014 Share Option Scheme for subscription of up to a total of
78,719,037 additional Shares. Further details are set out in the
circular of the Company dated 12 April 2016.
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Maximum Entitlement to Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted and to be granted under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company to
each Eligible Person (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total
number of Shares in issue (the “Individual Limit"). Any further grant
of options to a Eligible Person which would result in the aggregate
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted to such Eligible Person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant exceeding
the Individual Limit shall be subject to separate approval of the
Shareholders.

Determination of the Exercise Price

The amount payable for each Share to be subscribed for under an
option in the event of the option being exercised shall be determined
by the Board but shall be not less than the greater of: (a) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by
the Stock Exchange on the grant date; (b) the average closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the grant

date; and (c) the nominal value of a Share on the grant date.

The option period is to be determined and notified by the Board to
each grantee at the time of making an offer, and shall not expire later
than ten years from the grant date of the 2014 Share Option Scheme.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised in general. However, at the time of granting any
option, the Board may, on a case by case basis, make such grant
subject to such conditions, restrictions or limitations including (without
limitation) those in relation to the minimum period of the options to
be held and/or the performance targets to be achieved as the Board
may determine in its absolute discretion.

Vesting period of the Share Options
(1) 25% of the share options shall vest and be exercisable with
effect from the first anniversary of the grant date;

(2)  the second 25% of the share options shall vest and be
exercisable with effect from the second anniversary of the grant
date;

(3)  the third 25% of the share options shall vest and be exercisable
with effect from the third anniversary of the grant date;

(4)  the remaining 25% of the share options shall vest and be

exercisable with effect from the fourth anniversary of the grant
date.
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Exercise of Option
The options may be exercised up to 25% of the Shares for each year
after the first anniversary of the grant date of the share option for four
consecutive years.

Payment on Acceptance of Share Option

An amount of RMB1.00 must be paid as consideration for the grant of
the share options and such payment must be made within 20 business
days from the date the share option grant offer is made to the Eligible
Person.

Movements in the Share Options/Outstanding Share Options
The details of the movements of the options under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out
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in the table below and in Note 27(c) to the consolidated financial PRREE B 2 S IBE N TR MR A B3R
statements: =M EE27(c) -
Outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed Outstanding
asat 1 January during during during during asat31December Exercise price
Grantees Date of Grant Exercisable period 2017  theyear  theyear  theyear theyear 2017 per Share
R-B-+tF R-B-+tF
-A—-H +=ZA=t-H
ARA R AH AT EHE HATE FARE FATE FAEE FRXXN HARTE BROKEE
Mr. Yang 5 January 2015 5 January 2015 - 11,760,000 — - - - 11,760,000 HK$2.67
4 January 2025
oy —Z-n¥-AIA “Z-R5-ARAZE 26TET
“2-nF-AmA
8 January 2016 8 January 2016 - 3,920,000 - - - - 3,920,000 HK$5.506
7 January 2026
—Z-"F—-ANB S  AN=E 5.50677C
ZEIRE-RAtH
Mr. Ng 5 January 2015 5 January 2015 - 11,760,000 — - - - 11,760,000 HK$2.67
4 January 2025
hEsE “Z-RE-AAA “Z-RF-ARAZ 26757
“E-R¥-AMA
8 January 2016 8 January 2016 - 3,920,000 - - - - 3,920,000 HK$5.506
7 January 2026
—Z-"F-ANB —Z—"¥-AN\BE 5.50637T
“ER¥-RtA
Employees of 5 January 2015 5 January 2015 - 22,489,750 —  (130,000" (1,077,500) (308,750 20,973,500 HK$2.67
the Company 4 January 2025
KRAEER —2-n¥-AIA “Z-R5-ARAZE 26TET
“2-nF-AmA
Employees of 9 July 2015 9 July 2015 - 22,365,000 - — (190,000  (235,000) 21,940,000 HK$4.402
the Company 8 July 2025
KRAEIEE —Z-R5t+ANA —Z-R5+ANRE 6402%7T
ZEZRELANR
Employees of 17 May 2016 17 May 2016 - 2,620,000 - —  [165,000) (25,000 2,430,000 HK$3.684
the Company 16 May 2026
ARAEE ZE-RFLAT++tA 2 FLATtEZE 3.684787C
“EORFRRATAA
Employees of 7 September 2016 7 September 2016 - 1,850,000 - - - - 1,850,000 HK$3.95
the Company 6 September 2026
ARAIEER “E-RFNALR “E-RFNALEE 39587
ZERENRRA
Employees of 28 April 2017 28 April 2017 - — 1,440,000° - (220,000) - 1,220,000 HK$2.886
the Company 27 April 2027
ARAEE ZZFPAZTNAR  ZE—tFMAZTNA 2.886387C
it Sl o3
mA=t++tH
Total it 80,684,750 1,440,000  (130,000) (1,652,500]  (568,750] 79,773,500
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The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before
options were exercised was HK$2.97.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before 28 April 2017 was
HK$2.83.

As at 31 December 2017, 84,840,000 options have been granted under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme, and 3,777,500 options have been
forfeited, 766,250 options have lapsed and 522,750 options have been
exercised, leaving an outstanding balance of 79,773,500 options,
representing approximately 8.64% of the issued Shares as at 31
December 2017. Save for the above, none of the options so far granted
have been exercised, forfeited and/or lapsed.

Life of the 2014 Share Option Scheme
The 2014 Share Option Scheme is effective for a period of 10 years
from 19 November 2014 and the remaining life of the scheme is 6

years and 7 months.

Valuation of Share Options

Details of the valuation of share options granted during the year are
set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 19 May 2017 (the
“Share Award Scheme”). The Share Award Scheme is not a share
option scheme and is not subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.

Purpose of the Share Award Scheme

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to align the interests of
eligible persons with those of the Group through ownership of Shares,
dividends and other distributions paid on Shares and/or the increase
in value of the Shares, and to encourage and retain eligible
participants to the Share Award Scheme (the “Share Award Scheme
Participants”] to make contributions to the long-term growth and
profits of the Group.
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Maximum Number of Shares to be Granted

The aggregate number of shares underlying all grants made pursuant
to the Share Award Scheme (excluding awarded shares which have
been forfeited in accordance with the Share Award Scheme) will not
exceed 7% of the total number of issued Shares as at the date of
adoption of the Share Award Scheme (i.e. 15 May 2017, being
55,084,636 Shares (the “Share Award Scheme Limit"), subject to an
annual limit of 3% of the Shares in issue as at the date of each annual
general meeting of the Company.

Vesting of Awards

The Board or its delegate(s] may from time to time while the Share
Award Scheme is in force and subject to all applicable laws,
determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the
Award to be vested.

Movements in the Share Award Scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company purchased
300,000 Shares amounting to HK$783,000.00 through its trustee on
the Stock Exchange. No share was awarded to Share Award Scheme
Participants during the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Directors and senior management of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this annual report

were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Eric Qing (Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank [Co-Chief Executive Officer]

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jiang
Mr. Hua Guanfa*
Ms. Fu Qiang*
Mr. Fan Tai

Mr. Chen Xian
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ge Xuan

Mr. Lu Zhong

Mr. Cheung Chung Yan, David**
Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony**

Ms. Fu Qiang was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from
23 June 2017 when Mr. Hua Guanfa ceased to be a non-executive
Director on the same day.

* Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 27 March 2018 when Mr. Cheung
Chung Yan David ceased to be an independent non-executive Director on
the same day.

Biographical Details of Directors

Executive Directors

Yang Eric Qing, aged 46, has been an executive Director, chairman of
the Board and co-chief executive officer since the incorporation of our
Company in 2013. Mr. Yang joined our Group in December 2010 and is
responsible for general management and strategic planning. Mr.
Yang held various senior management positions of China and Asia —
Pacific area at International Business Machines Corporation (IBM), a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: IBM).
Mr. Yang received his Bachelor of Science degree from the University
of California, Berkeley, U.S. in 1994.

Ng Kwok Leung Frank, aged 49, is an executive Director and co-chief
executive officer of our Company. Mr. Ng joined our Group in June
2004 and is responsible for business development and finance of the
Company at first, and then served as co-chief executive officer of the
Group from 2007. Before joining our Group, Mr. Ng worked at Grant
Thornton LLP in the United States and Hong Kong for approximately
five years and served as the vice president of PCC Skyhorse Limited, a
subsidiary company of PCCW, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0008), for three years. Mr. Ng received his
Bachelor degree from the University of California, Berkeley, U.S. in
1992.
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Non-Executive Directors

Liu Jiang, aged 50, has been an executive Director since the
incorporation of our Company and became a non-executive Director
from 27 March 2015. Mr. Liu joined our Group in December 2010 and
holds directorship in Sonic Force Limited. He also serves as chairman
of the board of directors of Hehong Holdings Group. Mr. Liu received
his Bachelor of Economics from the East China Jiaotong University,
Chinain 1991.

Fu Qiang, aged 51, has been a non-executive Director since 23 June
2017. She worked for the China National Complete Plant Import and
Export Corp. from July 1989 to February 1993, and worked for China
Friendship Development International Engineering Design &
Consultation Co., Ltd. from March 1993 to September 2001. In 2001,
she co-founded Beijing Irena Culture Promotion Co., Ltd., where she
has gained extensive experience in carrying out foreign exchanges
and cooperation in the fields of culture and creative and arts. Since
2015, she has served as the chairlady and a director of Irena Group
Co., Ltd.

Fan Tai, aged 46, joined the Company as a non-executive Director on
7 March 2014. Mr. Fan serves as Chief Investment Officer at
KongZhong Corporation, a company listed on NASDAQ (stock code:
KZ) since 2009, and as the executive director for KongZhong
Corporation since 18 December 2014. Mr. Fan served as vice
president of finance from 2002 to 2009 and executive director from
2003 to 2009 at TOM Online, a web portal. Mr. Fan obtained his EMBA
degree from the State University of New Jersey, U.S. in 2003 and
Bachelor of Economics degree from the Beijing Institute of
Economics, China in 1994.

Chen Xian, aged 36, has been a non-executive Director since 7 March
2014. Mr. Chen serves as director general manager of CMC Capital
Partners since May 2013. From July 2009 to March 2013, he worked at
Providence Equity Asia Limited and served as a director by the time
he left. Prior to that, Mr. Chen served at Morgan Stanley Private
Equity Asia Division from 2004 to June 2009. Mr. Chen obtained his
Bachelor of Engineering degree in Electronics Engineering from

Tsinghua University, China in 2003.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ge Xuan, aged 47, has been an independent non-executive Director
since the Listing. Mr. Ge serves as director general manager of
Minsheng Tonghui Asset management Co., Ltd. Mr. Ge served as vice
general manager of business department of Chengdu division,
general manager of investment management department, and
assistant to general manager at Guosen Securities Co., Ltd. from July
1993 to October 1998. He also served as manager of trade investment
department and assistant to general manager of Boshi Fund
Management Co., Ltd. from January 1999 to June 2000. He was a
member of the Investment Decision Committee and Risk Management
Committee, director of trading department, assistant to the president
of Penghua Fund Management Co., Ltd. from July 2000 to March
2002, chief investment officer of Jin Yuan Securities Co., Ltd. from
August 2002 to December 2003, and vice president and director of
Huaxi Securities Co., Ltd. from December 2003 to October 2010. He
has been a director of Wangxiang Trust Co., Ltd since 18 August 2012.
Mr. Ge obtained his Bachelor’'s degree in Economics from Shenzhen
University in 1993 and obtained his Master degree in Business
Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in
2010.

Lu Zhong, aged 55, has been an independent non-executive Director
since the Listing. Mr. Lu worked at the General Planning Bureau
under the Ministry of Machine & Electric Industry of China as a civil
servant from August 1984 to August 1990; as deputy chief executive
officer of 8848.net from May 2000 to May 2002; as general sales
manager of China and Hong Kong region of Advanced Micro Devices,
Inc., a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code:
AMD] from July 2003 to October 2004. Mr. Lu then served as the
chairman of the board of HiChina.com and the chief strategy officer
from then to September 2009 as well as the president from 2010 until
December 2012 at HiChina.com. Mr. Lu served as a vice president of
the Alibaba Group from December 2012 until July 2014. Mr. Lu
became the founding partner of Beijing Zhonghai Investment Ltd
since August 2014. Mr. Lu obtained his Bachelor’s degree in computer
and application from Harbin Institute of Electrical Engineering in
1984, and obtained his Master degree in Business Administration
from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in 2010.
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Tyen Kan Hee Anthony, aged 62, has over 40 years’ experience in
accounting, auditing and consultancy practice. In 1977, he joined Price
Waterhouse, and then joined Klynveld Main Goerdeler and Morgan
Bank. Dr. Tyen founded his own accounting and consulting firm in
1985. His firm then merged with Grant Thornton, a major international
accounting firm in Hong Kong, in 1990. He was stationed in Beijing for
seven years since then and was responsible for the development of the
firm’s China practice. From 2001 to 2003, he worked in a local bank
and participated in the bank’s mergers and acquisitions business.
Since 2003, he has been working at his own accounting and consulting
firm providing professional services for local and international

companies.

Dr. Tyen holds a doctorate degree in Philosophy and a master degree
in Business Administration, both from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong,
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administration and a member of the Chinese Institute

of Certified Public Accountants.

Dr. Tyen is currently an independent non-executive director of Melco
International Development Limited (Stock Exchange stock code: 200),
Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange stock code: 102)
and China Baofeng (International] Limited (Stock Exchange stock
code: 3966). He was previously an independent director of Alpha Peak
Leisure Inc. (TSX stock code: AAP:Venture), a company listed on the
TSX Venture Exchange Inc., an independent non-executive director of
ASR Logistics Holdings Limited [now known as Beijing Sports and
Entertainment Industry Group Limited) (Stock Exchange stock code:
1803), Value Convergence Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange stock
code: 821), Recruit Holdings Limited and Cinderella Media Group
Limited (now known as KK Culture Holdings Limited] (Stock Exchange
stock code: 550), and an independent director of Entertainment
Gaming Asia Inc. (Nasdag: EGT], a company listed on the NASDAQ
Capital Market.
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Biographical Details of Senior Management

Senior Management

Zhang Peng, aged 41, joined our Group as president in February 2014.
Mr. Zhang is responsible for mobile games operation of the Company.
He also served as assistant to general manager of Zhuowang
Information Technology Co., Ltd. from April 2011 to November 2013.
He founded and was the executive vice president of Yisanjiu Mobile
Internet Company from November 2008 to April 2011. He served as
deputy head of business centre, deputy head of product development,
deputy head of cooperation and management centre of the monternet
division of China Mobile Communications Corporation, a company
listed on both the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: CHL] and
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0941), from September 1998 to
October 2008. Mr. Zhang received his Bachelor Degree in electronics
and information systems from Shandong University, China in 1998
and obtained his Master degree in Business Administration from
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in 2009.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company under which he agreed to act as executive Director
for a term of three years, which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either the executive Director

or the Company.

Ms. Fu Qiang has signed an appointment letter with the Company for
a term of three years commencing on 23 June 2017. Dr. Tyen Kan Hee
Anthony has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a
term of three years commencing on 27 March 2018, and each of the
other non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a
term of three years. The appointments of Directors are subject to the
provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles
of Association.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting ("AGM"] has an unexpired service contract
which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other than

statutory compensation.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EETTRS(B)

17.

18.

19.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year ended 31 December
2017.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five
highest paid individuals are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements. The remuneration of the Directors are
determined based on the market price and contribution made by such

Directors to the Company.

There has been no arrangement under which any Director has waived

or agreed to waive any emoluments.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director or other
officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him/her as a Director or other officers of the Company in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgment is given in his/her favor, or in which he/she is acquitted.

The Company has maintained Directors’ liability insurance during the
year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this annual report
which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.

17.

18.

19.

%% AR5 RFEAXE

9]

*
e 75
DK B

BARFERAPEEIN RBE-_T—+
FH+ZA=+—HILFEHEEMNF
B ARAREAERKE QB LEIT L
BASEEBERE MEFEERXNH
BEREAEARAZEARS RHEhA
# e

ESME

FREERAAERFMALT ZHMEHF
BENGEMHEHRRMEI0-EFTMHE
DRETERZEFSHARFAELNE
BAEEE -

ARRAWETLEMZH - BUEER
RAREBRETAHE -

EEFNBERX

REABERZAN SESFHAQAH
MERABEEANARREEREL R
FREFIARFEMIBAR  EH
BHBHFAEFNEARERMNEZEZR
REPRETRHENELEXRINME
BEREIE-

ARARRBE-_FT—EtF+-_A=1+—
BLFEHEREEAFHRAMNERE
ERREFECTRBASERHEED
RS

—=-tEER



EESRS (B8)

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they have taken, or are deemed to have
taken, under such provisions of the SFQJ; or (b] were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company; or (c) were required, pursuant to
the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

W-_E—+FE+_A=+—HB BFK
ARAREBITHRAERARDQA K EAGRE
FE(EEREBELHFRBAEBRAENVTE) 2
&t~ HERD REHFTEERQIREZE
FRHERPIEXNVBETRSDEHBEMG
AARRBRAAER AR (BER
BESREEKOER G EWEE
RERABEBENERRAE) () IRIE
BEEPEENF2EALEHERAR
RIBEZENGEZELMANER R
KA H()RIBZEFRAMNS AR A
MR TR ORB I T ¢

Approximate
percentage

Number of of interest in the

Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held Company*
HERATER

EENR B REMtE FERDEE WA E D Y
Shares
igv)
Mr. Yang Interest in controlled corporation'” 132,464,366(L) 14.35%
B REZIEEE R R
Mr. Ng Interest in controlled corporation'” 132,464,366(L) 14.35%
Mm% REZEEE R "
Mr. Liu Jiang ("Mr. Liu") Interest of spouse 2,182,000(L) 0.24%
BT kE(8EED B e
Share Options
B
Mr. Yang Beneficial interest” 36,531,064(L) 3.96%
155 7 25125
Mr. Ng Beneficial Interest” 36,531,064 (L) 3.96%
2% §4 $oad
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Notes:

(1) The interest is directly held by Jianying Ourgame High Growth
Investment Fund (E2mEE R S K RIZREEE) in which Total Victory Global
Limited, controlled by Mr. Yang, Mr. Ng and Mr. Zhang Peng, has the
majority voting rights. Please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 28 December 2017 for further information.

(2) The interest relates to the options granted under the Management Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme to each of
Mr. Yang and Mr. Ng, respectively. On 8 January 2016, each of Mr. Yang
and Mr. Ng were granted 3,920,000 options respectively under the 2014
Share Option Scheme. Please refer to the Company’'s Prospectus and
the announcements dated 5 January 2015 and 8 January 2016 for further
details.

(3) The letter "L denotes the person’s long position in such Shares.

(4) The percentages are calculated on the basis of 923,139,589 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2017.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company and their respective
associates had or is deemed to have any interests or short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executives
of the Company are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFQJ, or were required to be recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which
will be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

(1) ERERSKREEESMTotal Victory
Global Limited P B EMEZ A5 L
A ARERREBEE(HEERBRAZH
SEE)ES - AlE—SER  #2
MARRBHAE-_Z—+tF+=-A=
+TNBZR% -

2) ZERZEAREBEEEEEIAAHESE
MR R - — R
SN RIETIH % A& Rk s R
BH-R-_Z—A"FE—ANB " RE=
T-MFERESE  BEERAEE
BB D RIER F3,9200000 B E - &
BE—SFE BLUARABRER
LWEBESAAE-ZZT—AF—HAAH
EZZE-—X"F—ANBHNRE -

B) TLIRERZALTRZERHDZT

o

)y

4 BRZFE—+F+ZA=+—HE%
1TH9923,139, 589 Bt EE DL ©

BREXFEBEREEN R_T—LF+=
A=1t—B EFRAQFATBTHA
BERESEANHEAMERARAX
HEBZEZE(EERESLHAEKNE
XVER) B e tn - RO RESTHEEA
KB EHEBRIEEZ LB EHIIFEXV
MEBETRSD FEREAMEG AR A M B
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EHEGRIBBEXEERARAEE
TTHRABHE IBRSEANER FOX
B) IREBLH LY E KRG FI52EE
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short FTERFRAQLTKRGD - 185
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and BRORESDPHEBLIERR
M=

Debentures of the Company R

RZE—+F+_A=+—B TIA
T(EFHARRAETBTRABERINR
ARrROEBERNDEIESTHEE A
RIFEZ R E GO BB IELEHE N AR
RARBZGOFENES LM ANES

As at 31 December 2017, the following persons [(other than the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company) had interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

VTR
Approximate
percentage
Number of of interest in
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held the Company™
BREREE BB AN TR
B REME RS EE A E D"
Irena Group Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation m 290,690,848(L) 31.49%
BEZEEROBRAR R E R
Glassy Mind Holdings Limited Beneficial owner " 290,690,848(L) 31.49%
SEEEREBR AR ExmEaA
Mr. Zhang Peng ("Mr. Zhang") Beneficial owner 12,884,425(L) 1.40%
RIESEAE(TREE]) EmEAA
Interest of controlled corporation 221,653,555(L) 24.01%
ZIE L
Total Victory Global Limited Interest of controlled corporationm 132,464,366(L) 14.35%
R B 5
Beneficial owner 89,189,189(L) 9.67%
BB A
Jianying Ourgame High Growth ~ Beneficial owner” 132,464,366(L) 14.35%
Investment Fund
ERBERANREERES EamEaAY
CMC Ace Holdings Limited Beneficial owner™ 117,600,000(L) 12.74%
EEEAAY
CMC Capital Partners, GP, L.P. Interest of controlled corporationm 117,600,000(L) 12.74%
TR E Y
CMC Capital Partners, GP, Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation® 117,600,000(L) 12.74%
B A
CMC Capital Partners, L.P. Interest of controlled corporationm 117,600,000(L) 12.74%

ik EEs
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Approximate

percentage
Number of of interest in
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held the Company™
BRREE BB EAR DB
B, RmtE FEROEE HEHE S Y
La Confiance Investments Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation®
R EE R 117,600,000(L) 12.74%
Le Bonheur Holdings Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation
Sk E R 117,600,000(L) 12.74%
KongZhong Corporation Beneficial owner 20,737,000(L) 2.25%
ZHBARAF EnmAa A
Interest of controlled corporation” 71,351,351(L) 7.73%
ZEEEEE 0
Linkedsee Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation™ 92,088,351(L) 9.98%
S EES"
Linkedsee Limited Interest of controlled corporation™ 92,088,351(LJ 9.98%
FHEE "
Mr. Wang Leilei Interest of controlled corporation“| 92,088,351(L) 9.98%
FTEEKE S EE R
Shanghai Changhui Internet
Technology Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation®” 92,088,351(L) 9.98%
FEBEERERRBERQA R EE R
Beijing Wuxing Rongcheng
Technology Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation™ 92,088,351(L) 9.98%
tRAERARBAREEIAR S EEERE"
Noumena Innovations (BVI) LTD.  Beneficial owner® 71,351,351(L) 7.73%
Bama A
Dacheng (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation 71,351,351(L} 7.73%
R rE "
Mr. Yang Zhen Interest of controlled corporation 71,351,351(L) 7.73%
HREEE R EE R
Shanghai Dacheng Internet
Technology Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation 71,351,351(L) 7.73%
PERERERMTARAR T EE R
Kongzhong (China) Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation® 71,351,351(L) 7.73%

ZER(FEIBERAR

N

“_B-tEER
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Approximate

percentage
Number of of interest in
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held the Company™
BREE, BB IERRRERE
B HEntE FEROEE HEOE Y
Alpha Lion Investments Limited Beneficial owner? 64,864,864(L) 7.03%
FEIREARAT] BEaEAAY
Global Elite Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation® 64,864,864(L) 7.03%
45 W A
Ms. Han Lei Interest of controlled corporation 64,864,864(L) 7.03%
BEZL R EE g
Mr. Huang Xiangin Interest of controlled corporation 64,864,864(L) 7.03%
ErCEbivas SN 1 i
Ruixin Taifu Investment Group Interest of controlled corporation 64,864,864(L) 7.03%
Co., Ltd. Ry EmER"
Silverwood International Limited  Interest of controlled corporation“’] 64,864,864(L) 7.03%
SN 1 i
Mr. Xu Rongta Interest of controlled corporation 64,864,864(L) 7.03%

TRERIESEE

Notes:

(1) The 290,690,848 Shares represent the same block of Shares held by a

ZenEE R

chain of ownership involving Glassy Mind Holdings Limited.

(2) The interest is directly held by Jianying Ourgame High Growth
Investment Fund (25t R S K KIZEEE) in which Total Victory Global
Limited, controlled by Mr. Yang, Mr. Ng and Mr. Zhang, has the majority

voting rights.

(3) The 117,600,000 Shares represent the same block of Shares held by a

chain of ownership involving CMC Capital Partners.
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(4) The 92,088,351 Shares represent the same block of Shares held by a
chain of ownership involving KongZhong Corporation.

(5) The 71,351,351 Shares represent the same block of Shares held by a
chain of ownership involving Noumena Innovations (BVI) LTD..

(6) The 64,864,864 Shares represent the same block of Shares held by a
chain of ownership involving Alpha Lion Investments Limited.

(7) The percentage figures have been subject to rounding adjustments.
Accordingly, figures shown in totals may not be an arithmetic
aggregation of the figures preceding them.

(8] The letter "L" denotes the person’s long position in such Shares.

(9) The percentages are calculated on the basis of 923,139,589 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2017.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, the Directors and
the chief executives of the Company were not aware of any other
person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company)
who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, save as disclosed below,
no other related party transactions disclosed in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements constitutes a connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction which should be disclosed
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. All the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions with disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules during the year were listed
below. The Directors confirm they have complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(4) FZF92,08835 M IEMBIEEF 4B
ERABZ —EREBEARANR—
BB 1D o

(5)  #%%571351351 B Bk 15 5 B B #E Noumena
Innovations (BVI) LTD. 7 — & R A A #F
BHE—HERD -

(6) %% 64,864864 5 B 1015 B IERM &K
BERRARZ—EZHFHEAFTENR
—HERRD o
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Connected Transactions

Limited Partnership Agreement for the Subscription of
Interest in the Investment Fund

On 10 March 2017, Beijing Lianzhong Co. Ltd., ("Beijing Lianzhong"),
Changxing Huixin Jiachuang Investment Management Centre (LLP)
("Changxing Huixin Jiachuang”], Beijing Bole Latitude Investment
Management Centre (LLP), Mr. Han Jun and Mr. Xu Zigiang entered
into the limited partnership agreement (the “Limited Partnership
Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties agreed to be limited
partners of Tongxiang Juli Fengyuan Equity Investment Fund
Management Partnership (LLP] (the “Investment Fund”). Pursuant to
the Limited Partnership Agreement, the total capital commitment to
the Investment Fund was RMB101 million (approximately HK$113.423
million), among which, RMB50 million (approximately HK$56.15
million) was to be contributed by Changxing Huixin Jiachuang, RMB20
million (approximately HK$22.46 million) was to be contributed by
Beijing Lianzhong, and RMB31 million (approximately HK$34.813
million) was to be contributed by other parties to the Limited
Partnership Agreement.

As at the signing date of the Limited Partnership Agreement,
Changxing Huixin Jiachuang was a subsidiary of iRena Group Co., Ltd,
a substantial shareholder of the Company, and is therefore a
connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the transaction
constituted a connected transaction of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Further details of the Limited Partnership Agreement are set

out in the announcement of the Company dated 10 March 2017.

Management Subscription Agreement

On 12 September 2017, the Company and Total Victory Global Limited
(the "Management Subscriber”) entered into the management
subscription agreement [the "Management Subscription
Agreement’], pursuant to which the Management Subscriber
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Company conditionally
agreed to allot and issue, 89,189,189 new Shares at the subscription
price of HK$1.85 per Share (the "Management Subscription Shares”).
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As at the signing date of the Management Subscription Agreement,
the Management Subscriber was owned equally by Mr. Yang, Mr. Ng
and Mr. Zhang. As Mr. Yang and Mr. Ng are executive Directors, the
Management Subscriber is an associate of Mr. Yang and Mr. Ng, and
therefore a connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of
the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Management Subscription
constituted a connected transaction of the Company and was subject
to the reporting, announcement and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Completion of the Management Subscription took place on 4 January
2018 and the Management Subscription Shares were issued on the
same day. Upon the completion of the transaction, Mr. Yang, Mr. Ng,
Mr. Zhang, the Management Subscriber and their associates and
concert parties are interested in 221,653,555 issued Shares in
aggregate, representing approximately 20.58% of the issued share
capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the
Management Subscription Shares and Connected Subscription

Shares (as defined below).

Further details of the transaction are set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 12 September 2017 and 4 January 2018 and the
circular of the Company dated 13 October 2017.

Connected Subscription Agreement

On 12 September 2017, the Company and Irena Group Co., Ltd. (the
“Connected Subscriber”) entered into the connected subscription
agreement (the “Connected Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Connected Subscriber conditionally agreed to subscribe for,
and the Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue, 64,690,848
new Shares at the subscription price of HK$1.85 per Share [the
“Connected Subscription Shares”).

As at the signing date of the Connected Subscription Agreement, the
Connected Subscriber was a substantial Shareholder holding
226,000,000 Shares through Glassy Mind Holdings Limited, and
therefore is a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
Connected Subscription constituted a connected transaction of the
Company and was subject to the reporting, announcement and
independent Shareholders” approval requirements under 14A of the

Listing Rules.
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Completion of the Connected Subscription took place on 4 January
2018 and the Connected Subscription Shares were issued on the
same day. Upon the completion of the transaction, the Connected
Subscriber and their associates and concert parties are interested in
290,690,848 issued Shares in aggregate, representing approximately
26.99% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the
allotment and issue of the Management Subscription Shares and

Connected Subscription Shares.

Further details of the transaction are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 12 September 2017 and 4 January 2018 and the
circular of the Company dated 13 October 2017.

Contractual Arrangements

The VIE Structure 1

On 11 December 2001, the State Council promulgated the Regulations
for the Administration of Foreign-Invested Telecommunications
Enterprises ((SMEIEEBELEEERT)) (the "FITE Regulations”),
which were amended on 10 September 2008. According to the FITE
Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50%
of the equity interests of a company providing value-added
telecommunications services. In addition, a foreign investor who
invests in a value-added telecommunications business in the PRC
must demonstrate a good track record and prior experience in
providing value-added telecommunications outside the PRC prior to
acquiring any equity interests in any value-added telecommunications
services business in the PRC (the "Qualification Requirement’).
Currently, none of the applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules
provides clear guidance or interpretation on the Qualification
Requirement. Therefore, in order for the Company to be able to carry
on its business in the PRC, the Group has entered into a series of
agreements to enable the Company to gain effective control over, and
receive all the economic benefits generated by the business currently
operated by Beijing Lianzhong and its subsidiary on the one hand, and
Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders on the other hand. Please

refer to the Prospectus for further details.

As at 31 December 2017, the Company has no update to disclose in
relation to the Qualification Requirement.
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As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group conducts its online game
business through the PRC operating entity, Beijing Lianzhong, an
important wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. Beijing Lianzhong is
principally engaged in the operation of online card and board games.
Because of certain foreign investment restrictions, it was not viable
for the Company to hold Beijing Lianzhong directly through equity
ownership as a foreign investor. In line with common practice in
industries which is subject to foreign investment restrictions in the
PRC, the Company would gain effective control over, and receive all
the economic benefits generated by the business currently operated
by Beijing Lianzhong and its subsidiaries through a series of
contractual arrangements [the “Contractual Arrangements 1)
between Beijing Lianzhong Garden Network Technology Co., Ltd. (the
"WFOE 1), the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary on the one hand,
and Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders on the other hand. The
Contractual Arrangements 1 allow Beijing Lianzhong's financials and
results of operations, together with those of its subsidiaries, to be
consolidated into our financials as if it was a wholly-owned Subsidiary
of our Group (the "VIE Structure 17).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company controlled
Beijing Lianzhong and WFOE 1 through the Contractual Arrangements
1. WFOE 1 is a limited company incorporated under the laws of the
PRC on 21 January 2014 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Lianzhong
Holdings (Hong Kong] Limited, a company incorporated under the
laws of Hong Kong on 18 December 2013 and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. WFOE 1 is therefore a connected person
of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07(5) of the Listing Rules. By
virtue of the Contractual Arrangements 1, Beijing Lianzhong is a
connected person of the Company for the purposes of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The transactions under the Contractual
Arrangements 1 therefore constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company. The Company confirms that it has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of these continuing

connected transactions.
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Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements 1
Details of the reasons for using the Contractual Arrangements 1 are
set out on pages 130 to 132 of the Prospectus.

Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements 1

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements 1. Further details of these risks are set out on pages
35 to 39 of the Prospectus.

J If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our business in China do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, we
could be subject to severe penalties and our business may be
materially and adversely affected.

o The Group relies on the Contractual Arrangements 1 to control
and obtain economic benefits from Beijing Lianzhong, which
may not be as effective in providing operational control as equity

ownership.

J The shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong may have conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our
business and financial condition.

. Certain terms of the Contractual Arrangements 1 may not be
enforceable under PRC laws.

o We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by Beijing
Lianzhong that are important to the operation of our business if
Beijing Lianzhong declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a

dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

. The Contractual Arrangements 1 between the WFOE 1 and
Beijing Lianzhong may subject our Group to increased income
tax due to the different income tax rates applicable to the WFOE
1 and Beijing Lianzhong, which may adversely affect our results

of operations.

J The Group's exercise of the option to acquire equity interests of
Beijing Lianzhong may be subject to certain limitations and the
ownership transfer may subject us to substantial costs.

J The Contractual Arrangements 1 between the WFOE 1 and
Beijing Lianzhong may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax
authorities and any finding that we or Beijing Lianzhong owe
additional taxes could substantially reduce our consolidated net
income and the value of our Shareholders’ investment.
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

. The Company has existing protections measures under the
Contractual Arrangements 1. The Company’s Risk Management
Committee will regularly review the compliance and
performance of such conditions under the Contractual

Arrangements 1.

. The Company's public affair department and legal department
will deal with matters relating to compliance and regulatory
enquiries from relevant PRC authorities and report to the Board

on a regular basis.

o Legal advisers and other professional have been and will
continue to be retained to assist the Company to deal with
related matters arising from the Contractual Arrangements 1,
and the auditor of the Group was engaged to provide annual
confirmations regarding the Contractual Arrangements 1.

The extent to which the Contractual Arrangements 1 relate to
requirements other than the foreign ownership restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements 1 are subject to the restrictions
as set out on pages 130 to 132 of the Prospectus.

Contractual Arrangements 1

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Contractual
Arrangements 1 comprised six agreements, namely (a) the Master
Exclusive Service Agreement 1, [(b] the Business Cooperation
Agreement 1, (c) the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, (d] the Share
Pledge Agreement 1, (e] the Proxy Agreement 1 and (f) the Power of
Attorney 1.
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The following diagram illustrates how economic benefits flow from
Beijing Lianzhong to our Group under the Contractual Arrangements 1:

44 oD
PPN

TEEBRBRBEAHOTH R
5 18] 5 50 2 A48 A ) 2

L /A

(1) Convenants not to materially affect Beijing Lianzhong's assets and business and
right to appoint its directors and officers (Note 1)
(2) Power of attorney to exercise all shareholders' rights in Beijing Lianzhong (Note 2)
(3) Exclusive option to acquire all or part of the equity interest in Beijing Lianzhong
(Note 3)
(4) First priority security interest over the entire equity interest in Beijing Lianzhong
(Note 4)
(1) TEHILRMR EEREFARZTERSE NSRS Z AERK
BEARE 7 R (HEE)
(2) 1TfEAE B RPTA R AR 2 KR EE (FiIRE2)
(3) WEBIE s R 2 BB B0 0 Ak 2 IBR B AR (PHRE3)
(4) SHE B R 2 BRAE 2 £ — @ B (fIaEs)
The WFOE 1 PAE N — Original Shareholders (Note 6)
INETEE (R ET JRIa PR (Pif7E6)
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Management and consultation service ! |
I
Note 5] . o 100%
B Kk A ARAs (KMIaE5) L
v
! I
! 1
Beijing Lianzhong
16 B R

Notes: M5

1. Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 — 1. EHHE F2HAFRIGOTH -
Business Cooperation Agreement 1" of this annual report for details. XK EHREII—& -

2. Please refer to the section headed "Contractual Arrangements 1 — 2. BHFE B2EEAFRIAOLH1—
Proxy Agreement and Power of Attorney 17 of this annual report for Zrtha R X ERTE 6
details.

3. Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 — 3. BHEHAE F2HAFRIGHOLH -

Exclusive Option Agreement 17 of this annual report for details.

BRG] & -
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4. Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 —
Share Pledge Agreement 1" of this annual report for details.

5. Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 —
Master Exclusive Service Agreement 17 of this annual report for details.

6. Original Shareholders are Mr. Zhang Rongming, Mr. Liu, Mr. Shen, Mr.
Bao Yuegiao, Ms. Long and Ms. Wu Lan.

7. “—" denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest
and "--->" denotes contractual relationship.

Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1

Beijing Lianzhong entered into a master exclusive service agreement
with the WFOE 1 on 28 January 2014 (the "Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 17), pursuant to which, in exchange for a quarterly service
fee, Beijing Lianzhong agreed to engage the WFOE 1 as its exclusive

provider for the following services:
J any activities not within its normal business scope, or operating

its business in a way that is inconsistent with its past practice;

o providing technology development and transfer, and technical
consulting services;

o providing occupation and pre-occupation staff training services;

o providing public relation services;

J providing market investigation, research and consulting
services;

o providing mid- or short-term market development and market

planning services;

J providing human resource management and internal
information management;

o providing network development, upgrade and daily

maintenance;

. providing sale services of self-produced products;
o licensing of software;
o providing maintenance services in respect of computer software

and hardware system, database and computer servers;
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o providing maintenance and upgrade services in respect of the

online games;

J providing training services in respect of online game technology
and operations;

o providing research and development services in respect of

online game software and maintenance of the system;

J selling and authorising Beijing Lianzhong to license software;
and
o other services determined from time to time by the WFOE 1

according to the need of business and capacity of the WFOE 1
and its designated affiliates.

Under the Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1, the service fee is
equal to 100% of the consolidated net profits of Beijing Lianzhong.
The WFOE 1 may adjust the service fee at its sole discretion with
reference to the working capital requirements of Beijing Lianzhong
and in accordance with several factors relating to the services
provided, including (i} technical difficulty and complexity of the
services; (i) time spent in providing the services; [iii) contents and
commercial value of the services; and (iv) the benchmark price of
similar services in the market. Since Beijing Lianzhong's funding
requirements are satisfied by their residual operating cash after
paying the service fee to the WFOE 1, we do not expect to transfer any

net proceeds from the Global Offering to Beijing Lianzhong.

Intellectual property rights are developed during the normal course of
business of Beijing Lianzhong since its daily operations involve,
among other things, research and development and game
development. Pursuant to the Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1,
any intellectual properties developed by performance of the Master
Exclusive Service Agreement 1, including but not limited to copyrights,
trademarks, patents, technical secrets and knowhow, belong to the
WFOE 1. If a development is based on the intellectual properties
owned by Beijing Lianzhong, Beijing Lianzhong shall warrant and
guarantee that such intellectual properties are flawless and it shall
bear all damages and losses caused to the WFOE 1 by any flaw of
such intellectual properties. The WFOE 1 has the right to recover all

of its losses from Beijing Lianzhong for liabilities to any third party.

The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1 can be terminated by the
WFOE 1 at any time upon 30 days” written notice to Beijing Lianzhong.
The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1 shall also be terminated
upon the transfer of all the shares of Beijing Lianzhong to the WFOE 1
and/or a third party designated by the WFOE 1 pursuant to the
Exclusive Option Agreement 1.
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Business Cooperation Agreement 1

Beijing Lianzhong, its shareholders and the WFOE 1 entered into a
business cooperation agreement on 28 January 2014 (the "Business
Cooperation Agreement 1°). Under the Business Cooperation
Agreement 1, Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders, jointly and
severally, agree and covenant that, without obtaining the written
consent of the WFOE 1, Beijing Lianzhong shall not, and Beijing
Lianzhong's shareholders shall cause Beijing Lianzhong not to,
engage in any transaction which may materially affect its asset,

obligation, right or operation, including without limitation:

. any activities not within its normal business scope, or operating
its business in a way that is inconsistent with its past practice;

. merger, reorganization, acquisition or restructuring of its
principal business or assets, or acquisition or investment in any

other form;

o offering any loan to any third party, incurring any debt from any
third party, or assuming any debt other than in the ordinary

course of business;

. engaging, changing or dismissing any director or any senior
management officer;

o selling to or acquiring from any third party, mortgaging,
licensing or disposing of in other ways tangible or intangible

assets, other than in the ordinary course of business;

J incurring, inheriting, assuming or guaranteeing any debt that
are not incurred during the ordinary course of business, using
its assets to provide security or other forms of guarantees to
any third party, or setting up any other encumbrances over its

assets;

. making any supplement, amendment or alternation to its
articles of association and by-laws, increasing or decreasing of
its registered capital or changing the structure of its registered

capital in other manners;

. making a distribution of a dividend, or share interest or
sponsorship interest in any way, provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 1, Beijing Lianzhong shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s) who shall in turn immediately and
unconditionally pay or transfer to the WFOE 1 any such
distribution;
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o executing any material contract, except contracts executed in
the ordinary course of business (for purpose of this subsection,
the WFOE 1 may define a material contract at its sole
discretion);

o selling, transferring, mortgaging or disposing of in any manner
any legal or beneficial interest in its business or revenues, or

allowing the encumbrance thereon of any security interest;

J a dissolution or a liquidation and distribution of residual assets;
or
. causing any of its branches or subsidiaries to engage in any of

the foregoing or enter into any contract, agreement or other
legal documents which may lead to or result in any of the
foregoing.
In addition, Beijing Lianzhong agreed and covenanted to the WFOE 1
that Beijing Lianzhong shall, and the shareholders shall cause Beijing

Lianzhong to:

J accept suggestions raised by the WFOE 1 over the engagement
and replacement of employees, daily operations, dividend
distribution and financial management systems of Beijing
Lianzhong, and Beijing Lianzhong shall strictly abide by and
perform accordingly;

o maintain Beijing Lianzhong’s corporate existence in accordance
with good financial and business standards and practices by
prudently and effectively operating its business and handling its

affairs;

. conduct Beijing Lianzhong's businesses in the ordinary course
of business to maintain the asset value of Beijing Lianzhong
and refrain from any act or omission that may adversely affect

Beijing Lianzhong's operating status and asset value;

. provide the WFOE 1 with information on Beijing Lianzhong's
business operations and financial condition at the request of
the WFOE 1;

o if requested by the WFOE 1, procure and maintain insurance in
respect of Beijing Lianzhong's assets and business from an
insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 1, at an amount and
type of coverage typical for companies that operate similar
businesses;
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. immediately notify the WFOE 1 of the occurrence or possible
occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or administrative
proceedings relating to Beijing Lianzhong's assets, business or

revenue; and

o execute all necessary or appropriate documents, take all
necessary or appropriate actions and file all necessary or
appropriate complaints or raise necessary and appropriate
defences against all claims so as to maintain the ownership by
Beijing Lianzhong of all of its assets.

According to the Business Cooperation Agreement 1, the
shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong shall only appoint persons
designated by the WFOE 1 as directors, the general manager, the
chief financial officer and other senior management members of
Beijing Lianzhong, and the shareholders shall dismiss any such
directors or senior management members upon the request of the
WFOE 1. Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders also jointly and
severally covenanted that Beijing Lianzhong shall seek appropriate

approval from the WFOE 1 prior to entering into any material contract.

Furthermore, the shareholders agree that, unless required by the
WFOE 1, they shall not put forward, or vote in favour of, any
shareholders’” resolution to, or otherwise request Beijing Lianzhong
to, distribute profits, funds, assets or property to the shareholders, or
to issue any dividends or other distributions with respect to the shares
of Beijing Lianzhong held by the shareholders.

The Business Cooperation Agreement 1 shall remain effective as long
as Beijing Lianzhong exists, unless the WFOE 1 terminates it upon 30
days” advance written notice or upon the transfer of all the shares
held by Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders to the WFOE 1 and/or a third
party designated by the WFOE 1.

Exclusive Option Agreement 1

Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders entered into an exclusive
option agreement with the WFOE 1 on 28 January 2014 (the "Exclusive
Option Agreement 1°), pursuant to which the WFOE 1 has a right to
require the respective shareholders to transfer any or all the shares
of Beijing Lianzhong they hold to the WFOE 1 and/or a third party
designated by it, in whole or in part at any time and from time to time,
at the lowest price allowable under PRC laws and administration
regulations at the time of transfer.
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The Exclusive Option Agreement 1 shall remain effective as long as
Beijing Lianzhong exists, and cannot be terminated by either Beijing
Lianzhong or its shareholders. The Exclusive Option Agreement 1 can
be terminated (i) by the WFOE 1 at any time upon 30 days’ advance
written notice to Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders; or (i) upon
the transfer of all the shares held by the shareholders to the WFOE 1
and/or a third party designated by the WFOE 1.

Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders, among other things, have
covenanted that:

. without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
in any manner supplement, change or amend the articles of
association and bylaws of Beijing Lianzhong, increase or
decrease its registered capital, or change the structure of its
registered capital in other manners;

. they shall maintain Beijing Lianzhong’'s corporate existence in
accordance with good financial and business standards and
practices by prudently and effectively operating its business and
handling its affairs;

° without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
sell, transfer, mortgage or dispose of in any manner any assets
of Beijing Lianzhong (except in the ordinary course of business),
or legal or beneficial interest in the business or revenues of
Beijing Lianzhong, or allow the encumbrance thereon of any
security interest;

. without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
incur, inherit, guarantee or assume any debt, except for debts
incurred in the ordinary course of business;

° they shall always operate all of Beijing Lianzhong's businesses
during the ordinary course of business to maintain the asset
value of Beijing Lianzhong and refrain from any action/omission
that may adversely affect Beijing Lianzhong's operating status
and asset value;

. without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
cause Beijing Lianzhong to execute any material contract (as
defined by the WFOE 1 at its sole discretion), except the
contracts executed in the ordinary course of business;
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without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
cause Beijing Lianzhong to provide any person with any loan or

credit other than in the course of ordinary business;

they shall provide the WFOE 1 with information on Beijing
Lianzhong's business operations and financial condition at the
request of the WFOE 1;

if requested by the WFOE 1, they shall procure and maintain
insurance in respect of Beijing Lianzhong's assets and business
from an insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 1, at an
amount and type of coverage typical for companies that operate

similar businesses;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
cause or permit Beijing Lianzhong to merge, consolidate with,

acquire or invest in any person;

they shall immediately notify the WFOE 1 of the occurrence or
possible occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or
administrative proceedings relating to Beijing Lianzhong's

assets, business or revenue;

to maintain the ownership by Beijing Lianzhong of all of its
assets, they shall execute all necessary or appropriate
documents, take all necessary or appropriate actions and file
all necessary or appropriate complaints or raise necessary and
appropriate defences against all claims;

they shall ensure that Beijing Lianzhong shall not, without the
prior written consent of the WFOE 1, in any manner distribute
dividends to its shareholder(s], provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 1, Beijing Lianzhong shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s) who shall in turn immediately and
unconditionally pay or transfer to the WFOE 1 any such
distribution;

at the request of the WFOE 1, they shall appoint any persons
designated by the WFOE 1 as the directors and/or executive

directors of Beijing Lianzhong;
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o they shall cause the meeting of shareholders and the board of
directors of Beijing Lianzhong to pass shareholders’ resolutions
and board resolutions in accordance with the instruction of the
WFOE 1; and

. unless otherwise mandatorily required by PRC laws, Beijing
Lianzhong shall not be dissolved or liquidated without prior
written consent by the WFOE 1.

Share Pledge Agreement 1

The shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong and the WFOE 1 entered into a
share pledge agreement on 28 January 2014 (the "Share Pledge
Agreement 17). Under the Share Pledge Agreement 1, the
shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong unconditionally and irrevocably
pledged all of the shares of Beijing Lianzhong that they own, including
any interest or dividend paid for such shares, to the WFOE 1 as a
security for the performance of the obligations by Beijing Lianzhong
and its shareholders under the Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1,
the Business Cooperation Agreement 1, the Exclusive Option
Agreement 1 and other agreements to be executed among Beijing
Lianzhong, its shareholders and the WFOE 1 from time to time
(collectively the "Principal Agreements 17).

The pledge shall remain valid until all parties have agreed to
terminate the Share Pledge Agreement 1, the Principal Agreements 1
have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of the WFOE 1 or all of the
Principal Agreements 1 have expired or been terminated.

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of
default (as defined in the Share Pledge Agreement 1), the WFOE 1
shall have the right to require Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders to
immediately pay any amount payable by Beijing Lianzhong under the
Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1, repay any loans and pay any
other due payments, and the WFOE 1 shall have the right to exercise
all such rights as a secured party under any applicable PRC law,
including without limitations, (i} to sell all or any part of the pledged
shares at one or more public or private sales upon three days” written
notice to the pledgor, and (i) to execute an agreement with Beijing
Lianzhong's shareholders to acquire the pledged shares based on
their monetary value which shall be determined by referencing the
their market price.
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Proxy Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1

Beijing Lianzhong, each of its shareholders and the WFOE 1 entered
into a proxy agreement and power of attorney on 28 January 2014 (the
"Proxy Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1°). Under the Proxy
Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1, each shareholder irrevocably
appointed the WFOE 1 [as well as its successors, including a
liquidator, if any, replacing the WFOE 1] as its attorney-in-fact to
exercise on its behalf, and agreed and undertook not to exercise
without such attorney-in-fact’s prior written consent, any and all right
that it has in respect of its shares in Beijing Lianzhong, including

without limitation:

o to call and attend shareholders” meetings of Beijing Lianzhong,
and receive notices and materials with respect to the

shareholders’ meeting;

o to execute and deliver any and all written resolutions and
meeting minutes in the name and on behalf of such
shareholder;

o to vote by itself or by proxy on any matters discussed on

shareholders” meetings of Beijing Lianzhong, including without
limitation, the sale, transfer, mortgage, pledge or disposal of

any or all of the assets of Beijing Lianzhong;

o to sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of any or all of the shares in

Beijing Lianzhong;

. to nominate, appoint or remove the directors, supervisors and
senior management of Beijing Lianzhong when necessary;

o to oversee the economic performance of Beijing Lianzhong;

. to have full access to the financial information of Beijing
Lianzhong at any time;

o to file any shareholder lawsuits or take other legal actions
against Beijing Lianzhong's directors or senior management
members when such directors or members are acting to the
detriment of the interest of Beijing Lianzhong or its

shareholder(s);

o to approve annual budgets or declare dividends;

. to manage and dispose of the assets of Beijing Lianzhong;
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o have the full rights to control and manage Beijing Lianzhong's
finance, accounting and daily operation (including but not
limited to signing and execution of contracts and payment of
government taxes and duties);

. to approve the filing of any documents with the relevant
governmental authorities or regulatory bodies; and any other
rights conferred by the articles of association of Beijing
Lianzhong and/or the relevant laws and regulations on the
shareholders.

In addition, if any share transfer is contemplated under the Exclusive
Option Agreement 1 and the Share Pledge Agreement 1 that Beijing
Lianzhong's shareholders enter into for the benefits of the WFOE 1 or
its affiliate, the WFOE 1 shall have the right to sign the share transfer
agreement and other relevant agreements and to perform the
Exclusive Option Agreement 1 and the Share Pledge Agreement 1.

The Proxy Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1 shall remain effective
as long as Beijing Lianzhong exists. Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders
shall not have the right to terminate the Proxy Agreement 1 and
Power of Attorney 1 or to revoke the appointment of the attorney-in-
fact without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1.

Save as disclosed above, there were no new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced among Beijing
Lianzhong and its shareholders, and the WFOE 1 during the year
ended 31 December 2017. There was no material change in the
Contractual Arrangements 1 and/or the circumstances under which
they were adopted for the year ended 31 December 2017.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, none of the Contractual
Arrangements 1 has been unwound as none of the restrictions that
led to the adoption of structured contracts under the Contractual
Arrangements 1 has been removed.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EETTRS(B)

Revenue and Assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements 1

The revenue, profit for the year and total assets subject to the
Contractual Arrangements 1 are set out as follows:

GRZEMEBETHNRRREE

BRRIAETHERANE  MEREE
EFHWT

Year ended Year ended Year ended

31 December 2017 31 December 2016 31 December 2015

BE-Z—tH HE-_ZT—R&F HE-_ZT—AF

+=ZA=+—BLEE +-A=+-—HLFE +ZA=+—HIFE

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARBT T ARBT T

Revenue e A 523,330 747,481 686,823
Profit for the year F A F)E 98,431 167,849 126,731
As at As at 31 As at 31

31 December 2017 December 2016 December 2015

R=Z—t% RoF— X WoE—HF

+t=A=+-—AH +=ZA=+—H +=ZA=+—H

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARE TR ARETF T ARBETF T

Total assets BEE 841,217 899,640 571,070

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the revenue and profit for the
year subject to the Contractual Arrangements 1 amounted to
approximately 84.8% (2016: 85.8%, 2015: 89.2%) and -229.1% (201é:
120.4%, 2015: 113.1%) of the revenue and loss for the year of the
Group respectively.

As at 31 December 2017, the total assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements 1 amounted to approximately 52.0% (2016: 63.0%,
2015: 47.9%] of the total assets of the Group.
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In the opinion of our PRC legal advisor King & Wood Mallesons ("PRC
Legal Advisor”) dated 26 January 2016, the Contractual Arrangements
1 are valid, binding and are in compliance with and enforceable under
the applicable PRC laws and regulations, except that the Contractual
Arrangements 1 provide that the arbitral tribunal or the arbitrators
may award remedies over the shares or land assets of Beijing
Lianzhong, relief or winding up of Beijing Lianzhong, and that courts
of competent jurisdictions are empowered to grant interim injunctive
relief or other interim relief in support of the arbitration when
formation of the arbitral tribunal is pending or under appropriate
circumstances, while under PRC laws, an arbitral tribunal or the
arbitrators has no power to grant injunctive relief or provisional or
final liquidation order to preserve the assets or any shares of Beijing

Lianzhong in case of dispute.

VIE Structure 2

On 9 February 2017, the Board announced that the Group was
conducting a series of reorganization steps that involve, among other
things, (i) the Group establishing a new VIE structure by entering into
new VIE agreements [(collectively, the Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 2, the Business Cooperation Agreement 2, the Proxy
Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2, and the Exclusive Option
Agreement 2 and the Share Pledge Agreement 2] (the”Contractual
Arrangements 2°] among Tianjin Lianhzhong Lequ Technology
Development Co., Ltd. (the "WFOE 2"] and Beijing Guangyao Hudong
Technology Development Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Guangyao”), a limited
liability company established in the PRC which is owned as to 100% by
Mr. Liang Jie (the "Registered Owner”), and (ii] Beijing Lianzhong
entering into asset transfer agreements with Beijing Guangyao,
pursuant to which Beijing Lianzhong would transfer certain assets
relating to the eSports, sports e-commerce business and other non-
card-and-board games new internet businesses of the Group (“eSports
Business”] to Beijing Guangyao. Beijing Guangyao will principally be
engaged in the eSports Business. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 9 February 2017 for further details.

After the signing of the Contractual Arrangements 2, the financial
results of Beijing Guangyao is accounted for and consolidated in the
accounts of the Group. Beijing Guangyao is therefore accounted for as
if it is @ wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company ("VIE Structure 27).
The Registered Owner, as the sole shareholder of Beijing Guangyao,
becomes a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. As Beijing Guangyao is wholly-owned by the
Registered Owner, Beijing Guangyao becomes an associate of the
Registered Owner and is a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the Contractual Arrangements 2 constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules.

Annual Report 2017

BRERMADEZZEB ST R EBHR
((hEEEBEBDAR -_Z—R"F—-A=
TRBERNER  AONRIBAEN
BORNRETHEBOTEERRER
Brrsgslen T A OLHIREMEE
HER B AT HIE R RN R L E
ER T H0RE N - 7 AR B OB B 40 s
T BEBRARENETE AR ARE
FX ST B BE 2 B 3 FE S8 E IR IR R B
5 < ROHE B S EL A B B R B A
XEHE REBEVEDER EELMUD
MIERT  PEESMHEEERBLE
< R S R B R ARIB RS AR
BB RN E ER ARG,

ORERERERB2

WR_ZT—tF_AhR BEFSEMHAK
SBEFHET—RIZEEEKE EFE
FAEEBBRER T LB KB
RERAR([IEBESCE2]) LR HK
BESHHFEHEFR AR ([HEKE]
—FHRABEE(ESEEADESER
HES 2 NFBEKRINBRAR)L
M EE=EEHE(BRRBEH
B2 EBAENE2 TRBEREE
ZRE2- BREREBE 2 RERNE R
E2z S ([ERRFE2) UELH
NEEREEREE ki) RBRELL
RHBIVEEEEREZ Bt bR
R ERAEEETHE BEED
EBUREMIEEBEERENNEER
([BEFBEER ) 2AETEEEET I
THB-ARAKRBREEEREETHR
¥ -BHE—THBEREL2EEAQAAE
HMA-Z—+FEF-_ANBZAE-

BREAORIRE AR ZMBES
ARYAHEREBERKE - LR E
HHWREARBZZ2ENB AR ([T
EEEERE2)ETARREE - REL
TMRAAFEUAE  BLHEEAUERILR
KBZHE—RR)EKAARE ZEE
AL -ARUEREBHBELHEAZE
BA LERABKABLFEAZ %
BBALSARNRAB Z@EEAL - Bt
ABRRY2BER ETRNFUAZTET AR
RAZFHBRAERZS -



EERS (B8)

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements 2

Since the Listing, the Group’'s business has grown at a significant
pace and the Group’s product offerings have significantly expanded.
The Group has evolved from a pure integrated online card and board
game platform, offering both PC games and mobile games to a global
mind sports business offering online and offline products in the PRC
and worldwide. The Group now holds various investments in mind
sports across an array of platforms including PC, mobile and real life
tournaments. The VIE Structure 2 separates the Group’s eSports
business from the online games business. The VIE Structure 1 will
remain in place for the Group’s management of its online games

business.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, due to applicable laws and regulatory
restrictions on foreign ownership in the telecommunications industry
(including online games, eSports and other internet related
businesses) in the PRC and restrictions on foreign investors
conducting value-added telecommunications services, the Group
operates its businesses, including the Group's expanded eSports
business, in the PRC through Beijing Lianzhong, and the Group has in
place a series of contractual arrangements with Beijing Lianzhong
that are designed to allow the Company to exercise control over the
operations of Beijing Lianzhong and enjoy the economic benefits
generated by Beijing Lianzhong. Please refer to the section headed
“Contractual Arrangements” of the Prospectus for the detailed
reasons as to why our businesses are required to be carried out by
way of contractual arrangements from a perspective of compliance
with PRC laws.

The Group's eSports business and the Group's traditional online card
and board games business [the “Online Games Business’] are very
different and at different stages of maturity, requiring different
strategies, resources and management personnel. The VIE Structure
2 will allow the Group to better manage the eSports Business and the
Online Games Business. Each of Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing
Guangyao will have different profit and loss focuses, and the Group
will have in place separate management personnel that are suitable
to the respective business. Having separate entities operating the
respective business will also allow the Group to more easily set
appropriate key performance indicators for the respective businesses,
management and employees, and for the Group to devise incentives

and remunerations that are appropriate in each case.
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Also, in order to further expand the Group’s eSports business, the
Company may be required to obtain additional sources of funding in
the future, such as by way of introducing third party investors either
at the Company level or at the subsidiary level. Although the Company
does not have any concrete plans as at the date of this directors’
report to introduce any third party investors, the separation of the
eSports business and the Online Games Business via separate
variable interest entity structures will allow the Company to have
flexibility in the future to introduce investors depending on the actual
business needs of the Company and negotiation with potential
investors.

The Group believes that such added flexibilities and focus will be
instrumental to nurturing and growing the eSports business while
continuing to maintain a healthy growth in the Online Games
Business. Further details of the reasons for the Contractual
Arrangements 2 are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 9 February 2017.

Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements 2
We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual

Arrangements 2:

. If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our business in China do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, we
could be subject to severe penalties and our business may be

materially and adversely affected.

. The Group relies on the Contractual Arrangements 2 to control
and obtain economic benefits from Beijing Guangyao, which
may not be as effective in providing operational control as equity

ownership.

o The shareholders of Beijing Guangyao may have conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our
business and financial condition.

J Certain terms of the Contractual Arrangements 2 may not be

enforceable under PRC laws.

. We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by Beijing
Guangyao that are important to the operation of our business if
Beijing Guangyao declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.
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. The Contractual Arrangements 2 between the WFOE 2 and
Beijing Guangyao may subject our Group to increased income
tax due to the different income tax rates applicable to the WFOE
2 and Beijing Guangyao, which may adversely affect our results

of operations.

. The Group's exercise of the options to acquire equity interests
of Beijing Guangyao may be subject to certain limitations and
the ownership transfer may subject us to substantial costs.

o The Contractual Arrangements 2 between the WFOE 2 and
Beijing Guangyao may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax
authorities and any finding that we or Beijing Guangyao owe
additional taxes could substantially reduce our consolidated net
income and the value of our Shareholders’ investment.

Mitigation actions taken by the Company
The same mitigation actions as that for the VIE Structure 1 have been
and will be taken for the VIE Structure 2:

o The Company has existing protections measures under the
Contractual Arrangements 2. The Company’s Risk Management
Committee will regularly review the compliance and
performance of such conditions under the Contractual
Arrangements 2.

o The Company’s public affair department and legal department
will deal with matters relating to compliance and regulatory
enquiries from relevant PRC authorities and report to the Board
on a regular basis.

o Legal advisers and other professionals have been and will
continue to be retained to assist the Company to deal with
related matters arising from the Contractual Arrangements 2,
and the auditor of the Group will be engaged to provide annual
confirmations regarding the Contractual Arrangements 2.

Contractual Arrangements 2

The Contractual Arrangements 2 under the VIE Structure 2 are on
substantially the same terms as those currently in place under the
VIE Structure 1, save as to the identity of the operating vehicle, the
identity of the wholly foreign owned enterprise, and the identity of the
registered owners of the respective operating vehicle.
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As at the date of this Directors’ Report, the Contractual Arrangements
2 comprised six agreements, namely (a) the Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 2, (b) the Business Cooperation Agreement 2, (c) the
Exclusive Option Agreement 2, [d) the Share Pledge Agreement 2, (e]
the Proxy Agreement 2 and [f) the Power of Attorney 2.

In relation to the Contractual Arrangements 2 under the VIE Structure
2, the Company will fulfill and comply with the same conditions as
those imposed on the contractual arrangements under the VIE
Structure 1 as disclosed on pages 150 to 152 of the Prospectus,

mutatis mutandis.

The following diagram illustrates how economic benefits flow from
Beijing Guangyao to our Group under the Contractual Arrangements 2:
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(Note 2)

Guangyao (Note 3]

Guangyao (Note 4]

(1) Covenants not to materially affect Beijing Guangyao's assets and business
and right to appoint directors and officers (Note 1)
(2)  Power of attorney to exercise all shareholders’ rights in Beijing Guangyao

(3)  Exclusive option to acquire all or part of the equity interest in Beijing

(4)  First priority security interest over the entire equity interest in Beijing

(1) FestRrR EEREGRETEERSABE RN EEEATE

225 (MEED)
(2)  FTEIEFOLRATE R RAERN 2 B R EE (HFE2)
() WL RO R 2 A ED D i 2 W BB A (P FES)
(4)  RIERR 2 AR E —E SRR (M)
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The Company

AN/NC]
100%
Huge Grace
Offshore
N 100%
Onshore 100%
BA
The WFOE 2 b — _ | The Registered Owner
SNEEE (B2 affR=E

Management and

T N T
e 1 e : ' Management and e !
consultation service & IE/\ﬁéﬁ@H&j‘% : : consultation fee B EE/\ﬁf'\ﬁlﬁjAﬁH ' 100%
(Note 5) (BzES) : : (Note 5) (F#3E5) :
v ! v
Beijing Guangyao
LR
Notes: B 5 -
1. Please refer to the section headed "Business Cooperation Agreement 2" 1. BEREHES B8 EBE5EHMZE2]—
for details. & o
2. Please refer to the section headed "Proxy Agreement and Power of 2. EHEHE B2EZARIREESZ
Attorney 2" for details. HE)|—ffo
3. Please refer to the section headed "Exclusive Option Agreement 2" for 3. BEHHE H28 BXRERERE2)
details. —ff e
4. Please refer to the section headed "Share Pledge Agreement 2" for 4. BEEHE B2 BRHEBRpHE2]—
details. & o
5. Please refer to the section headed “"Master Exclusive Service Agreement 5. BEHHE Z28BERBREBWHE?2]
2" for details. —ff e
6. “— " denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest 6. [— R TFRBRER Y EEESTREST
and "--->" denotes contractual relationship. BRE [--> | RTRANBREZ-
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Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2

Beijing Guangyao entered into a master exclusive service agreement
with the WFOE 2 on 9 February 2017 (the "Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 2", pursuant to which, in exchange for a quarterly service
fee, Beijing Guangyao agreed to engage the WFOE 2 as its exclusive
provider for the following services:

o providing technology development and transfer, and technical

consulting services;

. providing occupation and pre-occupation staff training services;

o providing public relation services;

. providing market investigation, research and consulting
services;

J providing mid- or short-term market development and market

planning services;

. providing human resource management and internal

information management;

o providing network development, upgrade and daily
maintenance;

o providing sale services of self-produced products;
. licensing of software;
J providing maintenance services in respect of computer software

and hardware system, database and computer servers;

. providing maintenance and upgrade services in respect of the

online games;

J providing training services in respect of online game and

eSports technology and operations;

o providing research and development services in respect of

online game software and maintenance of the system;

J selling and authorising Beijing Guangyao to license software,
and
o other services determined from time to time by the WFOE 2

according to the need of business and capacity of the WFOE 2
and its designated affiliates.
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The service fee is equal to 100% of the consolidated net profits of
Beijing Guangyao. The WFOE 2 may adjust the service fee at its sole
discretion with reference to the working capital requirements of the
WFOE 2 and in accordance with several factors relating to the
services provided, including (i} technical difficulty and complexity of
the services; [ii] time spent in providing the services; (iii] contents and
commercial value of the services; and (iv) the benchmark price of
similar services in the market. Our PRC Legal Advisor is of the opinion
that such payment of service fees is not subject to any legal or
regulatory requirements in the PRC and does not violate any PRC
laws.

Any intellectual properties developed by performance of the Master
Exclusive Service Agreement 2, including but not limited to copyrights,
trademarks, patents, technical secrets and knowhow, belong to the
WFOE 2. If a development is based on the intellectual properties
owned by Beijing Guangyao, Beijing Guangyao shall warrant and
guarantee that such intellectual properties are flawless and it shall
bear all damages and losses caused to the WFOE 2 by any flaw of
such intellectual properties. The WFOE 2 has the right to recover all

of its losses from Beijing Guangyao for liabilities to any third party.

The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2 can be terminated by the
WFOE 2 at any time upon 30 days’ written notice to Beijing Guangyao.
The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2 shall also terminate upon
the transfer of all the shares of Beijing Guangyao to the WFOE 2 and/
or a third party designated by the WFOE 2 pursuant to the Exclusive

Option Agreement 2.

Business Cooperation Agreement 2

Beijing Guangyao, the Registered Owner and the WFOE 2 entered into
a business cooperation agreement on 9 February 2017 (the "Business
Cooperation Agreement 2"). Under the Business Cooperation
Agreement 2, Beijing Guangyao and the Registered Owner, jointly and
severally, agreed and covenanted that, without obtaining the written
consent of the WFOE 2, Beijing Guangyao shall not, and the
Registered Owner shall cause Beijing Guangyao not to, engage in any
transaction which may materially affect Beijing Guangyao’'s asset,

obligation, right or operation, including without limitation:

o any activities not within its normal business scope, or operating

its business in a way that is inconsistent with its past practice;

o merger, reorganization, acquisition or restructuring of its
principal business or assets, or acquisition or investment in any

other form;
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offering any loan to any third party, incurring any debt from any
third party, or assuming any debt other than in the ordinary
course of business;

engaging, changing or dismissing any director or any senior

management officer;

selling to or acquiring from any third party, mortgaging,
licensing or disposing of in other ways tangible or intangible
assets, other than in the ordinary course of business;

incurring, inheriting, assuming or guaranteeing any debt that
are not incurred during the ordinary course of business, using
its assets to provide security or other forms of guarantees to
any third party, or setting up any other encumbrances over its
assets;

making any supplement, amendment or alternation to its
articles of association and by-laws, increasing or decreasing of
its registered capital or changing the structure of its registered

capital in other manners;

making a distribution of a dividend, or share interest or
sponsorship interest in any way, provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 2, Beijing Guangyao shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s) who shall in turn immediately and
unconditionally pay or transfer to the WFOE 2 any such
distribution;

executing any material contract, except contracts executed in
the ordinary course of business (for purpose of this subsection,
the WFOE 2 may define a material contract at its sole

discretion);

selling, transferring, mortgaging or disposing of in any manner
any legal or beneficial interest in its business or revenues, or

allowing the encumbrance thereon of any security interest;
dissolution or liquidation and distribution of residual assets; or
causing any of its branches or subsidiaries to engage in any of
the foregoing or enter into any contract, agreement or other

legal documents which may lead to or result in any of the

foregoing.
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In addition, Beijing Guangyao agreed and covenanted to the WFOE 2
that Beijing Guangyao shall, and the shareholders of Beijing Guangyao
shall cause Beijing Guangyao to:

o accept suggestions raised by the WFOE 2 over the engagement
and replacement of employees, daily operations, dividend
distribution and financial management systems of Beijing
Guangyao, and Beijing Guangyao shall strictly abide by and
perform accordingly;

J maintain Beijing Guangyao's corporate existence in accordance
with good financial and business standards and practices by
prudently and effectively operating its business and handling its

affairs;

o conduct Beijing Guangyao’s businesses in the ordinary course
of business to maintain the asset value of Beijing Guangyao and
refrain from any act or omission that may adversely affect

Beijing Guangyao’s operating status and asset value;

o provide the WFOE 2 with information on Beijing Guangyao’'s
business operations and financial condition at the request of
the WFOE 2;

o if requested by the WFOE 2, procure and maintain insurance in
respect of Beijing Guangyao's assets and business from an
insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 2, at an amount and
type of coverage typical for companies that operate similar
businesses;

o immediately notify the WFOE 2 of the occurrence or possible
occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or administrative
proceedings relating to Beijing Guangyao's assets, business or
revenue; and

o execute all necessary or appropriate documents, take all
necessary or appropriate actions and file all necessary or
appropriate complaints or raise necessary and appropriate
defences against all claims so as to maintain the ownership by
Beijing Guangyao of all of its assets.

IS

e

S

BRI LRAIIEBERE?

Cdb Rt E A AR REREIL R

EXIIEBECLF2EUTRER
HeZH R B EEZEER
EM-BELE WENREYB
EIE R B AL B 7 A e i AR
T8 E <F I BT

FRABFERARMEEREBLR
BREEER REBERGFZWHME
AR A N 18 H HOE 4 15 4b O R
ZhERE:

REFEHBREHHRIL R LR
ZEBURFIER KB ZEERE
EIXE A RE S A MO 2 &
RAAREBEEBEERTFNEEZ
ERIERHB R

RONE B E DX 2R B ZKE R
BB E 2R B RO BB X
RENRMBRRAEBZER

oM BE R E2RH BRI
KREBOEL 2 ARHEL 27 RE
TRLEY  RiERAKBZEER
XGBERERSIBEELE2A
BEZERAZRE

ABASEBE L E2ELENA
BEBARIERABZEE EBH
WA B2 AEARER - R EEITR
=S

BREMBLBIGEE 2 XM 5B
RAEVEREE 21TEH A RE D
PIBEMEBREE ZRFRHMB
RRENSGEREE 2N IE
RELRCBEEMEEEZM
B

“_B-tEER



EESRS (B8)

According to the Business Cooperation Agreement 2, the Registered
Owner shall only appoint persons designated by the WFOE 2 as
directors, the general manager, the chief financial officer and other
senior management members of Beijing Guangyao, and the
Registered Owner shall dismiss any such directors or senior
management members upon the request of the WFOE 2. Beijing
Guangyao and the Registered Owner also jointly and severally

covenanted that Beijing Guangyao shall seek appropriate approval
from the WFOE 2 prior to entering in to any material contract.

Furthermore, the Registered Owner agreed that, unless required by
the WFOE 2, he shall not put forward, or vote in favour of, any
shareholder’s resolution to, or otherwise request Beijing Guangyao
to, distribute profits, funds, assets or property to the Registered
Owner, or to issue any dividends or other distributions with respect to
the shares of Beijing Guangyao held by the Registered Owner.

The Business Cooperation Agreement 2 shall remain effective as long
as Beijing Guangyao exists, unless the WFOE 2 terminates it upon 30
days” advance written notice or upon the transfer of all the shares in

Beijing Guangyao held by the Registered Owner to the WFOE 2 and/or
a third party designated by the WFOE 2.

Exclusive Option Agreement 2

Beijing Guangyao and the Registered Owner entered into an exclusive
option agreement with the WFOE 2 on 9 February 2017 (the “Exclusive
Option Agreement 2°), pursuant to which the WFOE 2 has a right to
require the Registered Owner to transfer any or all the shares of
Beijing Guangyao he holds to the WFOE 2 and/or a third party
designated by it, in whole or in part at any time and from time to time,
at the lowest price allowable under PRC laws and administration
regulations at the time of transfer.

The Exclusive Option Agreement 2 shall remain effective as long as
Beijing Guangyao exists, and cannot be terminated by either Beijing
Guangyao or the Registered Owner. The Exclusive Option Agreement
2 can be terminated (i) by the WFOE 2 at any time upon 30 days’
advance written notice to Beijing Guangyao or the Registered Owner;
or (i) upon the transfer of all the shares held by the shareholders to

the WFOE 2 and/or a third party designated by the WFOE 2.

Annual Report 2017

REEXBAERHE2 BXHAAETZ
EHEBELE2EEZ AL EEILR
RBZEE LK BEMBEERE
thERERBEKE  BETHEAAR
SIEBELE2REZRERBEEAE
MEERSREEEXE - ERAEBR
BRFBANRLRKER R bRk
BERFLEMEREGNZAZTRING
BECE2ZEEHAE-

N BRFEARE  KRIFIBBE
EE2ER RETARBIBRREXE
PR RORE R I AR M T BRIk
BAZTHEADENE B BE
KMEIRECHAATEZ L TR
P A7 B TR AT AR B SR Lt 2D K ©

BRIENBBE L 2RNER =+ XERA
EmBEMRIMINEBEELE2R LI
HMEBECEEEZF=-TEBERERLH
BABBZIL R BB RMNERIEZE
BafEh#E SRR CRESTT
B RXBEEBEEREGR -

BRERERR?

ERABREBLFAALDIIABELE
RZE—EFE - ANRAFTUBRER
= ((BRBREWE2)) &t S
HMBECLX2EHEREAZBELHE
AT E ] B i B S B 22 rp BDR 12 ) 7T B
ERRNEEE T 2 EERRAINGE
BORIR/AEEEZE=ZT ML
DERHEFE 2EMKPAAIL R B

1/\ o

RELREBREEFTE BRERED
BEREBY TR HRIEFRERRIER
FAANTAKIE - BREBAEGZ 27 A
AT IR F R (IR A R R
BRFAABH=TREME@MBHRZ
ZAEAERRAINEBELE2T AL
KR AIEBEE B E2R LI B
BERRETZE=-THERRBFEZ
AR E T IAKIE -



EERS (B8)

Beijing Guangyao and the Registered Owner, among other things,

have covenanted that:

. without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
in any manner supplement, change or amend the articles of
association and bylaws of Beijing Guangyao, increase or
decrease its registered capital, or change the structure of its

registered capital in other manners;

J they shall maintain Beijing Guangyao’'s corporate existence in
accordance with good financial and business standards and
practices by prudently and effectively operating its business and

handling its affairs;

. without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
sell, transfer, mortgage or dispose of in any manner any assets
of Beijing Guangyao (except in the ordinary course of business),
or legal or beneficial interest in the business or revenues of
Beijing Guangyao, or allow the encumbrance thereon of any

security interest;

J without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
incur, inherit, guarantee or assume any debt, except for debts

incurred in the ordinary course of business;

. they shall always operate all of Beijing Guangyao's businesses
during the ordinary course of business to maintain the asset
value of Beijing Guangyao and refrain from any action/omission
that may adversely affect Beijing Guangyao's operating status

and asset value;

. without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
cause Beijing Guangyao to execute any material contract (as
defined by the WFOE 2 at its sole discretion], except the

contracts executed in the ordinary course of business;

. without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not

cause Beijing Guangyao to provide any person with any loan or
credit other than in the course of ordinary business;

o they shall provide the WFOE 2 with information on Beijing
Guangyao’s business operations and financial condition at the
request of the WFOE 2;
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if requested by the WFOE 2, they shall procure and maintain
insurance in respect of Beijing Guangyao’s assets and business
from an insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 2, at an
amount and type of coverage typical for companies that operate
similar businesses;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
cause or permit Beijing Guangyao to merge, consolidate with,

acquire or invest in any person;

they shall immediately notify the WFOE 2 of the occurrence or
possible occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or
administrative proceedings relating to Beijing Guangyao's

assets, business or revenue;

to maintain the ownership by Beijing Guangyao of all of its
assets, they shall execute all necessary or appropriate
documents, take all necessary or appropriate actions and file
all necessary or appropriate complaints or raise necessary and

appropriate defences against all claims;

they shall ensure that Beijing Guangyao shall not, without the
prior written consent of the WFOE 2, in any manner distribute
dividends to its shareholder(s), provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 2, Beijing Guangyao shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s) who shall in turn immediately and
unconditionally pay or transfer to the WFOE 2 any such
distribution;

at the request of the WFOE 2, they shall appoint any persons
designated by the WFOE 2 as the directors and/or executive
directors of Beijing Guangyao;

they shall cause the meeting of shareholders and the board of
directors of Beijing Guangyao to pass shareholders’ resolutions
and board resolutions in accordance with the instruction of the
WFOE 2; and

unless otherwise mandatorily required by PRC laws, Beijing

Guangyao shall not be dissolved or liquated without prior
written consent by the WFOE 2.
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Share Pledge Agreement 2

The Registered Owner entered into an share pledge agreement with
the WFOE 2 on 9 February 2017 (the "Share Pledge Agreement 2").
Under the Share Pledge Agreement 2, the Registered Owner
unconditionally and irrevocably agreed to pledge all of the shares of
Beijing Guangyao that he owns, including any interest or dividend paid
for such shares, to WFOE 2 as a security for the performance of the
obligations by Beijing Guangyao and the Registered Owner under the
Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2, the Business Cooperation
Agreement 2, the Exclusive Option Agreement 2 and other
agreements to be executed among Beijing Guangyao, the Registered
Owner and the WFOE 2 from time to time (collectively the “Principal
Agreements 27).

The pledge shall remain valid until all parties have agreed to
terminate the Share Pledge Agreement 2, the Principal Agreements 2
have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of the WFOE 2 or all of the
Principal Agreements 2 have expired or been terminated.

Proxy Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2

Beijing Guangyao and the Registered Owner entered into a proxy
agreement and power of attorney with the WFOE 2 on 9 February 2017
(the "Proxy Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2"). Under the Proxy
Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2, the Registered Owner
irrevocably agreed to appoint the WFOE 2 (as well as its successors,
including a liquidator, if any, replacing the WFOE 2) as its attorney-in-
fact to exercise on its behalf, and agreed and undertook not to
exercise without such attorney-in-fact’s prior written consent, any
and all right that he has in respect of its shares in Beijing Guangyao,
including without limitation:

o to call and attend shareholders” meetings of Beijing Guangyao,
and receive notices and materials with respect to the

shareholders’ meeting;

o to execute and deliver any and all written resolutions and
meeting minutes in the name and on behalf of such
shareholder;

o to vote by itself or by proxy on any matters discussed on

shareholders’ meetings of Beijing Guangyao, including without
limitation, the sale, transfer, mortgage, pledge or disposal of
any or all of the assets of Beijing Guangyao;

o to sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of any or all of the shares in
Beijing Guangyao;
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. to nominate, appoint or remove the directors, supervisors and
senior management of Beijing Guangyao when necessary;

o to oversee the economic performance of Beijing Guangyao;

. to have full access to the financial information of Beijing
Guangyao at any time;

o to file any shareholder lawsuits or take other legal actions
against Beijing Guangyao's directors or senior management
members when such directors or members are acting to the
detriment of the interest of Beijing Guangyao or its
shareholder(s];

J to approve annual budgets or declare dividends;
J to manage and dispose of the assets of Beijing Guangyao;
. to have the full rights to control and manage Beijing Guangyao’s

finance, accounting and daily operation (including but not
limited to signing and execution of contracts and payment of

government taxes and duties);

o to approve the filing of any documents with the relevant
governmental authorities or regulatory bodies; and

J any other rights conferred by the articles of association of
Beijing Guangyao and/or the relevant laws and regulations on

the shareholders.

In addition, if any share transfer is contemplated under the Exclusive
Option Agreement 2 and the Share Pledge Agreement 2 that the
Registered Owner enters into for the benefits of the WFOE 2 or its
affiliate, the WFOE 2 shall have the right to sign the share transfer
agreement and other relevant agreements and to perform the

Exclusive Option Agreement 2 and the Share Pledge Agreement 2.

The Proxy Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2 will remain effective
so long as Beijing Guangyao exists. Beijing Guangyao’s shareholders
will not have the right to terminate the Proxy Agreement 2 and Power
of Attorney 2 or to revoke the appointment of the attorney-in-fact

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2.
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Revenue and Assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements 2
The revenue, profit for the year and total assets subject to the

Contractual Arrangements 2 are set out as follows:

SRR 2BETHRAREBE

BRRB2ZATHRA - FRAMEREE
EFHWT

Year ended

31 December 2017
BE-Z—tF
TZA=t+—HLEFE
RMB’000

AR¥TR

Revenue A

Loss for the year FABE

29,521

72,533

As at

31 December 2017
R=Z—tF
+=—BA=+—H
RMB’000
AR¥TR

Total assets BEE

425,592

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the revenue and profit for the
year subject to the Contractual Arrangements 2 amounted to
approximately 4.8% and 168.9% of the revenue and loss for the year of

the Group respectively.

As at 31 December 2017, the total assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements 2 amounted to approximately 26.3% of the total assets

of the Group.

In the opinion of our PRC Legal Advisor dated 15 February 2017, the
Contractual Arrangements 2 are valid, binding and are in compliance
with and enforceable under the applicable PRC laws and regulations,
except that the Contractual Arrangements 2 provide that the arbitral
tribunal or the arbitrators may award remedies over the shares or
land assets of Beijing Guangyao, relief or winding up of Beijing
Guangyao, and that courts of competent jurisdictions are empowered
to grant interim injunctive relief or other interim relief in support of
the arbitration when formation of the arbitral tribunal is pending or
under appropriate circumstances, while under PRC laws, an arbitral
tribunal or the arbitrators has no power to grant injunctive relief or
provisional or final liquidation order to preserve the assets or any

shares of Beijing Guangyao in case of dispute.
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Confirmation from Independent Directors

The independent non-executive Directors reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements 1 and the Contractual Arrangements 2 (the “Continuing
Connected Transactions”] and the independent auditor’s report, and
confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions have been
entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group, (i) on normal commercial terms or better, and (i) according
to the relevant agreements governing each of the Continuing
Connected Transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Directors also confirmed that no dividends or other distributions
have been made by Beijing Lianzhong to the holders of its equity
interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to the Group.

Confirmations from the Company’s Independent
Auditor

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has confirmed in a letter to the Board that
with respect to the Continuing Connected Transactions entered into in
the year ended 31 December 2017:

(a)]  nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the Continuing Connected Transactions have not

been approved by the Board; and

(b)  nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
under the Continuing Connected Transactions governing such

transactions.
A copy of the auditor’'s letter on the Continuing Connected

Transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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We believe that there are certain risks involved in our operations,
some of which are beyond our control. The principal risks and
uncertainties the Group is facing are as follows:

Risks relating to the Business and Industry of the
Company

If the Group fails to continuously strengthen its existing games and
launch new games, or if its top games lose their popularity, the Group
may not be able to retain existing players and attract new players,
which will adversely affect the business and results of the operation
of the Group. The Group relies on third-party channels to distribute a
substantial number of our games, and our business and results of
operations may be adversely affected if these third-party channels
breach their obligations to us, or if we fail to maintain relationships
with a sufficient number of channels, or if our commercial
arrangements with these third-party channels become less favorable
to us, or if these channels lose popularity among internet users.

Risks and Uncertainties Related to Various PRC
Laws and Regulations

We face risks and uncertainties relating to the applicability of certain
PRC laws and regulations to our card and board games, and we
cannot assure that such laws and regulations will not be interrupted
in ways unfavorable to us. As electronic publications that provide
telecommunication services and Internet culture services, online
games are subject to various PRC laws and regulations of multiple
government authorities including the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of the PRC, the PRC State Administration of
Press, Publication, Radio, Film and Television, the National Copyright
Administration and the Ministry of Culture of the PRC. In February
2018, due to the increasingly strict regulation, a minor penalty of
RMB50,000 in total were imposed on our two online games by the
local authority of Culture administration, which has been paid off and
we have completed the rectification as required as of the date of this
annual report. There is no assurance that our online games will not
further be deemed to violate any applicable PRC laws in the future.
Similarly, there is no assurance that our game business will not be
challenged or subject to any regulatory actions in the PRC. If we are
forced to discontinue any of our existing games or if we are unable to
offer any new games in the PRC due to regulatory restrictions, our
business and growth prospects may be materially and adversely
affected.
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In addition, our operation may be affected due to inappropriate
behavior by our players. We have adopted policies and implemented
measures to comply with applicable laws and regulate player
behaviors. Our virtual game points and virtual goods can only be used
in our games and have no monetary value outside our games. We
prohibit players from engaging in transfers of virtual currency
between themselves. We actively monitor such transfers and other
offensive player behavior on our online game platform. However, we
cannot assure you that all our players will comply with applicable
laws and our policies or that we will not be held liable for their
violations.

Risks relating to Preferential Tax Treatment

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law, the current statutory
enterprise income tax rate is 25%. Our PRC operating entity, Beijing
Lianzhong, has been qualified as a High and New Technology
Enterprise since 2008. Under the relevant PRC tax regulations, as a
High and New Technology Enterprise, Beijing Lianzhong is entitled to
a preferential tax rate of 15%. Beijing Lianzhong renewed this
qualification in September 2014 for a three-year period commencing
from October 2014. In addition, in December 2013, October 2016 and
October 2017, Beijing Lianzhong was respectively accredited by the
National Development and Reform Commission, the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology of the PRC, the Ministry of
Finance, the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC and the State of
Taxation as a Key Software Enterprise within National Planning
Layout for the Years 2013-2014, and the Years 2015 and 2016. As a
result, Beijing Lianzhong is entitled to a preferential income tax rate
of 10% for the year ended 31 December 2016. The recognition for the
Key Software Enterprise within National Planning Layout for the Year
2017 will be conducted in 2018; we will apply for renewal of this
qualification according to applicable laws and regulations. If Beijing
Lianzhong fails to renew the qualification as a Key Software
Enterprise within National Planning Layout, its applicable enterprise

income tax rate would be 15% for the year ended 31 December 2017.
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Risks relating to our Corporate Structure

We rely on our contractual arrangements to control and obtain
economic benefits from the PRC operating entities, Beijing Lianzhong
and Beijing Guangyao, which may not be as effective in providing
operational control as equity ownership. Meanwhile, the shareholders
of Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao may have conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our
business and financial condition. Furthermore, if the PRC government
finds that the contractual arrangements that established the
structure for operating our business in China do not comply with
applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and regulations
or their interpretations change in the future, we could be subject to
severe penalties and our business may be materially and adversely
affected.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

The ultimate customers of the Group are individual players paying
through payment channels. The average MAUs for the year 2017 for
our self-developed PC games and mobile games were 6.26 million
and 15.48 million respectively, MPUs for the year 2017 for our self-
developed PC games and mobile games were 247.17 thousands and 1.18
million respectively, and ARPPU for the year 2017 for our self-
developed PC games and mobile games were RMB?0 and RMB18.4
respectively. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the five largest
payment channels contributed a total of 39.66% of the Group’s total
revenue. Our largest payment channel contributed 11.86% of the
Group's total revenue for the year 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the purchases from the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for a total of 27.86% of the
Group's total purchases from all of the suppliers. The purchases from
our top supplier in 2017 accounted for approximately 11.20% of the

Group’s total purchases.
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None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’'s issued shares) had an interest in any of the major
customers or suppliers noted above.

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has
reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group
and discussed the Group's internal controls and financial reporting
matters with the management. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2017.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, although there are no restrictions against such rights
under the laws in the Cayman Islands.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 463 employees, 126 of which
were responsible for game development and maintenance, 202 for
game operation and offline events organization, 4 for TV shows and
contents production, 87 for general administration and corporate
management, and 44 for game production. The total remuneration
expenses, excluding share-based compensation expense, for the year
ended 31 December 2017 were RMB105.1 million, representing a
decrease of 9.3% as compared to the previous year.

We provide various employee benefits and social insurance to our
employees. We also provide share options to better motivate our
employees. Pursuant to the 2014 Share Option Scheme, 1,440,000
share options were granted to the employees of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2017. The Group's share-based
compensation expense for the year ended 31 December 2017
amounted to RMB24.9 million, representing an decrease of RMB17.8
million as compared with RMB 42.7 million in 2076.
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Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, the Directors confirm that the
Company has maintained the amount of public float as required under
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2017.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited. A resolution for its re-appointment as
auditor for the coming year will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors are set out below:

(1) Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David resigned as an independent non-
executive Director, chairman of the audit committee, and a
member of each of the remuneration committee, nomination
and corporate governance committee and the risk management
committee of the Company effective from 27 March 2018.

(2)  Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of the audit committee, and a
member of each of the remuneration committee, nomination
and corporate governance committee and the risk management
committee of the Company effective from 27 March 2018.

On behalf of the Board
Yang Eric Qing
Chairman and Executive Director

27 March 2018
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EXELERS

The Board of Directors is pleased to present the corporate governance
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Company is committed to maintaining and promoting stringent
corporate governance policies. The principle of the Company’s corporate
governance is to promote effective internal control measures and to
enhance the transparency and accountability of the Board to all
Shareholders.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

During the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, except for deviations from (i} code
provision A.1.1 which requires that board meetings should be held at least
four times a year at quarterly intervals; and (i) code provision A.2.1 which
requires that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company
for the purpose of complying with the Code and maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance practices of the Company.

Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules to govern securities transactions by its Directors. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they
have strictly complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this

annual report.
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The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, four non-executive

Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board for the year ended 31 December 2017 and up
to the date of this annual report is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Eric Qing (Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank (Co-Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jiang
Mr. Hua Guanfa*
Ms. Fu Qiang*
Mr. Fan Tai

Mr. Chen Xian

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ge Xuan

Mr. Lu Zhong

Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David**
Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony**

Ms. Fu Qiang was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 23
June 2017 when Mr. Hua Guanfa ceased to be a non-executive Director on the
same day.

o Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 27 March 2018 when Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David
ceased to be an independent non-executive Director on the same day.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” on pages 36 to 39 of this annual report.
For the year ended 31 December 2017, there is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s))
between the Board members per code provision I(h] of the Corporate
Governance Code.

Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer (“Co-CEQ”)

Code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be

performed by the same individual.
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Mr. Yang Eric Qing is the Chairman and Co-CEOQ of the Company. Mr. Yang
joined the Group in December 2010 and is responsible for general operation,
strategy information technology of the Company and is instrumental to the
Company’s growth and business expansion. The Board considers that
vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer in Mr. Yang is
beneficial to the management of the Group. The balance of power and
authority is ensured by the operation of the senior management and the
Board, which comprises experienced and high-calibre individuals. The
Board currently comprises two executive Directors (including Mr. Yang),
four non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors

and therefore has a fairly strong independence element in its composition.

Board Meetings and General Meetings Held in 2017

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board convened three
meetings. A summary of the attendance record of the Directors is set out in
the table below:

Name of Directors
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ATHRNSREERERESSITRRED
ERENFTE EFSENAMARTES
(BREBRLE) WEFNTEER=2BUIF
HWITESHEK AEMAA LEBREAE Y
HIJTE °

"E-CHFESETETERREKRE

RBEE-_Z—+tF+_A=+t—-HLFE
W EFZEAMTZASH EFHFELHEM
ZHIIN TR

Number of meetings
attended/eligible to attend
during the year ended

31 December 2017 Attendance rate

REBZE-ZT—+&F
+=-A=+—HLt
EEMEEES

EEnE AHEERIE HER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yang Eric Qing HE A 3/3 100%
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank 10 BB 5 A4 3/3 100%
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Liu Jiang 25T k4 1/3 33%
Mr. Hua Guanfa* EEE LA 1/3 33%
Ms. Fu Qiang* Rzt 2/3 66%
Mr. Fan Tai B A 3/3 100%
Mr. Chen Xian PR 527 55 &= 2/3 66%
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAIFHITES
Mr. Ge Xuan BhEtaE 3/3 100%
Mr. Lu Zhong BREE 2/3 66%
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David RM{C LA 3/3 100%

* Ms. Fu Qiang was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 23 June

2017 when Mr. Hua Guanfa ceased to be a non-executive Director on the same day.
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According to code provision A.1.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. During the year, two regular Board meetings were held
to review and discuss the annual and interim results, another one Board
meeting was held to discuss and approve the execution of Management
Subscription Agreement, Independent Subscription Agreement and the
Connected Subscription Agreement which have been defined and elaborated
in the announcement of the Company dated 12 September 2017 and further
a circular of the Company dated 13 October 2017. As business operations of
the Company were under the management and supervision of the executive
Directors who had from time to time held meetings to resolve all material
business or management issues, certain Board consents were obtained

through circulation of written resolutions.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company convened one
annual general meeting on 19 May 2017 [the "2017 AGM"] and one
extraordinary general meeting on 2 November 2017 (the "2017 EGM").

Apart from Mr. Yang Eric Qing and Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank, all other
Directors did not attend the 2017 AGM and the 2017 EGM due to pre-

arranged business commitments.

The Board has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors a written annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers each of them to be independent.
Apart from Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony, each of the independent non-
executive Directors has been appointed for a term of three years, which
commenced on the Listing Date. Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director commencing from 27
March 2018. Each of them is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company at least once every
three years in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Each of the non-executive Directors (except for Ms. Fu Qiang who was
appointed on 23 June 2017) has separately been appointed for a term of
three years commencing on the Listing Date. Ms. Fu Qiang has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 23 June 2017. Each of them is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company at least once every
three years in accordance with the Articles of Association.
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The Board is the primary decision making body of the Company and is
responsible for overseeing the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board makes

decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors,
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business

including non-executive Directors and independent non-

experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board has developed
measures for implementing good corporate governance policies and
practices and has delegated to the Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of references.

Our senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management of
our business and is responsible for overseeing the general operation,
business development, finance, marketing, PC, mobile and online-offline

mind sports events operations.

Each newly appointed Director shall receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the

Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors will be continuously updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Directors are also encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The joint company secretaries of the Company update the Directors on the
latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, all Directors, namely Mr. Yang
Eric Qing, Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank, Mr. Liu Jiang, Mr. Hua Guanfa*, Ms.
Fu Qiang*, Mr. Fan Tai, Mr. Chen Xian, Mr. Ge Xuan, Mr. Lu Zhong and Mr.
Cheung Chung Yan David, have participated in continuous professional
training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their
contribution to the Board.

Directors’ knowledge and skills are continuously developed and refreshed
by, inter alia, the following means:

(1) participation in continuous professional training seminars and/or
conferences and/or courses and/or workshops on subjects relating
to, inter alia, corporate governance, directors’ duties and legal and
regulatory changes organised and/or arranged by the Company and/
or professional bodies and/or lawyers;

(2)  reading materials provided from time to time by the Company to
Directors regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of

relevance to the Directors in the discharge of their duties; and
(3] reading news, journals, magazines and/or other reading materials
regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to

the Directors in the discharge of their duties.

Name of Directors

REZE_Z—+tF+_A=+—HLFEH
B EEREIGELSE HERLEE 3
IRE FBELL BRI BHE
E-BREZEE BRAL BRELERKEC
EE)HEEMTHEERERE) ARES
MO ERE RENE B E K -

EERREFEEIATHAA I AHERLE
IR 5831

(1)

(2)

(3)

SEARNBAR/FIEERBERREM
BWME/RLHER(ETBE)LEE
R BERANEZREREEH KA
EEBIBERAHITERHRE
/KT RS

ARATHREERHREBERZRRE
2y ULEBEERTHEHBEZHBEE
ZHEER R
MEEMEIREAERY UREFRE
THEBREZHABEEZHRE  B1 -
kS HEMBEEER -

Training received

EEnE FrEEZ Il
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Yang Eric Qing BE k& (1),(2), (3
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank 10 BB 5 A4 (1], (2], (3)
Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. Liu Jiang 2Tk E (1), (2), (3)
Mr. Hua Guanfa* BB AE (1), (2, (3)
Ms. Fu Qiang* Bog 2+ * (1), (2], (3)
Mr. Fan Tai BREAE (1), (2], (3)
Mr. Chen Xian BROZ A& (1, (2], (3)
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFBITES

Mr. Ge Xuan Bk A& (2), (3)
Mr. Lu Zhong BREE (1), (2], (3)
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David RECEE (1), (3)

* Ms. Fu Qiang was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 23 June

2017 when Mr. Hua Guanfa ceased to be a non-executive Director on the same day.

*
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The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee, and the Risk Management Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of these committees is established
with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock

Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee in compliance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee is to review and supervise the financial
reporting process and internal control system of the Group, review and
approve connected transactions and provide advice and comments to the
Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Audit Committee consisted of
three members: Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David, Mr. Fan Tai and Mr. Ge Xuan.
Mr. Fan was a non-executive Director and Mr. Cheung and Mr. Ge were
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Cheung was the chairman of the
Audit Committee and he resigned on 27 March 2018. Dr. Tyen Kan Hee
Anthony was appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee on the
same day.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Audit Committee held two

meetings. The attendance record of the Audit Committee members is set

out in the table below:

Name of Committee Member

EFgcRUNEEES B %
MEz8&g- h%&m%M ?E@M&Eﬁ
EEZBE UEBARREHARAT %
FREGVNAR T EEBERE - ERAA
TARARRARMRXMBAUERNESS
ZHEEE -

BEXREES

$’D\EE$ETJ§LW%EE'J%32 HER B EEIRST
ARV EZZES - EREZEENETERE
%Tﬁ*T&WﬂZKEIE’]ﬁﬁﬁ%Eﬁ#ﬁﬁi@ﬁ&W*B
ERZG RIS ERERIRAESS
Ti'rﬁx,%ﬁ&i%a%"

REBEE_FT—tF+_A=1+—HLEFEH
B EXZEem=_2KEMEK: RELCX

B BREERERELE -BELERIFNTE
EMEREERBEERBIUINTESE - K
FERERZEGIRIN _ZT-NF=A
“tHtERABE-EMEBIRABEZRER
EREZBEIF-

REBEE-Z—tF+-_A=+T—HLFEH
B ERZERRTTMAGHE BRZEE
FREREZE L ERHEHN T X

Number of Meetings
attended/held
during the year ended

31 December 2017 Attendance rate

RBE=-Z—tF

+ZHA=+—HL

FEHBHE
ZEERBENER HITERRE HE =R
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David SRABIZSEAE 2/2 100%
Mr. Fan Tai B 2/2 100%
Mr. Ge Xuan BiEkAE 2/2 100%

During the meetings, the Audit Committee met with the external auditor and
reviewed the financial results and reports for the year ended 31 December
2016 and the six months ended 30 June 2017.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee in compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee is to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to our Directors and other senior

management.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Remuneration Committee
consisted of three members: Mr. Lu Zhong, Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David
and Mr. Ge Xuan, all being independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Lu was
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Cheung resigned as a
member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 27 March 2018
and Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony was appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee on the same day.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, as there has been no change to
the remuneration policy and structure of the Directors and senior

management, the Remuneration Committee did not convene any meeting.

The remuneration of the members of senior management by band for the
year ended 31 December 2017 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)

FHMESZ

ARARCRE EMHRREI25FREEERT
ARV MEZES FHZEENTEREA
EECHFMORGST BNRMEFREM
EMEBABNRAREMEE YRR
EFERLERE-

REEZE-_T—tF+ZA=+—HILFEH
B FMEEgm=—aXEAEAX : BRELE
RECERERBRAE (A RBILIERTT
ER) - BREERFMZESIR - RELER
TE-NFZA -t LtHBEFEMEESNK
B MAMEELIREAREZERFENEZR
XA -

REE-T—tF+-A=+—HILFEH
B AEFheREBECHFMEERER

WESE FHNEZEGUESFTMNSH -

BE-T—tF+-_A=+—"RLFESR
EREZHMEIIMT

Number of persons

R (AR AE
0-1,000,000 0
1,000,001-2,000,000 0
2,000,001-3,000,000 1
12,000,001-13,000,000 2
Total By 3

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest
paid employees are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this Annual Report.

Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee

The Company has established a Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors and

management of Board succession.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee consisted of 5 members: Mr. Yang Eric Qing, Mr.
Cheung Chung Yan David, Mr. Chen Xian, Mr. Lu Zhong and Mr. Ge Xuan.
Mr. Yang was an executive Director, Mr. Chen was a non-executive Director,
Mr. Cheung, Mr. Lu and Mr. Ge were independent non-executive Directors.
Mr. Yang was the chairman of the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee. Mr. Cheung resigned as a member of the Nomination and
Corporate Governance Committee with effect from 27 March 2018 and Dr.
Tyen Kan Hee Anthony was appointed as a member of the Nomination and

Corporate Governance Committee on the same day.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee held one meeting. The attendance record of the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee members is set out in
the table below

Name of Committee Member

RBE-_Z-—tF+_A=1T-BLFEH
B RAhkCEERZESmARKEMAR:
BERE  REBLCAELE REZELE BREL
RERELE - BEERNTESE RELRIE
WMITEZ MERELE BRERBERERBL
FHUTEF - BELERREREXERZE

@IV°§E§E$EA T-NF=ZA=++LtH
BHARBREGET éiaﬁié—\'ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ\
T@iﬁéﬁﬂﬁﬁ&i%k%&i% BEEY
A e

RBE-_E—+tF+-_A=+—HILFEH
M -RERGEBEARZEERT T —RE& -
RALRTEETARZEENEMNER L ELE

BN TR:

Number of Meetings
attended/held
during the year ended

31 December 2017 Attendance rate

RBE-ZT—+tF

+=ZA=+—ALt

FEHELE
ZEERENE BITERRE HE=
Mr. Yang Eric Qing BB R E Al 100%
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David SR EA Al 100%
Mr. Chen Xian PR 52 % A& 0/1 0%
Mr. Lu Zhong BREE 71 100%
Mr. Ge Xuan BhELE 1/ 100%

Code provision A.5.6 of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules stipulates that a
policy concerning diversity of board members should be adopted. The
Company adopted the diversity policy on 27 March 2015. The Nomination
and Corporate Governance Committee also reviewed and agreed on
measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board. The
measurable objectives identified by the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee include: a material number of Board members
should have served as senior management with companies; certain Board
members should have experience with listed companies; and certain Board
members should have experience with conducting businesses in the
telecommunications industry. The Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee is satisfied that the composition of the Board is sufficiently

diverse.
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The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate governance
duties as required under the Corporate Governance Code:

. to develop and review the Company's policies and practice on

corporate governance;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

. to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

. to review the Company’'s compliance with the Corporate Governance

Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee
reviewed and discussed the following nomination and corporate governance
matters:

. the re-appointment of Directors which was approved by the Board on
27 March 2017.

o the appointment of a non-executive Director which was approved on
23 June 2017 and the resignation of a non-executive Director with

effect from the same day; and

. the assessment of the independence of independent non-executive

Directors.

Risk Management Committee

The Company has established a Risk Management Committee. The primary
duties of the Risk Management Committee are to formulate policies on risk
management matters and to advise on matters raised by the Directors and
the management that may have an impact on the stability and integrity of
the securities and derivatives markets of Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Risk Management Committee
consisted of 5 members: Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank, Mr. Ge Xuan, Mr. Lu
Zhong, Ms. Fu Qiang and Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David. Mr. Ng was an
executive Director, Ms. Fu was a non-executive Director, Mr. Lu, Mr. Cheung
and Mr. Ge were independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Ng was the
chairman of the Risk Management Committee. Mr. Cheung resigned as a
member of the Risk Management Committee with effect from 27 March
2018 and Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony was appointed as a member of the Risk
Management Committee on the same day.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Risk Management Committee
held one meeting. The attendance record of the Risk Management
Committee members is set out in the table below:

Name of Committee Member

REBEE_T— ¢+_H:+*EIJJ:¢J§HJ§
Fﬁ ﬂﬁé E;E\g%TTT //\Eu}%: )—L
BLEGNENEZLBECHEHN T X

Number of Meetings
attended/held
during the year ended

31 December 2017 Attendance rate

RBE=Z—tF

+=A=+—ALt

FEHBHE
ZESHEMS BITEBRE HE =
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank REIR L £ Al 100%
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David SR EA Al 100%
Mr. Hua Guanfa* ERT A 1/1 100%
Ms. Fu Qiang* Bog 2+ N/A A3 A N/A A3
Mr. Lu Zhong BREAE 11 100%
Mr. Ge Xuan Bk E 1/1 100%
* Ms. Fu Qiang was appointed as a member of the Risk Management Committee  * R4 t+tEZFARKREEZEeRE8 8-

with effect from 23 June 2017 when Mr. Hua Guanfa ceased to be a member of the
Risk Management Committee on the same day.

During the meeting, the Risk Management Committee reviewed and
discussed the Internal Control and Management Scheme prepared by the
Internal Control Department of the Company, the appointment of an
external professional firm to conduct review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group, and the financial control and risk

management system of the Group.

The Internal Control and Management Scheme and the appointment of an
external professional firm were both approved by the Board on 27 March
2017.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events

or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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The Company appointed Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited ("Grant
Thornton”] as the external auditors for the year ended 31 December 2017. A
statement by Grant Thornton about their reporting responsibilities for the
financial statements is included in the Independent Auditors’ Report on
pages 103 to 109 of this annual report.

The remuneration paid/payable to Grant Thornton in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2017
amounted to RMB460,000 and RMB1,122,000 respectively. The non-audit
services mainly include the review of the interim financial statements of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, a review of the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control system which covers the
aspects of the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control system and management procedure, was conducted by our
Internal Control Department. Such review is conducted on an annual basis.
The Board considered the risk management and internal control system of
the Company to be effective and the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions are adequate.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

We have established internal control policies and risk management systems
covering our internal control environment, risk assessment, information

and communication, monitoring, anti-cheating programs, revenue and

receivables, purchase and payables, information security and intellectual

property rights, financial management, financial reports, fixed and

intangible assets, human resources, taxation, investment, legal

management and research and development. We have also established the
Risk Management Committee on the Board to oversee the Group's risk

management, risk tolerance and governance.
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To manage the risks regarding inside information, we have adopted the
Model Code as the Company's own code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all members of the Board complied
with the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2017. Senior
management, executives and staff who, because of their offices in the
Company are likely to possess inside information, have also been requested
to comply with the Model Code for securities transactions. No incident of
non-compliance with the Model Code by such employees was noted by the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company has adopted the
following positive measures in compliance with the internal control policies

and risk management systems:

. to review and approve the Internal Control and Management Scheme

prepared by the Internal Control Department of the Company;

. to optimize the Company's management system and relevant
procedures; and

. to adopt advanced office automation system for optimizing the

Company’s management control system.

During the year, the Internal Audit department (the “IA Department’] has
performed internal audit and reviewed the internal control system of the
Group to ensure the effectiveness of internal control procedures and strict
compliance with different standards and policies across different
businesses and operations of the Group. Specifically, the IA Department
audited and evaluated the Group's internal control operations and
management activities, and formulated a report on internal audit for the
Company in December 2017, which illustrated its findings and advices. The
report was approved by the Risk Management Committee on 27 March
2018.

The Directors are of the view that we have established procedures, systems
and controls that provide a reasonable basis to make a proper assessment

of the financial conditions and prospects of the Group on an ongoing basis.

Ms. Li Jin, the joint company secretary of the Company, is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that
Board policy and procedures, and applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed.

Annual Report 2017
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In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance with
the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company also
engages Ms. Ng Sau Mei, a senior manager of TMF Hong Kong Limited (a
company secretarial services provider), as the joint company secretary to
assist Ms. Li Jin in discharging the duties of a company secretary of the
Company. Her primary contact person at the Company is Ms. Li Jin, the

General Counsel and joint company secretary of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Ms. Li Jin and Ms. Ng Sau Mei
have undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene extraordinary general meetings. General
meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any two or
more Shareholders deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office,
the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the

Company.

General meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of a
Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s))
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the
event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company

which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further
21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board and Contact
Details

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company
will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to

the following:

Address: 17/F, Tower B Fairmont, No. 1 Building, 33# Community,
Guangshun North Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing
For the attention of the Board of Directors

Fax: +86 10 8472 5350

Email: ir@ourgame.com

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group's business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to
maintain an ongoing dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the forthcoming
annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will

be available to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company did not make any
significant changes to its constitutional documents. The latest version of the
Company’'s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Annual Report 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIREEIRS

Grant Thornton
2 [=]

To the members of Ourgame International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability]

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ourgame
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”] set out on pages 110 to 272, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”] and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing ("ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows: HMEFHEENBEREFETESM AT
Impairment assessment of goodwill and other WERNBAIEENTEREM
intangible assets arising from the acquisition of BREENREND

subsidiaries

Refer to notes 2.6, 2.7, 3.1(f], 12, 13 and 31(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

EEMERERWEE2.62.73.1(f) 12 13 %31(a) ©

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

HRESBE BMESPUOAEEEEEE

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has: Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
included:

— goodwill of RMB94,834,000 and other intangible

assets of RMB184,365,000 arising from the — Reviewing the cash flow forecast of the CGUs from the
acquisition of the Peerless Group in 2015; and management.
— goodwill of RMB34,409,000 arising from the —  Assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions
acquisition of Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji Technology lincluding operating margins, terminal growth rates and
Co., Limited ("Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji") in 2017. discount rates) based on our knowledge of the business
and industry and taking into account of the accuracy of
The Group’s assessment of impairment of the goodwill and previous forecasts and historical information.
other intangible assets requires estimate of the cash flow
forecasts associated with the cash generating units — Testing the management’s sensitivity calculations by
("CGUs"). applying our own sensitivity analysis to the cash flows
forecast, long-term growth rates and discount rates to
We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill and ascertain the extent to which reasonable adverse
other intangible assets arising from the acquisitions as key changes would, either individually or in aggregate
audit matter because of their significance to the require an impairment of either the goodwill or other
consolidated financial statements and the level of intangible assets.

subjectivity associated with the assumption used in
estimating the value-in-use of the CGUs, including cash
flows forecast, growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows and the rate at which they are discounted.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

Provision for impairment of trade receivables B S R IGRIE R B &R

Refer to notes 2.8, 3.1(b) and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

RARB SR ERME2.8 - 3.1(b) & 18 °
Key Audit Matter
BREEFEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMEFPUFAEEEREER

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had trade receivables
amounting to RMB205,223,000. The Group determines the
provision for impairment of trade receivables based on the
credit history of the customers and the current market
condition.

We identified the provision for impairment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter due to its significance to
the consolidated financial statements and considerable
amount of judgement and estimation being required in the
assessment.

WZE—+tF+-_A=+—H EEEHBEHENK
FIEARM205223,000t e EEEREREFPHNERE
SREFNTRAEEE S RBFIERERE -

BRZAAKE S BRBFIREBERBIIFERETS
B RAREEGEAVBRENEZMEURFTEEF
ity 7 VB R 2 4 T A0 AT

Our procedures in relation to the provision for impairment
included:

—  Assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policy
of the provision for impairment based on historical cash
collections, credits and write off information.

— Reviewing the ageing of the trade receivables and
evaluating the management’'s judgements on
recoverability, taking into account of the credit history of
the customers, accessible public information on
liquidations and insolvencies, and subsequent

settlement after the reporting period.

— Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the
provision in accordance with the Group’'s accounting
policies on impairment.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2017 annual report of the
Company, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs
issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors assisted by the audit committee are responsible for

overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

From the matters communicated the audit committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 12

28 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

27 March 2018

Lin Ching Yee Daniel
Practising Certificate No.: P02771
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
moBmREMNEZE NG R

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 HEZE=ZZFT—+tF + A=+ —HILFE

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B & ARET T ARETT

Revenue A 4 617,025 871,148
Cost of revenue LN N (287,972) (409,197
Gross profit E 329,053 461,951
Other income g 5 51,078 84,964
Selling and marketing expenses HERTHHEREER (196,684) (181,571)
Administrative expenses THAX (149,457) (135,613)
Share-based compensation expense AR BERO <X 27 (24,929) (42,746)
Research and development expenses s R (38,328) (39,983)
Finance costs B 75 B AR 6 (2,775) —
Share of losses of associates JFE AL B 2 N BB 1B 15 (4,554) (503)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BrFTE B AT (BEB),FIE (36,596) 146,499
Income tax expense FTi5 R 7 (6,360) (7,123)
(Loss)/Profit for the year FE(EHESER) FHB 6 (42,956) 139,376

Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hit2mE(EFR),WE
Item that may be subsequently reclassified HEAJgEEM DB EEEH
to profit or loss: HA
Currency translation differences BEBHmEEE (4,377) 17,030

Total comprehensive (loss)/income FEXEGER) WEHEHE
for the year (47,333) 156,406

(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to: LA T FE/GFE (F#E),

FI3E
Equity holders of the Company ZN/NSSIE SRS SN (23,996) 148,669
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE = (18,960) (9,293)
(42,956) 139,376
Total comprehensive (loss)/income NTEEFEEZE
for the year attributable to: (B18) WM :
Equity holders of the Company ZAYNEIE: £ SES DN (28,708) 165,668
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR HE & (18,625) (9,262)
(47,333) 156,406
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)
REBRBREMETENER ()

Fortheyear ended 31 December2017 HZE T —+t&+-_A=+—BIFE

2017 2016
—®—tF CZF-AE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B & ARET T AR¥ETT

(Loss)/Earnings per share attributable to 74~ 2 B REZH 585 A EG

equity holders of the Company BR(EER) &F

(expressed in RMB cents per share) (AEBERAREDS|IR)

Basic BN 9 (3.04) 18.89
Diluted 8 9 (3.04) 17.98

The notes on pages 118 to 272 form part of these consolidated financial HF118E212E M X BX SR A M5 HE — B

statements. e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e BRRE

Asat31December2017 R=—ZE—+E+-_A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M = AR%ET ARET T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHERE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W R k& 11 90,533 61,564
Intangible assets wmREE 12 326,846 315,857
Goodwill EES 13 129,443 104,050
Available-for-sale financial assets AMHEemEE 19 154,344 110,759
Interests in associates REEE N A AR 15 102,915 75,894
Loan to an associate BMTIBERAZER 18(c) 21,979 —
Loans to third parties BFE=FZ2ER 16 14,430 52,576
Other non-current receivable E  FE 7 B B U R TE 22 256 13,759
Deferred tax assets BIETRIBE E 24 1,726 1,726
842,472 736,185
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 17 1,235 1,248
Trade and other receivables B 5 RHEMERE 18 402,400 311,065
Loans to associates BTBERNRZER 18(c) 7,132 —
Loans to third parties BTE=HAZEX 16 58,735 1,500
Current portion of other non-current Hh 3E 7 Bh B W R IE 2
receivable BN EA 28 5 22 38,872 25,285
Available-for-sale financial assets At ESmEE 19 20,000 70,000
Bank balances and cash RITESRER S 20 247,366 283,598
775,740 692,696
Current liabilities RBAEE
Trade and other payables B 5 N H b s 21 90,846 94,450
Current portion of other non-current H fth JE 7R ) & 1 5 2 BN ER
payable i) 22 38,872 25,285
Deferred revenue PEFE A 23 18,852 21,734
Income tax liabilities FiEHaE 9,675 13,029
158,245 154,498
Net current assets RBEEFE 617,495 538,198
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBAR 1,459,967 1,274,383
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Other non-current payable H b IEm B R IR 22 256 13,759
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIE A & 24 4,181 6,078
4,437 19,837
Net assets EEFRE 1,455,530 1,254,546
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
e BERRE (B)

Asat31December2017 R—ZE—+E+_-_A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B & ARET T AR¥ETT

EQUITY i
Share capital LN 25 285 240
Reserves 1 26 1,444,971 1,234,198

Equity attributable to equity holders of RABIEREE AEGER

the Company 1,445,256 1,234,438
Non-controlling interests SRR R b 10,274 20,108
Total equity ERBE 1,455,530 1,254,546

Yang Eric Qing Ng Kwok Leung Frank
BE =7k
Director Director
BF BE

The notes on pages 118 to 272 form part of these consolidated financial S 118E2MNEM T AXEHRA M ERE — 5B
statements. e
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mMOERBER

Fortheyear ended 31 December 2017 & ZE ==

—tFFT_A=T—HIEFE

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

KAAERBE AERER
Non-

Share Share Statutory ~ Translation  Share option Other Retained controlling Total
capital premium Reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Sub-total interests equity
RA  BROHEE AERE HREERE BRERE HoRE  REEN it EERER E 3
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL ARBTT ARBTRL ARETT ARMTRT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2016 RZB-RE-A-H2
&8 240 574,723 32,508 14,194 65,541 103,812 228,980 1,019,998 7269 1,027,267

Total comprehensive income/ £ E 2 W/ (18)

(loss] for the year ag
Profit/[Loss) for the year FEHNE/(BE) - - - - - - 148,669 148,669 9.299) 139,376
Other comprehensive income ~ FEE 2 AN E

for the year
Currency translation differences ¥ #HE £ - - - 16999 - - - 16999 31 17,030

- - - 16,999 - - 148,669 165,668 9,262) 156,406
Transactions with owners BREARS
Share-based compensation MR ARBHEE

[Note 27(e)) (PI3E270e)) - - - - 41,069 1,697 - 42,746 - 42,746
Exercise of share options iR mRE

(Notes 2511l & 27) (B & 25(i) & 27) - 1,216 - - (257) - - 959 - 959
Transfer upon forfeiture of KRR ER S

share options - - - - (561) 67) 628 - - -
Share repurchased and BERTHE RN

cancelled (Notes 25(1) B0 - [1278) - - - - - (1,278) - (1278)
Appropriation to statutory AREETEREE

reserve - - 5,448 - - - (5.448) - - -
Capital contribution from FERRRLEE

non-controlling

shareholders - - - - - - - - 15,000 15,000
Deemed acquisition of BIEREEERES

non-controlling interests - - - - - (1272) - (1272) 1272 -
Disposal of partialinterestin ARG X EHEBRT

subsidiaries without losing HEMBARSNER

control [Note 32(d]) (3% 320d)) - - - - - 7617 - 7617 5283 12,900
Disposal of non-controlling BRALENBRARZ

interest relating to a FRRER

subsidiary disposed of (B3 320c))

[Note 32(c)) - - - - - - - - 546 546
Total transactions with owners BHEAR 54 E - (62) 5,448 - 40,231 7,975 (4,820) 48,71 22,101 70,873
Balance at 31 December 2016 R=Z-R%E

+=B=t+-BzE&H 240 574,661 37,956 31,193 105,772 111,787 372829 1,234,438 20,108 1,254,546

Ourgame International Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
RECERBBHR (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
AAAREREAREER

Shares
held under
the Share Non-
Share Share Statutory ~ Translation Share option Other Award Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Scheme earnings Sub-total interests equity
RERH
®E:E
Ba  RGEE EERE RERE BRERE  HRRE kARG REEF Mt FRRER Bz
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARWTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%TR ARETx

Balanceat1January2017  M=F-t%
-A-Be&s 240 574,661 37,956 31,193 105,772 111,787 - 372,829 1,234,438 20,108 1,254,546

Total comprehensive income/ EE2ENK#E/(HE)

(Loss] for the year 8%
Loss for the year ﬁ,@&ﬂé = = = ] - - - |23.996) [23,996] “8,%"' [42,956]
Other comprehensiveincome & 2 Bz

for the year
Currency translation differences S 48 % 5 - - - (6,12) - - - - (6,712) 335 (4,377)

= = = (4,712) = = = (23,996) (28,708) (18,625) (47,333)

Transactions withowners ~ EEHAR S
Share-based compensation IR {3 BEBEE M2 (1

(Note 27le] $270e)) - = = - = - - -
Exercise of share options 176 B BRI (3t 2500

Note 25(ii] & Note 27) HizE27) - 405 - - 91) = = = 34 - 314
Issuance of Convertibles Notes 1T/ AR Z 1%

(Note 35) (Hr35) = = = = = 695 - - 695 - 695
Conversion of Convertibles BrsREREs Ak

Notes into shares 1 (B = 250 R B 7

[Note 25]iil] & Note 35) 35) 2 104,249 - = = (695) = = 103,576 - 103,576
Issuance of shares (Note 25(iv)]  Z 7R 17 (B 3% 25(iv)) 2 110,503 - - - - - - 110,526 - 110,526
Transfer upon forfeiture of RN RERER

share options - - = = (1,502) - - 1,502 - - =
Appropriation to statutory AREEERER

reserve - = 69 = - = - (69) - - -
Capital injection from FERERTIE

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - 7,500 7,500
Deregistration of a subsidiary 8 — B A - - - - - - - - - (90) (90)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HHEAR

(Note 32la] GER) - = = = = = = - - 1,381 1,381
Purchase of shares for Share St 17 R EIGHEIEE B IR

Award Scheme [Note 270d) 43 (B 5 271d) - = = = = = (614) - (514) - (514
Total transactions with owners EEH AR Z A 45 215,157 69 - 23,336 - (514) 1,433 239,526 8,791 268,317

Balance at 31 December 2017 R=F-t#
TZA=t-B2
33 285 789,818 38,025 26,681 129,108 111,787 (514) 350,266 1,445,256 10,274 1,455,530

The notes on pages 118 to 272 form part of these consolidated financial S 118E2MNEM T AXEHRA M ERE — 5B
statements. e
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

moREMER

Fortheyear ended 31 December 2017 & ZE ==

—tFtA=t—BLFE

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
Notes RMB’000 RMB 000
B 5k ARBT T ARBTT
Cash flows from operating activities KRG TEMEB2HETRE
(Loss)/Profit before income tax B AT 1S Bl Al (&5 98 )/ F)H (36,596) 146,499
Adjustments for: BADNRIEIE R
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEMEBEITE
equipment R 31,680 25,077
Amortisation of intangible assets mLEEEH 116,578 73,623
Interest expense MERX 2,775 —
Bank interest income R 17 ALE WA (2,746) (6,927)
Interest income from loans to third parties % ¥ % = 75 2 B Z Fl B W A (5,305) (5,128
Interest income form loans to associates %5 T B & 2 8] 2 B 37 B A (326) —
Impairment loss on trade receivables 5 EWR AR EEE — 7,244
Provision for impairment of interest R—Ea A rER
in an associate BB = 4,227
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEYX  BER
and equipment 518 W a (267) (25)
Loss/[Gain] on disposal of subsidiaries S A A E R (W) 1,530 (4,541)
Gain on disposal of intangible assets HEREEE R S (2,320) —
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEAHLESREEZ
financial assets Wz (2,000) (53,024)
Gain on disposal/deemed disposal of HE/ BIEHER —RBE
partial interest in an associate NSIE SR a0l o (27,632) (10,349)
Change in fair value of contingent NS ARELAAEY
consideration payable (6,873) —
Share of losses of associates FEAG B & N A 18 4,554 503
Share-based compensation expense AR A EER e e R X 24,929 42,746
Operating profit before working capital EEEREEA CLENE
changes 97,981 219,925
Decrease in inventories FER > 1" 443
Increase in trade and other receivables & 5 [ H fih JiE Uy 7k T8 38 0 (50,988) (67,265)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 T 5 A 9 2008 12 0 20,969 9,003
Decrease in deferred revenue i E AR (4,565) (7,907)
Cash generated from operations KEEAZRE 63,408 154,199
Interest received E WF & 2,901 10,823
Income tax paid BERPTER (11,413) (19,608)
Net cash from operating activities RETHMEBZRESTE 54,896 145,414
Cash flows from investing activities RETHMBZESRE
Placement of time deposit with maturity  FAZIEIH@BB=EA =~
over three months EHEFER - (200,423)
Withdrawal of time deposit with maturity 32 EZ|HA BB =@ A =
over three months _EHER . — 393,480
Increase in restricted bank balances PRl 3R 17 45 BRI N (52,410) —
Purchase of property, plant and equipment & Z ¥1% - BB K & (62,225) (33,391)
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEDE - BE K&
plant and equipment P55k I8 787 379
Proceeds from disposal of intangible HEEFLEEMBSIIE
assets . 5,775 —
Purchase of intangible assets BEREE (107,732) (39,555)
Addition in development costs through FIBNE G 2 KR
internal development 0 (32,399) (42,064)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash WEEN B AR - IR EEE
acquired H&e 31(a) (35,738) (28,468)
Net cash outflow from disposal of a HE—HMNBARI RS
subsidiary O E R i 32(a) (1,113) (549)
Investments in associates REE N AIRIRE (30,073) (54,845)
Purchase of available-for-sale financial AR HESMEE
assets (74,290) (162,235)
Proceed from disposal of associate o B e N B AT AS R 1,290 -
Proceeds from disposal of available-for- HE/RJHHESREE
sale financial assets FriS A 76,000 117,800
Repayment of loan to a related party BEEEETER = 8217
Addition of loans to associates 4 THEE Al BRIEN (27,179) —
Addition of loans to third parties 4 %%Eﬁzgﬁ(i I (16,890) (6,100
Repayment in loans to third parties BE=HEEEX 1,500 1,642
Payment of contingent consideration JERT S ARREM K
payables (5,960) —
Net cash used in investing activities REZBHMAZRESFE (360,657) (46,112)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
HEeRERER(B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 HE=ZFT—+F + - A=+—HILFE
2017 2016
—E—t#& —E-RF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 AR®T T ARET T
Cash flows from financing activities RMETHREZRERE
Interest paid 21 F & (2,775) -
Proceeds from issuance of shares BITIRMD TS ER 110,526 —
Proceeds from issuance of Convertible BITARREBASRIA
Notes 104,271 —
Proceeds from issuance of shares upon  1T{f B iR #E 12 221708 1D
exercise of share options Ffr 15 ;18 314 959
Payment for repurchase of shares 8 O iR 7 15 3K - (1,278)
Capital contribution from non-controlling  JEYZAZ A% 3 H &
shareholders 7,500 15,000
Proceeds on disposal of partial interests in & Kf B 2 7 5B » # x5
subsidiaries Fr 1S 3k 38 = 12,900
Purchase of shares for Share Award B SEEET BB B AR5
Scheme (514) —
Net cash from financing activities METERE2HESTE 219,322 27,581
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRESZEEYWORD)
cash equivalents B nEEE (86,439) 126,883
Cash and cash equivalents at FHNERSRESZEEY
beginning of year 283,598 155,612
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes E XS BYFEZEHREER
on cash and cash equivalents held ReLEY2TE (2,203) 1,103
Cash and cash equivalents atend ofyear FREERBEEZEY 20 194,956 283,598
The notes on pages 118 to 272 form part of these consolidated financial S 118E272EM X BXEHA MIEHREK —
statements. 73-°
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S BmETMEE

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 HEZE=ZZFT—+tF + A=+ —HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Ourgame International Holdings Limited (the “Company”] was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 December 2013 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (2013
Revision) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company's
registered office is P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 30 June
2014 (the “Listing”].

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”] are principally engaged in the development
and operation of online card and board games, organising and
broadcasting online to offline mind-sports events, tournaments, TV
shows and contents [collectively, the “Online Games Business”)
primarily in the People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC") and the United
States (the “US"). The Group is expanding the eSports, sports
e-commerce business and other non-card-and-board games new

internet businesses (collectively, the “eSports Business”) globally.

The Online Games Business in the PRC is carried out by Beijing
Lianzhong Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Lianzhong”] and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Lianzhong Group”] and the eSports Business is
carried out by Beijing Guangyao Hudong Technology Development
Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Guangyao”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Guangyao Group”).

@;4 Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BERME ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

Pursuant to the applicable PRC laws and regulations, foreign
investors are prohibited from holding equity interest in an entity
conducting online game business and are restricted to conduct value-
added telecommunications services. In order to enable investments
be made into the restricted businesses, the Company established
subsidiaries, Beijing Lianzhong Garden Network Technology Co., Ltd.
("WFOE 17) and Tianjin Lianhzhong Lequ Technology Development
Co., Ltd. ("WFOE 27] (together, the "WFOEs"], which are wholly foreign
owned enterprises incorporated in the PRC. The WFOEs have entered
into a series of contractual arrangements (the “Contractual
Arrangements”) with Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao and
their respective equity holders, which enable the WFOEs and the
Group to:

= exercise effective financial and operational control over Beijing
Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao;

— exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Beijing Lianzhong and
Beijing Guangyao;

— receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao and their
subsidiaries in consideration for the business support, technical
and consulting services provided by WFOEs, at WFOEs’

discretion;

— obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all or part
of equity interest in and/or assets of Beijing Lianzhong and
Beijing Guangyao from the respective equity holders at a
minimum purchase price permitted under the PRC laws and
regulations. WFOEs may exercise such options at any time until
it has acquired all equity interests and/or all assets of Beijing

Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao;

— obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of Beijing
Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao from their respective equity
holders as collateral security for all of Beijing Lianzhong and
Beijing Guangyao’'s payments due to WFOEs and to secure
performance of Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao’'s

obligations under the Contractual Arrangements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

The details of the Contractual Arrangements are set out in the
prospectus issued by the Company dated 18 June 2014 (the
“Prospectus”) and the announcement issued by the Company dated 9
February 2017.

The Group does not have any equity interest in Beijing Lianzhong and
Beijing Guangyao and its subsidiaries. However, as a result of the
Contractual Arrangements, the Group has rights to variable returns
from its involvement with Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over Beijing
Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao and is considered to control Beijing
Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao and hence the Beijing Lianzhong and
Beijing Guangyao Group. Consequently, the Company regards the
Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao Group as consolidated
structured entities under International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs”). The Group has consolidated the financial position and
results of the Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao Group in the
consolidated financial statements.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control
over the Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao Group and
uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could impede the
Group's beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of the
Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao Group. The directors of the
Company, based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with relevant PRC laws

and regulations and are legally enforceable.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 were
approved for issue by the board of directors (the “Board”] on 27 March
2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B MR M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with applicable IFRSs. The
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-
sale financial assets and the contingent consideration payable

which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its jJudgement in the process of applying the accounting policies
of the Group. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are

disclosed in Note 3 below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)

Amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments
to IFRSs, which have become effective for the
accounting period beginning on 1 January 2017 and
relevant to the Group:

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred
Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses
Amendments to IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in
included in Annual Other Entities
Improvements to
IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

The impact of the adoption of the new and amended
IFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to IAS 7 “Disclosure Initiative”

The amendments require an entity to provide
disclosure that enable users of financial statements
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes. A
reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of liabilities arising from financing
activities is set out in Note 36. Consistent with the
transition provisions of the amendments, the Group
has not disclosed comparative information for the
prior year. Apart from the additional disclosure in
Note 36, the application of these amendments has
had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REoMBRITME (B)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(a)

Amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued]
Amendments to IAS 12 “Recognition of Deferred

Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses”

The amendments were issued with the purpose of
addressing the recognition of deferred tax assets
for unrealised losses related to debt instruments
measured at fair value, although they also have a
broader application for other situations. The
amendments clarify that the existence of a
deductible temporary difference depends solely on
a comparison of the carrying amount or expected

manner of recovery of the asset.

The amendments also provide guidance on how an
entity should determine future taxable profits to
support the recognition of a deferred tax asset
arising from a deductible temporary difference.

The application of these amendments has had no
impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements as the Group does not have debt
instruments measured at fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(a)

Amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued]

Amendments to |FRS 12 included in Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle “Disclosure
of Interests in Other Entities”

The amendments to IFRS 12 clarify the scope of
IFRS
requirements (except for the summarised financial

12 by specifying that its disclosure

information for an interests in a subsidiary, a joint
venture or an associate which is classified as held
for sale in accordance with IFRS 5] apply to an
entity’s interests irrespective of whether they are
classified (or included in a disposal group that is
classified] as held for sale or as discontinued
operations in accordance with IFRS 5.

The application of these amendments has had no
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXESEBEREZE @)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 B EE @)
2.1.1Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 2INBEHHRIRB 2B
(Continued) (#8)
[b] New and amended standards and interpretations (b] & K ER A FTET R AL
not yet adopted EIRRIRZE
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated RTABZERE VB ®R
financial statements, certain new and amended XBH BETHIEL
IFRSs have been published but are not yet effective, & =T BB B 75 4 5 42 B
and have not been adopted early by the Group. B 78 T 258 18 R £ K
BAEBY KRR K
4 o
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments' RE A &R SRIA'
E95%
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts R BREEN  REAHUNE KA
with Customers and 155 ZICHES
the related
Amendments'
IFRS 16 Leases’ REi &R RE
2165
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® REBHEEN  RRAL’
RV
Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and RS ER  URODEEBAX
Measurement of F25 (BATK) NRGHAER
Share-based Payment AE
Transactions'
Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial RPRHREER  ERABERPERS
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WEERE LR
K-Sl
Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features RHMBEREEL REEREMR
with Negative F95% (BT R) BRE
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and IAS 28 Assets between an Z10RRBRE LRRAERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXESEHBEREZE @)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 WEBEE @)
2.1.1Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 2INBEHHRIRB 2B
(Continued) (#8)
[b] New and amended standards and interpretations (b] & K ER A FTET B AL
not yet adopted (Continued) EI2RIRZE (&)
Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of Investment RERERENR RENEER
Property’ CHES
IFRIC-Int 22 Foreign Currency BRRERERE IERFRER
Transactions and REE-REENT AE'
Advance

Consideration’

IFRIC-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income BRRBRE2RE MEHEENTRE
Tax Treatments? ZEE-RBERR FI
Amendments to IFRSs  Annual Improvements to BEHBsHREEa  BRHMEREER
IFRSs 2014-2016 CHEN, “T-mEE
Cycle' —E-RFEH
0 E R
Amendments to IFRSs  Annual Improvements to B B B 7 S 5 2 A B Al
IFRSs 2015-2017 CHES) “F-RFEZ
Cycle? T LEEEBN
EEYE’
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 W R=ZF—-—NEFE—A
January 2018 —HB®zERKRZ
FEHRER
? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 : R-_ZTE—NLF—A
January 2019 —Bs%zEMABZ
FEBBER
? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 i R=B=-—%F—#
January 2021 —BRzERBZ
FEHRER
¢ Effective date not yet determined 8 MEETEM AR
The directors anticipate that all of the EEmEE AEFEER
pronouncements will be adopted in the Group's i ABE TS RE
accounting policy for the first period beginning on W BE 4 SR > 14 HI R 4 %
or after the effective date of the pronouncement. SE A NEE Y &
Information on new and amended IFRSs that are =L s o T HAM AN &
expected to have impact on the Group's accounting S B EAETEY
policies is provided below. Other new and amended 72T % 45 {5 =] B R B 7S
IFRSs are not expected to have a material impact 35 4 BI| 4 8 B 5 51 1
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. T o H AT RIS ET

B[ B 7% ¥ 5 £ Rl TR AR
TeHAEEREMB
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)
IFRS 9, “Financial instruments”

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement”. It makes major
changes to the previous guidance on the
classification and measurement of financial assets
and introduces an “expected credit loss” model for

the impairment of financial assets.

IFRS 9 also contains new requirements on the
application of hedge accounting. The new
requirements look to align hedge accounting more
closely with entities’ risk management activities by
increasing the eligibility of both hedged items and
hedging instruments and introducing a more
principles-based approach to assessing hedge

effectiveness.

The directors have identified the following areas
that are expected to be most impacted by the
application of IFRS 9:

o the classification and measurement of the
Group’s financial assets. The Group holds
financial assets to hold and collect the
associated cash flows and is currently
assessing the underlying types of cash flows
to classify financial assets correctly. The
directors expect a number of available-for-
sale ("AFS”) investments and other financial
assets are likely to be measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXEFHHRME @)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 MEEE @)
2.1.1Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 2INBEHHRIRB 2B
(Continued) (#&)
[b] New and amended standards and interpretations (b] & K ER A FTET B AL
not yet adopted (Continued) EI2RIRZE (&)
IFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued) B BR B 7 #R A E R 9
HE2HBITA(E)
. the impairment of financial assets applying . EREBHEEB
the expected credit loss model. This will ERAZzE&®mE
apply to the Group's trade receivables. For EZRE- &8
trade receivables, the Group applies a HRARAEE®
simplified model of recognising lifetime 2 5’ W RIE-
expected credit losses as these items do not BE S EWHRIE
have a significant financing components. mes' AEEH
AR #ER
RERHPEER

B Z2FE%%FRE
B EEARE
B e

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BERME ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)
IFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers”

IFRS 15 and the related clarification to IFRS 15
(hereinafter referred to as “IFRS 157) presents new
requirements for the recognition of revenue,
replacing IAS 18 “Revenue”, IAS 11 “Construction
Contracts”, and several revenue-related
Interpretations. IFRS 15 establishes a single
comprehensive model that applies to contracts with
customers and two approaches to recognising
revenue; at a point in time or overtime. The model
features a contract-based five-step analysis of
transactions to determine whether, how much and

when revenue is recognised.

Based on the preliminary assessment, the Group
has identified the following areas which are
expected to be affected:

(a)  Timing of revenue recognition

The Group’s revenue recognition policies are
disclosed in Note 2.15. Currently, revenue
arising from provision of services is
recognised over time, whereas revenue from
sale of goods [such as in-game virtual goods)
is generally recognised when the risks and
rewards of ownership have passed to the
customers.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
[b)  New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)
IFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers”
(Continued]
{a)  Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised when
customer obtains control of the promised
goods or service in the contract. IFRS 15
identifies 3 situations in which control of the
promised goods or service is regarded as
being transferred over time:

(il When the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the entity’'s performance,

as the entity performs;

(i) When the entity’s performance creates
or enhances an asset (for example
work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or
enhanced;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
[b)  New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)
IFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers”
(Continued]
{a)  Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)  When the entity’s performance does
not create an asset with an alternative
use to the entity and the entity has an
enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities
do not fall into any of these 3 situations, then
under [FRS 15 the entity recognises revenue
for the sale of that good or service at a single
point in time, being when control has passed.
Transfer of risks and rewards of ownership is
only one of the indicators that will be
considered in determining when transfer of
control occurs.

The Group has assessed that the new
revenue standard is not likely to have
significant impact on how it recognises
revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
[b)  New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)
IFRS 16, “Leases”

IFRS 16 “Leases” will replace IAS 17 and three
related Interpretations.

As disclosed in Note 2.12, currently the Group
classifies leases into finance leases and operating
leases and accounts for the lease arrangements
differently, depending on the classification of the
lease. The Group mainly enters into leases as the
lessee.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)
IFRS 16, “Leases” [Continued)

IFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on
the way that lessors account for their rights and
obligations under a lease. However, once IFRS 16 is
adopted, lessees will no longer distinguish between
finance leases and operating leases. Instead,
subject to practical expedients, lessees will account
for all leases in a similar way to current finance
lease accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of
the lease, the lessee will recognise a corresponding
“right-of-use” asset. After initial recognition of this
asset and liability, the lessee would recognise
interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation
of the right-of-use asset, instead of the current
policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a systematic basis over
the lease term. As a practical expedient, the lessee
can elect not to apply this accounting model to
short-term leases (i.e. where the lease term is 12
months or less) and to leases of low-value assets,
in which case the rental expenses would continue
to be recognised on a systematic basis over the
lease term.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)
IFRS 16, “Leases” [Continued)

[FRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting
as a lessee of leases of land and buildings and
other assets which are currently classified as
operating leases. The application of the new
accounting model is expected to lead to an increase
in both assets and liabilities and to impact on the
in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss over the

timing of the expense recognition

period of the lease. As disclosed in Note 29(b), as at
31 December 2017, the Group's future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases amount to RMB106,317,000 for servers,
lines, offices and various land and buildings, the
majority of which is payable either between one and
five years after the reporting date or in more than
five years. Some of these amounts may therefore
need to be recognised as lease liabilities, with
corresponding right-of-use assets, once IFRS 16 is
adopted. The Group will need to perform a more
detailed analysis to determine the amounts of new
assets and liabilities arising from operating lease
commitments on adoption of IFRS 16, after taking
into account the applicability of the practical
expedient and adjusting for any leases entered into
or terminated between now and the adoption of
IFRS 16 and the effects of discounting.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BERME ()
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)
IFRS 16, “Leases” [Continued)

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2019. The standard offers
different transition options and practical expedients,
including the practical expedient to grandfather the
previous assessment of which existing
arrangements are, or contain, leases. If this
practical expedient is chosen, the Group will apply
the new definition of a lease in IFRS 16 only to
contracts that are entered into on or after the date
of initial application. If the practical expedient is not
chosen, the Group will need to reassess all of its
decisions about which existing contracts are, or
contain, leases, using the new definition. Depending
on whether the Group elects to adopt IFRS 16
retrospectively or follow a modified retrospective
method of recognising a cumulative-effect
adjustment to the opening balance of equity at the
date of initial application, the Group may or may not
need to restate comparative information for any
changes in accounting resulting from the

reassessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December each year.

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls the
entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

(il Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to
account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either at fair value or the present ownership
interest’s proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by [FRSs.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

2.

e ELNEERC )

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’'s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement

are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as
a change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement

is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount of non-controlling interest over the net
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If this consideration is lower than the fair value of
the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

—tFT_A=1T—HLFE

2.

REETBERBIE (@)

2.2 SHEXE @)

(a)

BRERZERETRAY

BT (&)

il EHESH (&)
U 5 AR BE AR AN E A
5|57

EXEBAMOERET
B BB R R A
B 17 I BB 7 B AN R TR
WEEAMERmEEE
MAEAKRBRYNA
nE REHMAEEL
AT d S S 1R O
HEPHER -

AN B G B E A
ARERUYE A BEA
NEER WRAE A
BEIBENIARE

NRBEREZS ik
BB B B% & 51 ZE Al 38 39557

WRE  BRAEmL
Hih2Emb =g o
HAERNIARER
/,\E*ﬁu-l—i ! ﬁlﬁ/ﬁ\{é
HRE=mA

BEDREENARE
N B 6 A] Rl A
B SE 42 R A 28 & R K
EMAREZHENEZED
FHE - EZREER
Fﬁﬂﬁ(,ﬂ%[ﬂﬁ% 77#)#5,&\
FEEMOARE AE
%EETREATE SRS
EAEL

EEARRHERS 4
HBEARERBREE -
B AR S BERE
WE RSB AR EE AR
B £ B R BR —
B o

R tEER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B M & (18)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

—tFT_A=1T—HLFE

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

liii)

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with
the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as
owners. The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired
of the carrying values of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals
to non-controlling interests are also recorded in
equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

@;4 Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

SXREEHREE @

2.2 SHEXE @)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(b) Separate financial statements
In the Company’'s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss.
Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration
arising from contingent consideration amendments. Cost
also includes direct attributable costs of investment. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable at the
reporting date. All dividends whether received out of the
investee’s pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised

in the Company’s profit or loss.

2.3 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounting for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s investments in associates include goodwill identified on
acquisition. Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount of
non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower
than the fair value of the net assets of the associate acquired,
the difference is recognised in profit or loss. The goodwill is
included within the carrying amount of the investment and is
assessed for impairment as part of the investment.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive

income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

REETBERBE (@)

2.3 Associates (Continued) 2.3 BE QT @\

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at
the date when significant influence is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or losses is
recognised in profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in
other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s
share of loss in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further loss, unless it is incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of

the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises as
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’'s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by

the Group.

Diluted gains and losses arising in investments in associates
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial
position;

J income and expenses for each statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and

expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of

the transactions); and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

SXREEBREE @

2.4 NSRS (@)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies (Continued)
o all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustment arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate. Currency translation differences arising are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Cost includes
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of

the asset.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less their residual

values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line

method, as follows:

Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining term of the
lease and the estimated useful
lives of the assets

Computer equipment 3-5years

Furniture and office 3-5years
equipment

Motor vehicle 5 years

Construction in progress is stated at historical cost less
impairment loss. Cost includes expenditures that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the assets. No depreciation is
provided for in respect of construction in progress until it is

completed and ready for its intended use.

The asset’'s residual values, depreciation methods and useful
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BERME ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

P

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as separate assets, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be

measured reliably.

The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are charged to
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are

incurred.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified assets and labilities
acquired. Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units and is tested annually for impairment (see Note 2.18).
Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and
losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount

of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and
research and development activities

(a] Computer software
Acquired computer software are capitalised on the basis
of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised over the
shorter of their license periods or estimated useful lives
(ranged from 1 to 5 years), and recorded as amortisation
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXSEHBRME @)
POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and 27 BILEE (BERIN) R#A
research and development activities (Continued) %8 8 (@)
(b) Game intellectual properties, trademark and b) BERNIBEE BEER

licenses

Game intellectual properties, trademark and licenses are
initially recorded at cost and include internally generated
intangible assets [i.e. capitalised development costs as
detailed in Note 2.7(c) below) that are available for use.
These intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of their license periods or estimate

useful lives (ranged from 2 to 10 years).

(c) Research and development costs (c)
Costs associated with research activities are expensed in
profit or loss as they occur. Costs that are directly
attributable to development activities (relating to the
design and testing of new or improved game products)
are recognised as intangible assets provided they meet
the following recognition requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the
prospective product for internal use or sale;
(i) there is intention to complete the intangible asset

and use or sell it;

(i) the Group’'s ability to use or sell the intangible

asset is demonstrated;

(iv] the intangible asset will generate probable
economic benefits through internal use or sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other resources

are available for completion; and

(vi)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
can be reliably measured.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and
research and development activities (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Research and development costs (Continued)

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on
development activities. The costs of development of
internally generated software, products or knowhow that
meet the above recognition criteria are recognised as
intangible assets. Development costs previously
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset
in a subsequent period. Capitalised development costs
are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the
point at which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line

basis over its useful lives.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.

Brand name and unfinished contracts

Brand name and unfinished contracts acquired in a
business combination and recognised separately from
goodwill are initially recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as their costs).
Subsequent to initial recognition, these intangible assets
are amortised over the estimated useful lives or contract
period (ranged from 1 to 10 years).

Programmes and film rights

Programmes and film rights include assets acquired in a
business combination and recognised separately from
goodwill and are initially recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as their costs). It also
includes internally generated programmes and film
rights. These intangible assets are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of their license
periods or estimate useful lives (ranged from 5 to 6

years).

Customer relationships

Customer relationships are recognised are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. The customer
relationships have a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over the

expected life of the customer relationships of 5 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

SXREEBREE @

28 TRIEE

2.8 Financial assets

The Group’s accounting policies for financial assets other than
investments in subsidiaries and associates are set out below.
Financial assets of the Group are classified into loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.
Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition depending on the purpose for which
the financial assets were acquired and where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at every reporting
date.

All financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Regular way purchases of financial assets are
recognised on trade date (the date on which the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset). When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the
case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss,

directly attributable transaction costs.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments expire or are
transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of

ownership have been transferred.

At each reporting date, financial assets are reviewed to assess
whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such
evidence exists, an impairment loss is determined and
recognised based on the classification of the financial asset.

(a) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the
reporting date, which are classified as non-current
assets. Loans and receivables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part

of the effective interest rate and transaction cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B2 75 3R TR B 5 (#8)
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Non-derivative financial assets that do not qualify for
inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets
are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. They
are included in non-current assets unless the investment
matures or management intends to dispose of it within 12
months after the reporting date.

All financial assets within this category are subsequently
measured at fair value. Gain or loss arising from a change
in the fair value excluding any dividend and interest
income is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in the revaluation reserve in
equity, except for impairment losses [(see the policy
below) and foreign exchange gains and losses on
monetary assets, until the financial asset is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss. Interest calculated using the

effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at
cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of
each reporting date subsequent to initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets
At each reporting date, financial assets other than at fair
value through profit or loss are reviewed to determine

whether there is any objective evidence of impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)]

Objective evidence of impairment of individual financial
assets includes observable data that comes to the
attention of the Group about one or more of the following

loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or

delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

—  significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor;

—  the disappearance of an active market for that

financial asset because of financial difficulties; and

—  a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an investment in an equity instrument below its
cost.

Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets
include observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows
from the group of financial assets. Such observable data
includes but not limited to adverse changes in the
payment status of debtors in the Group and, national or
local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on

the assets in the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued
Impairment of financial assets (continued)]

If any such evidence exists, an impairment loss is

measured and recognised as follows:

(a)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment
loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised
cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows [(excluding future credit losses
that have not been incurred) discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate [i.e.
the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). The amount of the loss is recognised
in profit or loss of the period in which the
impairment occurs.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the
extent that it does not result in a carrying amount
of the financial asset exceeding what the amortised
cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised at the date the impairment is reversed.
The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit

or loss of the period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

SXREEBREE @

28 TRIEE @

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued) (b) THHBHENEREE (&)
Impairment of financial assets [continued) T R B ZE Bl E ()
[b) _ Available-for-sale financial assets b AHHEZHEE

When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-
sale financial asset has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
and there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired, an amount is removed from equity and
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment loss.
That amount is measured as the difference between

the asset’'s acquisition cost [net of any principal

EUHLEEREER
ARERLTEREME
T R 8 P T 8 e TR P A
Rt REFBERR
T BEEHBRBER
HeBTERETB
B X RIB s R R
MERBE - Z e RIRZ

repayment and amortisation] and current fair value, & E IR R AR (30 BR
less any impairment loss on that asset previously FRAEERREHE)
recognised in profit or loss. HIEF R ENERE

Reversals in respect of investment in equity
instruments classified as available-for-sale and
stated at fair value are not recognised in the profit
or loss. The subsequent increase in fair value is
recognised in other comprehensive income.
Impairment losses in respect of debt securities are
reversed if the subsequent increase in fair value
can be objectively related to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised. Reversal
of impairment losses in such circumstances are

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

2.9

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)]
[c] _ Financial assets carried at cost

The amount of impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial asset and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent

periods.

Impairment losses on financial assets other than trade
and other receivables that are stated at amortised cost
are written off against the corresponding assets directly.
Where the recovery of trade and other receivables is
considered doubtful but not remote, the impairment
losses for doubtful receivables are recorded using an
allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that
recovery of trade and other receivables is remote, the
amount considered irrecoverable is written off against
trade and other receivables directly and any amounts
held in the allowance account in respect of that receivable
are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account are reversed
against the allowance account. Other changes in the
allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in profit or
loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out ("FIFQ”)
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling

expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and

which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.11 Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities included trade and other
payables and other non-current payable. Financial liabilities are
recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All interest related charges are
expensed when incurred. A financial liability is derecognised
when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires.

Trade and other payables (other than contingent consideration
payables) are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Contingent consideration payables are recognised at fair value

at the acquisition date. Subsequent charges to the fair value of
the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Leases (Continued)

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of

transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines that

the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or

assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a

series of payments. Such a determination is made based on an

evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is

regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of

a lease.

(a)

(b)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under
finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are

classified as operating leases.

Operating lease charges as the lessee

Where the Group has the right to use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the time pattern of benefits to be

derived from the leased assets.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

SXREEBREE @

21381k ARBERARE

2.13 Provisions, contingent liabilities and

contingent assets

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the
amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of
the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted

to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain
events not wholly within the control of the Group, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination which
are present obligations at the date of acquisition are initially
recognised at fair value, provided the fair value can be reliably
measured. After the initial recognition at fair value, such
contingent liabilities are recognised at the higher of the amount
initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation where
appropriate, and the amount that would be recognised in a
comparable provision as described above. Contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination that cannot be reliably fair
valued or were not present obligations at the date of acquisition
are disclosed as per above.

Probable inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not
yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered

contingent assets.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)
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2.14Share capital 214

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have been
issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are
deducted from share premium (net of any related income tax
benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs directly
attributable to the equity transaction.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Share awards granted under share award scheme are satisfied
by shares acquired by the trustee from the market. Where the
Company’s shares are acquired from the market by the trustee
under the share award scheme, the total consideration of
shares acquired from the market (including any directly
attributable incremental costs) is presented as “shares held
under share award scheme” and deducted from total equity.
Upon vesting, the related costs of the vested shares for share
award scheme purchased from the market are credited to

“shares held under share award scheme”.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

SXREEBREE @

2. 15 W\ & 5%

2.15Revenue recognition

The Group is engaged in the development and operation of
online card and board games that consist of PC and mobile
games. Our games include self-developed games, licensed
games and third-party operated games. The Group also

organise and/or hosts online/offline tournaments.

The Group's revenue is principally derived from the sale of in-
game virtual goods. Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods, net of
related surcharges and discounts. Substantially all of the
Group’'s games are free to play and players can pay for virtual
goods for better in-game experience. Players purchase our
virtual currencies for PC games or mobile games (collectively,
the “Virtual Currencies”), through third-party payment channels
or the purchase of pre-paid game cards. The Virtual Currencies
can be used to exchange for virtual goods such as personalised
avatars and membership plans. Paying players usually
exchange their Virtual Currencies for the virtual goods shortly
after purchase. Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if
applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised as
follows:

(a) PC games
Self-developed games and licensed games

The Group has integrated online game platforms with
multiple distribution channels. The Group distributes
locally installed PC games and provides services through
our proprietary PC client portals, such as Ourgame Hall.
The Group also offers web games playable on web pages
served by the Group on ourgame.com, wpt.com and by
third-party distribution channels, which include websites
and web-based portals such as Baidu, Sina Weibo and
Qihoo 360.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

PC games (Continued)
Self-developed games and licensed games (Continued)

For self-developed games and licensed games, the Group
is responsible for hosting the games, providing on-going
updates of new contents, technical support for the
operations of the games, as well as preventing, detecting
and resolving in-game cheating and hacking activities.
Third-party distribution and payment channels are
responsible for distribution, marketing, platform
maintenance, payer authentication and payment

collections related to the games.

Third-party distribution channels and payment channels
collect the payments from the paying players and remit
the cash to the Group, net of commission charges which
are pre-determined according to the relevant terms of
the agreements entered into between the Group and the
third-party distribution or payment channels.

Upon the sales of Virtual Currencies, the Group typically
has an implied obligation to provide the services which
enable the virtual goods exchanged with the Virtual
Currencies to be displayed or used in the games. As a
result, the proceeds received from sales of Virtual
Currencies are recorded as deferred revenue. With the
pre-paid game cards, paying players can credit their user
accounts with virtual currencies and exchange for virtual
goods in the same way. Proceeds received from the sale
of pre-paid game cards are recorded as deferred
revenue. The attributable portion of the deferred revenue
relating to values of the virtual goods consumed are
immediately or ratably recognised as revenue only when
the services are rendered to the respective paying

players.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

SXREEBREE @

2. 15 WA\ 8 58 ()

2.15Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) PC games (Continued) (a) PCER (&)
Self-developed games and licensed games [Continued) B F 53098 B R fF 5T
B ()

RETERBBNEITRIEMR
RBEOER AEECEE
NFFIA -

For the purposes of determining when services have been
provided to the respective paying players, the Group has

determined the following:

Consumable virtual goods represent items (i) that
have a predetermined service period; or [ii] where
no service is rendered by the Group for the virtual
goods immediately after purchase by the paying
players. Revenue is recognised (as a release from
deferred revenue] when the goods are consumed
and the related services are rendered, or ratably
over the predetermined service period of the

respective consumable virtual goods.

Durable virtual goods represent items that have no
predetermined service period and are accessible
and beneficial to paying players over an extended
period of time. Revenue is recognised ratably over
the expected life of the respective durable virtual

goods (“Player Relationship Period").
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

PC games (Continued)
Self-developed games and licensed games (Continued)

For self-developed games and licensed games, the
computer systems of the Group captures all player data,
such as log-in data, purchase and delivery records for the
Virtual Currencies sold and the virtual goods exchanged
with the Virtual Currencies. The Group estimates the
Player Relationship Period based on an overall game by
game basis and platform by platform basis and re-
assesses such periods annually. If there are insufficient
data to determine the Player Relationship Period, such as
in the case of a newly launched game, the Group
estimates the Player Relationship Period based on other
similar types of games developed by the Group or by
third-party developers until the new game establishes its
own patterns and history. The Group mainly considers the
paying players’ spending and consumption behaviour in
estimating the Player Relationship Period, which typically
represents the time interval between paying players’
consecutive recharges of their user accounts with
additional Virtual Currencies and represents a reasonable
estimate of the average expected life of the durable

virtual items for the applicable game.

If the Group does not have the ability to differentiate
revenue attributable to durable virtual goods from
consumable virtual goods for a specific product, item or
game, the Group recognises revenue from both durable
and consumable virtual goods ratably over the average
life of the durable virtual products or goods, or over the
Player Relationship Period.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

PC games (Continued)
Self-developed games and licensed games (Continued)

For revenues relating to self-developed games and
licensed games, the Group has evaluated the roles and
responsibilities of the Group, the game license holders
and the third-party distribution and payment channels in
the delivery of game experience to the paying players and
concluded the Group takes the primary responsibilities in
rendering services. The Group is determined to be the
primary obligor and, accordingly, the Group records
revenue on a gross basis, and commission charges by
game license holders and third-party distribution and
payment channels are recorded as cost of revenue.

Third-party operated games

The Group also distributes games developed and
operated by third-party developers on the Group's own
web proprietary platform including the Group's client
portal and websites. The Group's revenue mainly consists
of pre-determined portions of total player payments
according to the relevant terms of the agreements
entered into between the Group and the game developers.

The games distributed on the Group's platform are
hosted, maintained, operated and updated independently
by the game developers, and the Group mainly provide
players with access to the Group's platform to download
the third-party developers’ games and limited after-sale
basic technical support to the paying players. The Group
has evaluated and determined it is not the primary obligor
in the services rendered to the paying players as a
platform. Accordingly, the Group records its revenue net
of the portion of sharing of revenues with the game
developers.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

(b)

PC games (Continued)

Third-party operated games (Continued)]

As the Group provides merely the first contact point by
the players to gain access to download the third-party
developers’ games, the Group believes that its implied
obligation to the game developers do not correspond to
the game developers” implied obligation to provide the
service which enables the virtual goods to be displayed
and used in the games. Given that games are hosted,
managed, administered and operated by the game
developers, the Group does not have access to the data
on the consumption details and the types of virtual goods
purchased by the paying players. The Group only
maintains individual paying player's purchase history of
the Virtual Currencies which are used to exchange for
virtual goods in the third-party operated games. As such,
the Group has adopted a policy to recognise revenue
when the paying players exchange the Virtual Currencies
for consumable or durable virtual goods for the relevant

games.

Mobile games

The Group distributes mobile games and provides
services mainly for Android and i0S operating systems
through third-party distribution and payment channels,
including mobile operators in the PRC ("Mobile
Operators”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b)

Mobile games (Continued)

Self-developed games — Single player games

During the year, substantially all of the Group’s mobile
games are single player games or have single player
modes [“Single Player Games”). Virtual goods of the
Single Player Games are purchased when the players are
online and can be consumed irrespective of whether or
not they are connected to the internet. Only the purchase
of such virtual goods requires connection to the internet.
Once the players confirm their purchase requests via
Mobile Operators’ payment channels, the purchased
virtual goods are automatically available in the
downloaded game. Future play and use of the purchased
virtual goods do not require internet connectivity or any
involvement from the Group. Players do not need to
connect to online servers to play the game or utilise the
purchased virtual goods on their mobile devices and
hence the Group has no obligation to deliver any further
services to the paying players. As a result, all services are
rendered immediately upon the sale and delivery of the
virtual goods.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b)

Mobile games (Continued)

Self-developed games — Single player games
[Continued)

The gross revenue from mobile games includes provision
for doubtful debts or bad debts as assessed by the Mobile
Operators. For mobile games, the computer system of
the Group captures limited data such as certain purchase
and delivery records of the virtual goods. The Group
contracts with the Mobile Operators which include billing
and collection services. The Mobile Operators provide the
Group with monthly statements that represent the
principal evidence that virtual goods has been sold and
delivered. The Mobhile Operators remit to the Group only
amounts net of channel commission charges and an
allowance that Mobile Operators have made for the
doubtful debts in respect of the amounts due to the Group
from the paying players. The Mobile Operators do not
provide an itemised analysis of their remittances and the
usage of the virtual goods and the Group is therefore
unable to determine what allowance, if any, for doubtful
or bad debts should be recorded with respect to services
delivered through them. As a result, based on the
amounts reported on the Mobile Operator’s monthly
statements, which are net of doubtful debts and represent
the amounts the Group reasonably believes will be
collected, the Group records the gross proceeds (net of
provision for doubtful debts) as revenue and the channel
commission charges are recorded as cost of revenue.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b)

Mobile games (Continued)

Self-developed games with connected internet game
play

For revenue derived from self-developed mobile games
with connected internet game play, the Group follows the
policies of PC games — “Self-developed games and
licensed games” as the operations of the two types of
games are similar. The Virtual Currencies can be used to
exchange for virtual goods such as symbol and
membership plans. Paying players usually exchange their
Virtual Currencies for the virtual goods shortly after

purchase.

Third-party distribution channels and payment channels
collect the payments from the paying players and remit
the cash to the Group, net of commission charges which
are pre-determined according to the relevant terms of
the agreements entered into between the Group and the
third-party distribution or payment channels. For paying
players who use payment channels of the Mobile
Operators, cash remitted to the Group are also net of
provision for doubtful debts or bad debts as assessed by
the Mobile Operators as detailed in single player mobile

games above.

Upon the sales of Virtual Currencies, the Group typically
has an implied obligation to provide the services which
enable the virtual goods exchanged with the Virtual
Currencies to be displayed or used in the games. As a
result, the proceeds (net of provision for doubtful debts
assessed by Mobile Operators, if applicable] received
from sales of Virtual Currencies are recorded as deferred
revenue. The attributable portion of the deferred revenue
relating to values of the virtual goods are recognised as
revenue (as a release from deferred revenue) when the
goods are consumed and the related services are
rendered, i.e. ratably over the predetermined service
period of the respective virtual goods.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b)

Mobile games (Continued)

Self-developed games with connected internet game
play (Continued)

For revenues relating to self-developed mobile games,
the Group has evaluated the roles and responsibilities of
the Group, and the third-party distribution and payment
channels in the delivery of game experience to the paying
players and concluded the Group takes the primary
responsibilities in rendering services. The Group is
determined to be the primary obligor and, accordingly,
the Group records revenue on a gross basis, and
commission charges by third-party distribution and

payment channels are recorded as cost of revenue.

Third-party operated games

For revenue derived from third-party operated mobile
games, the Group follows the policies of PC games —
“Third-party operated games” as the operations of the
two types of games are similar. The games distributed on
the Group's and third-party distributors’ platform are
hosted, maintained, operated and updated independently
by the game developers, and the Group mainly provide
players with access to the Group's platform to download
the third-party developers’ games and limited after-sale
basic technical support to the paying players. The Group
has evaluated and determined it is not the primary obligor
in the services rendered to the paying players as a
platform. Accordingly, the Group has adopted a policy to
recognise revenue when the paying players purchase the
virtual currencies for consumable or durable virtual
goods for the relevant games and records its revenue net
of the portion of sharing of revenues with the game

developers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Revenue recognition (Continued)

(c) Sponsorship income
Sponsorship income is recognised when the promotion or
tournament events have been held; or the services have
been rendered, and it is probable that sponsorship
income will be granted and the amount can be measured

reliably.

2.16 Interest income

Interest income mainly represents interest income from bank
deposits and is recognised on accrual basis using the effective

interest method.

2.17 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
Government grants are deferred and recognised in profit or
loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs
that the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are
included in liabilities as deferred government grants in the
consolidated statement of financial position and are recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives
of the related assets.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross

under “Other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and comprehensive income.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017

2.

REETBERBE (@)

2. 15 WA\ 8 58 ()

(c) EEPRA
BEPBWARNKEZDRES
E8M MBS REHE
T 7S B B UL A AT AR 45 X
MREFRAEHA EHERE

i °

216 7 RUKA

MEBWAEEERITHEROHNE
WA Wi BB A ROR AR E &
T UARERR

2.17 AT 48 B

=R A IR IR AT fE B A AT
MEBAREEN G A MW G
B4R L6 1 BY i 4R B e (BB
P o BURT 0 BB IE A BR - 30 70 48 &
HRAEEE PR ELERE
18 B 45 B AX AN R T AE

HEEEEAHNBFAEBIA
HRAEMBRARTABETWE
BB - WIZ A BB E M TR
ERFHRUATRENBEPER -

HIRAB OB E IR
RiEeEaEME2EEERA
[HABRANIET »



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BERME ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Impairment of non-financial assets

The following assets are subject to impairment testing:
— Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries;

— Other intangible assets;

= Property, plant and equipment; and

— Interests in subsidiaries and associates

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life
or those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they are impaired. All other assets are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the asset’s

carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately
for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time
value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent from those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some
assets are tested individually for impairment and some are
tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill in particular is
allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from synergies of the related business combination and
represent the lowest level within the Group at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose and
not be larger than an operating segment.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

SXREEBREE @

218 EME ERE (&)

2.18 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to
which goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the
carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is
charged pro rata to the assets in the cash generating unit,
except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in
use, if determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods. In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of
goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the
case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end
of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

2.19 Employee benefits

(a] Pension obligations

The Group has various defined contribution plans in
accordance with the local conditions and practices in the
municipalities and provinces in which they operate.
Defined contribution plans are pension and/or other
social benefit plans under which the Group pay fixed
contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have
no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees benefits relating to employee service in
the current and prior periods. The contributions are
recognised as labour costs when they are due.

(b) Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present contractual or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can
be made. Liabilities for bonus are expected to be settled
within twelve months and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)

(c)

Equity-settled share-based compensation
transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled share-
based compensation plans under which the Group
receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value
of the services received in exchange for the grant of the
equity instruments is recognised as expense.

The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
granted including any market performance conditions;
excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions; and including the impact

of any non-vesting conditions.

Non-market performance and service conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of options and
shares that are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options and shares that are
expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. The Group
recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the profit or loss, with a

corresponding adjustment to equity.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the

employee as measured at the date of modification.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

(c)

(d)

Equity-settled share-based compensation
transactions (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new
shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share

capital (nominal value) and share premium.

Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair
value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over
the vesting period as an increase to investment in
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity [(share option reserve] in the separate financial
statements of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the
reporting date. They are calculated according to the tax rates
and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they
relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to
current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component

of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and their respective tax bases. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be
carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing
taxable temporary differences, will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and

unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor

accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the

temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the
asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively

enacted at the reporting date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXSEHBRBE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Accounting for income taxes (Continued) 220FT R EERIE (|)
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in RERBEEXBBEEZGEES
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in WTER  kaHERE M2 mE =
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to Ak H R R RS AR
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. THE A/ - AIEE b 2 m U 2 s

£ RERR o

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in EHEZLHBTIIERE  BNEAH
net if, and only if, BEEERNBAHEBEAGRFIES
3l -
(a]  the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the @) AKEHEEFEEEHEREHE
recognised amounts; and VEVEITRER : Rk
(b] intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the b) WMIRFEEELE AR
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. BHREERGEAR-
The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax AEBERBEERNUATERNLFE
liabilities in net if, and only if, 2IELERBEEERELERIB A
&
(a)  the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current a) ERBEFSETEENKAD
tax assets against current tax liabilities; and HMIEEEENITIEA G
(b]  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities b) BEEHRBEEEERERIES
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation B[R — TS A
authority on either: ] — I FT BRI &9 P 1S B 4R A
(i) the same taxable entity; or (i) A —ERTIEE 3
(i)  different taxable entities which intend either to (i)  FFEIRTEEEE K[
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net ABEELEHEEEXE
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the EZARAMAFEREE
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in EFERNEHIES EHE
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities BEENIRBEREER
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered. BEEEN DR ERD
B
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

SXREEHREE @

221BHEM TR

2.21 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the company or the counterparty.

2.22 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’'s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or Board, where

appropriate.

2.23 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
makers, who are responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors that make strategic
decisions.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Related parties

For the purposes of those consolidated financial statements, a
party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(il has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or the Group's parent.

(b)  the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(il one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same third-
party.

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Related parties (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

a person identified in (al(i] has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services

to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

REETBERBE (@)

2.25Convertible note 2250 R R EE

Convertible note that can be converted to equity share capital at
the option of the holder, where the number of shares that would
be issued on conversion and the value of the consideration that
would be received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments which contain both a liability

component and an equity component.

Convertible note issued by the Group that contain both financial
liability and equity components are classified separately into
respective liability and equity components on initial recognition.
On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is
determined using the prevailing market interest rate for similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the proceeds of
the issue of the convertible note and the fair value assigned to
the Lliability component, representing the call option for
conversion of the note into equity, is included in equity as

convertible note equity reserve.

The liability component is subsequently carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. The equity component
will remain in equity until conversion or redemption of the note.

When the note is converted, the equity component of convertible
note and the carrying value of the liability component at the
time of conversion are transferred to share capital as
consideration for the shares issued. If the note is redeemed, the
convertible note equity reserve is released directly to retained
profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based

on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of

future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances.

3.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes accounting estimates and assumptions

concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,

by definition, seldom equal to the related actual results. The

estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below.

(a)

(b)

Estimates of Player Relationship Period for
revenue recognition

As described in Note 2.15(a), the Group recognises
revenue from certain durable virtual goods derived from
its self-developed and licensed PC games over the Player
Relationship Period. The determination of Player
Relationship Period in each type of virtual goods is based
on the Group's best estimate that takes into account all
known and relevant information at the time of
assessment. Such estimates are subject to re-evaluation
on an annual basis. Any adjustments arising from
changes in the Player Relationship Period as a result of
new information will be accounted for prospectively as a
change in accounting estimate.

Provision for impairment of trade receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of
trade receivables (Note 18). This estimate is based on the
credit history of the customers and the current market
condition. Management reassesses the adequacy of
provision on a regular basis by reviewing the individual
account based on past credit history and any prior
knowledge of debtor insolvency or other credit risk which
might not be easily accessible public information and
market volatility might bear a significant impact which

might not be easily ascertained.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REOMBRITME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

3.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Recognition of share-based compensation
expenses

As detailed in Note 27(c], the Company has granted share
options to the Group’s management and employees in
2017. The directors have used the Binomial Option-
Pricing Model to determine the total fair value of the
options granted, which is to be expensed over the vesting
period as appropriate. Significant estimate on
assumptions, such as share price volatility and dividend
yield, is required to be made by the directors in applying
the Binomial Option-Pricing Model.

Current and deferred income taxes

As detailed in Note 7, the Group is subject to income
taxes in several jurisdictions. There are many
transactions and events for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Significant judgment is required from the Group
in determining the provision for income taxes in each of
these jurisdictions. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBRETME (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (continued)

3.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)
(e} Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

(f)

assessment of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment (Note 11) and intangible
assets [Note 12) with finite useful lives are depreciated or
amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the assets, after taking into account the
estimated residual value, if any. The Group reviews the
estimated useful lives of the assets regularly in order to
determine the amount of depreciation and amortisation
expense to be recorded during any reporting period. The
useful lives are based on the Group’s historical
experience with similar assets and taking into account
anticipated technological changes. The depreciation and
amortisation expense for future periods is adjusted if

there are significant changes from previous estimates.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with
finite useful lives are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts of the assets have been determined based on
the higher of fair value and value-in-use calculations.
These calculations require the use of judgement and

estimates.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill (Note 13] is impaired
requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated.
The value in use calculation requires the entity to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order

to calculate present value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REOMBRITME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (continued)

3.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)
(g Fair value of contingent consideration payable

(h)

for profit guarantee and further acquisition
option

As part of the consideration in the acquisition of a
subsidiary (Note 31(al) and in a partial disposal of an
associate (Note 15(b)], contingent consideration is valued
at the fair value at the acquisition/disposal date with the
best estimate of the future outcome of the earn-outs
arrangement. The contingent consideration is
subsequently remeasured to fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The determination of the fair value is
based on the expected adjustment on the consideration to
be paid and involves management's judgement and
assumptions.

Impairment of interest in associates

The Group makes provision for impairment in its interest
in associates (Note 15) based on an assessment of the
recoverable amounts of the associates. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its
value in use. The assessment requires the use of
judgements and estimates and any changes to these
judgements and estimates could result in a material
change to the recoverable amounts of the associates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBRETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 3. FARIEEStRHAE @
JUDGEMENTS (continued)
3.2 Critical judgments in applying the entity’s 32 ERERSHBRLZENK
accounting policies ¥ B
(a) Significant influence over investees with less (a) HOR20%BEELRETS
than 20% equity interest NEXEE
The Group classified certain investments as interest in BEAEBES D R20%8
associates although the Group owns less than 20% equity BERRNEEE A&
interest in these companies (Note 15(a)). The Group has ZIRE D BE RN E QA
significant influence over these companies by virtue of its a1bla) 2 HEs - AEE R
contractual right to appoint director on its board. EHENEDREZESS
EFHZERAEAEEEAY
2.
4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION L WARDEEN
(a) Revenue (a) XA
The Group's principal activities are disclosed in Note 1 to these AEEBFEXEBEBERNEGES VB
consolidated financial statements. The Group's revenue from WEMF1 - AEEBEIBEFE
external customers recognised during the year is as follows: BzWEZRNEARNERLDT :
2017 2016
—E—+tF —ZT—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

PC games PC#2 5, 267,985 386,388
Mobile games % ) 17 5 260,824 377,049
Others (note) H A (B 33) 88,216 107,711
617,025 871,148
Note: Others mainly represent miscellaneous revenue derived from iz - B F EfRRERAEEEHN
game tournaments organised by the Group, which includes EELEEHEBERA  BEKIH
sponsorship income received. BRI -

HREARSBRERAT —E—CEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 BIZE =T —+tF+ - A=+—HILFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

AR EBE ¥

(b) DEIEE BEERERE

(b) Segment result, assets and liabilities

The chief operating decision-makers (the “CODM") has been
identified as the executive directors of the Group. The CODM
reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The CODM has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.
The CODM assess the performance of the operating segments
mainly based on segment revenue and profit of each operating
segment. Segment information below is presented in a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.

The following describes the operations in each of the Group’s
reportable segments:

(i) Online games business — Lianzhong Group: online card
and board games business carried out by Lianzhong
Group

(il Online games business — Peerless Group: online card
and board games business carried out by Peerless Group

(i)  ESports business: sports e-commerce business and
other non-card-and-board games new internet
businesses

Segment profit represents profit earned by each segment

without allocating finance costs and income tax expense.

Segment assets include all assets in the consolidated financial
statements. Segment liabilities include all liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017

EEERBFANTEEZLERE
/\J)EE$E@$?HT§$5§i°£g
LERRANEBHNAEBADRS
NABEERSEER FELE
ARREARBZSHMEFELED
HoFELERRAZTERESE
&0z o E s kA E
EDEZRB o Tl FERIAE
HATZHRERD R RFRTMH
ZHBRARXZT -

AEEETL
m

BowzELHT

) WEEBRER -BIREE:
B R B R A AR R
BE

i) #8 %8 % & ¥ % —Peerless
Group : Peerless Group fl & 9
T AR AEL R 30 B 2R 75

il EREF: BEEFEBLA
Ko E fth FEHE B8 E B 5 T AR 4R
Es

7 &b A E 48 % 2 &6 (A R 2 B B 7%
PR B2 BT A5 B0 8 S ) BRER 2 A1 o

DHEEBREAMBBMRZM
BEE - DR ABERREEREMBR
RZFBEAGE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 WARDBBEN @)
(Continued)
(b) Segment result, assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) 2E%E EEREBE®
2017
“E-tE
Online games  Online games
business business
— Lianzhong — Peerless ESports
Group Group business  Eliminations Total
BLEE
SLER £
/S —Peerless
—KREE Group ERER i st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTRE ARWTR ARETRT ARETR

Revenue LON
— From external - RENER
customers 504,469 83,060 29,496 - 617,025
— From other segments  — KRB H 5 2 18,868 6,758 25 (25,651) -

Reportable segment A2HEFHBA
revenue 523,337 89,818 29,521 (25,651) 617,025

Reportable segment AERDBEE
results 57,489 2,769 (69,150) - (8,892)

Finance costs BERA (2,775)

Share-based compensation AR { AZE R E B4

expense (53 (18,446) (3,267) (3,216) - (24,929)
Loss before income tax BRAEHAER (36,596)
Income tax expense ERRX (6,360)
Loss for the year FRNERE (42,956)
Other information Hirgs
Interest income FBWA 8,299 2 76 - 8,377
Depreciation of property, 9%  BE R

plant and equipment RETE 18,129 6,339 7,212 - 31,680
Amortisation of intangible /& E#

assets 39,256 77,251 al - 116,578
Share of profits/(losses] of 721 B & 1A 7]

associates MiE/ (E#8) 7,700 - (12,254) - (4,554)

HRARDRERAT —E—CEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
iR e U MER M ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION L WARDEBER @)
(Continued)
(b) Segment result, assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) PEEE BEEREE®
2017
“E-tF
Online games  Online games
business business
— Lianzhong — Peerless ESports
Group Group business  Eliminations Total
5 LER
BLER %
% —Peerless
—KREE Group ERER i @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTRT AR®TR AR¥TR AR®Tx

ASSETS EE
Segment assets DEHEE 1,366,607 332,085 425,592 (506,072) 1,618,212
LIABILITIES =
Segment liabilities HHEE 97,222 76,653 492,264 (503,437) 162,682
Other information HinEH
Non-current assets (other  JERBEE (T8 1
than financial SRIARERHE
instruments and BE) Bf:
deferred tax assets),
including: 211,678 296,325 141,734 - 649,737
— Interests in associates ~ — REEL D A RE R 19,425 - 83,490 - 102,915

Additions to non-current  AFEIERE S
segment assets (other EERE(TBHE

than financial SRIARER

instruments and MEEE)

deferred tax assets)

during the year 48,076 113,174 77,884 - 239,134
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BREME (E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(b) Segment result, assets and liabilities (Continued)

L WARDEBER @)

(b) DWPERE -BEEREBEm@

2016
TR
Online games  Online games
business business
— Lianzhong — Peerless ESports
Group Group business  Eliminations Total
5 R
5B 7%
E —Peerless
~HREE Group EREB g @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARKTR
Revenue ['ON
— From external - RENBER
customers 737,894 126,904 6,350 - 871,148
— From other segments ~ — REEMH - 6,644 79 (6,723) -
Reportable segment AEHRIBBA
revenue 737,894 133,548 6,429 (6,723) 871,148
Reportable segment AERIBEE
results 225,046 (12,188) (23,613) — 189,245
Share-based compensation B #% 17 A EHE#)
expense kAN (36,776) (5,970) - - (42,746)
Profit before income tax ~ Br FT 15 4 51 F1 8 146,499
Income tax expense FEBEX (7,123)
Profit for the year FRFE 139,376
Other information HitER
Interest income FlEWA 12,037 - 18 - 12,055
Depreciation of property, 9%+ BE kR &
plant and equipment e 14,268 5,280 5,529 - 25,077
Amortisation of intangible /& E# 8
assets 22477 51,068 78 — 73,623
Share of losses of AEHERREBE
associates (503) - - - (503)
Provision for impairment of WAt & A 7] 2 25 5 B
interest in an associate B - - 4227 - 4,227
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRKRME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

—tF+t-A=t—BLEFE

L WARDEBBEN @)

(b) Segment result, assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) DEEE BEEREEAW®
2016
—ERF
Online games Online games
business business
— Lianzhong — Peerless ESports
Group Group business  Eliminations Total
g R
5B 5%
%% —Peerless
-HREE Group EREL 3 Mt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
ASSETS 8E
Segment assets SHEE 1,006,642 350,072 118,757 (46,590) 1,428,881
LIABILITIES 8%
Segment liabilities ABEE 103,519 80,329 34,846 (44,359) 174,335
Other information Htn &R
Non-current assets ERBEE(TRE
(other than financial SRIARERHE
instruments and BE) B%:
deferred tax assets),
including: 191,564 285,894 79,907 - 557,365
— Interest in associates N A=UNGIE ok 2 12,01 - 63,883 - 75,894
Additions to non-current  AEEFRBH
segment assets (other BERE(TRE
than financial SRIARER
instruments and MEEE)
deferred tax assets)
during the year 135,315 53,246 59,551 — 248,112
Note: Additions include those arising from the acquisition of M : AEBRERSEKRENEARES

subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBRETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WARDEBBER @)
(Continued)
(c) Geographical information c) HEEN
The following illustrates the geographical analysis of the AEEZRETRIMERKE H
Group's revenue from external customers, based on the country MAINEBE P W 2 Wz R iR & E
from which the transactions are executed, and information FEwE D ERBEEEH(CTE
about its non-current assets (other than financial instruments EEeRTARBLEREBBEE) 2i
and deferred tax assets), based on the location of assets. BT -
Revenue Non-current assets
A ERBEE
As at As at
2017 2016 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

R=-B—t & R-Z—RF
—E_ 4t —E—X&E +=ZBA=+—-H +=-—A=+—8H

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ET T ARBT T ARBT T AR T T

PRC s 533,269 743,689 296,194 267,654

USA e 83,056 126,904 349,548 285,895

Others HAh 700 555 3,995 3,816

617,025 871,148 649,737 557,365

(d) Information about major customers d EESFEHR

The Group has a large number of game players, no revenue REBEHEBEASHERIIR  BE=
from any individual game player or customer exceeded 10% or E—t+ER_E—RNF+ZA=
more of the Group's revenue during the years ended 31 T—HIEFE BEREEMFEA
December 2017 and 2016. BERTXABTFHBRABBAS

B U A #)10%3K A | o

HREARSBRERAT —E—CEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRKRME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

5. OTHER INCOME

5. HtMUA

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR T T
Other revenue H g A
Bank interest income RITH B A 2,746 6,927
Gain on deemed disposal of partial interest R {EH &R — KB & 2 725
in an assaciate T 2 W 2 = 10,349
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEAHEESREERTS
financial assets 2,000 53,024
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note BB A R A IR R
32(b)&(c)) (B 7% 32(b) R (c)) = 4,541
Gain on partial disposal of an associate HEBE N E 2 Hh ks
(Note 15(b)) (P &£ 15(b)) 27,632 —
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME BELREREZ
equipment g 267 -
Gain on disposal of intangible assets HEREEE 7 Wm 2,320 —
Interest income from loans to third parties % THE=F 2 EHF B U A 5,305 5,128
Interest income from loans to associates % FH§ & A 8 2 B F B KA 326 —
Change in fair value of contingent ENZARELIREE
consideration payable (Note 31(b)) (P 3E31(b)) 6,873 —
47,469 79,969
Other netincome Ht g A F 2
Subsidy income from government (note) TR 4 8 U A (BT 3E) 750 3,875
Sundry income HMETE WA 2,859 1,120
3,609 4,995
51,078 84,964

Note: Subsidy income mainly relates to cash subsidies in respect of operating

and development activities from governments which are either

unconditional grants or grants with conditions having been satisfied.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BERERME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

6. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 6. FE(BR) FH
(Loss)/Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging: FE(ER) / FBEBRHNGATEE :
2017 2016
—Z2—tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Finance costs Bt 75 AR A<
Interest charges on Convertible Notes A #2 AR (& 25 AT B (B 5E35)

(Note 35) 2,775 —
Employee benefit expenses BEIREAMAX
Salaries, bonus and allowances Ha - B4 KEBL 88,120 98,110
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIKEFFTEIH R 9,253 12,426
Severance payments BB 7,685 5,286
Share-based compensation expense VARR 1 72 B 5 60 B 5 <2 24,929 42,746

129,987 158,568

Other items HtEH
Auditors’ remuneration % B0 B & 1,745 1,700
Depreciation of property, plant and ME--BERZBINE

equipment 31,680 25,077
Amortisation of intangible assets A B 116,578 73,623
Impairment loss on trade receivables B oW FIARERERE = 7,244
Provision for impairment of interest in Nl VRN X

an associate B = 4,227
Net foreign exchange loss HNEE B 18 F R 2,213 1,330
Operating lease charges on office premises AW EKLHEE F 18,192 15,668
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of subsidiaries BB A B 1B (M as) 1,530 (4,541)

HRARDRERAT —E—CEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRKRME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE FiIERAX
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARMT T ARBT T
Current tax B H#A % 1|
The PRC H
— Current year —REE 7,772 26,140
— Under/(Qver)-provision in respect of ~ —@BEFEEHETE,
prior year (HERHE) 287 (12,812)
8,059 13,328
Deferred tax EERE
Origination and reversal of TRt EENELENR
temporary differences Ml (1,699) (6,399)
Effect on deferred tax balances resulting BMEREEFHEPRELHE
from a change in tax rate EHH TR = 194
24 (1,699) (6,205)
Income tax expense FBHREX 6,360 7,123

@, Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BERERME (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 7.

—tF+t-A=t—BLEFE

The difference between the actual income tax charge in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the amounts

which would result from applying the enacted tax rate to (loss)/profit

before income tax can be reconciled as follows:

T8RS m®

REZARZENERSEHREAR
FHEARKRAEHA(ER),F B8
AEMEGESENEENEZEE RN
T :

2017 2016
—E—+F —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BRATSBLAT (B518), R B (36,596) 146,499
Tax on (loss)/profit before income tax, BrRETISFLAT (B1B), FIEFE
calculated at the statutory rates (REERBREERERN
applicable to profits in the tax jurisdiction — FEEEBEHE
concerned (7,703) 36,837
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses A HAZIOR B2 3,083 3,426
Tax effect on non-taxable income ERBWABNB B2 (1,232) -
Tax effect on preferential income tax rates @A RKE R FWERTEH
applicable to a subsidiary HENRETE (3,051) (25,429)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not HAREREARBEE
recognised Gikva-2 (187) -
Tax effect of unused tax losses not MABABARBAREEEZ
recognised RS & 14,967 5173
Effect on deferred tax balances resulting E =SB G AR ET B4 8
from a change in tax rate B 52 - 194
Under/(Over)-provision in respect of prior ~ BEFEEEE TR (BEEE)
year 287 (12,812)
Others H Al 196 (266)
Income tax expense FrEFEx 6,360 7,123
Notes: B 5 -
(a)  Cayman Islands income tax (a) HREIEEHMER
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted ARABIBEREHEQARERHASH
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman BRI AZEREER AR BAILE
Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax. CHEHNFEESEEETER -
(b)  Hong Kong profits tax (b) TEINER
Hong Kong profits tax rate is 16.5%. Hong Kong profits tax has not been BEMEBHBER165% HRAE

provided as the Group had no estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REOMBRITME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

7.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

PRC enterprise income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its
operations in the PRC has been calculated at the applicable tax
rate on the estimated assessable profits for the year based on
the existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof. The applicable income tax rate is 25%

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, Beijing
Lianzhong Co., Ltd ("Beijing Lianzhong”) has renewed and obtained its
qualification as a High and New Technology Enterprise ("HNTE") in 2014
for the three-year period commencing from October 2014 and
accordingly Beijing Lianzhong enjoyed a preferential income tax rate of
15% in 2015. In May 2016, Beijing Lianzhong was accredited as a “Key
Software Enterprise within National Planning Layout™ and accordingly,
Beijing Lianzhong was retrospectively entitled to a preferential income
tax rate of 10% from 2015 and will continue to enjoy this preferential
income tax rate until it no longer meets the requirements of the
qualification.

According to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, enterprises
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim
150% of the research and development expenses so incurred as tax
deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for that
year ("Super Deduction”). Lianzhong has made its best estimate for the
Super Deduction to be claimed in ascertaining their assessable profits
for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

US profits tax

Subsidiaries operating in the US are subject to US federal and state tax
on its assessable profits. The applicable tax rate for federal tax is 34%
whilst the tax rate for state tax of California, the principal place of
business of the Company’s major US subsidiaries is 8.84%. US profits
tax has not been provided as the Group incurred a loss for taxation
purposes for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

Gibraltar profits tax

Gibraltar profits tax has not been provided as the Group has no
assessable profit in Gibraltar for the years ended 31 December 2017 and
2016.
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7.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(f)

PRC withholding tax

According to the relevant laws and requlations in the PRC, the Group is
also liable to a 10% withholding tax on dividends to be distributed from
the Group’s foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC in respect of its
profits generated from 1 January 2008. If a foreign investor incorporated
in Hong Kong meets the conditions and requirements under the double
taxation treaty arrangement entered into between the PRC and Hong
Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on
the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company of
RMB23,996,000 (2016: profit of RMB148,669,000) and on the
weighted average number of 788,254,778 ordinary shares (2016é:
ordinary 786,990,352 shares] in issue during the year.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on
the (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year after adjusting for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company has two
categories of dilutive ordinary shares, being the share option
schemes of the Company (Management Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme) and the
Convertible Notes. The effects on the Convertible Notes before
conversion and the share options during the year were anti-

dilutive.
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9. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 9. BR(BEB) B um
(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (Continued) (b) TREHE (B518) BA @

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company has one
category of dilutive ordinary shares, being the share option
schemes of the Company (Management Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme), but not on the
share options granted in July 2015, January 2016, May 2016 and
September 2016 under the 2014 Share Option Scheme which
are considered as anti-dilutive as the average market price of
the ordinary shares of the Company is less than the exercise
price of these share options.

Details of calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share are
shown as follows:

2T —X"F+=-_A=+—H
WEFE AReHE —EABEE
EYENT AR BIARQ R B E
E(EEEEAAHABENER
EEHE R T — N FERERE)
MmER=ZFE—RFLA ZZT—RN
F—f ZE—AR"FRAR=-Z—
NENARE - T — V0 F RS E
ArEIRE 2 ERE  HEHRAAR
BEYE DHRARRERERZ
FHMEBERRAZSEREZTE
{go

BREE (B1E) BAFEHEN
s

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
(Loss)/Profit attributable to equity holders ~ ANFE AR A RIEZEHB A
of the Company for the year (RMB'000) FEAG (E518), /7 8
(AR¥®ET D) (23,996) 148,669
Weighted average number of ordinary HEATEERERN(EBR)
shares for the purpose of basic (loss)/ B 2 i AR hn i T 19
earnings per share 788,254,778 786,990,352
Effect of dilutive potential shares B8 B IR M B 1T B AR E
on exercise of share options a2 — 40,052,497
Weighted average number of ordinary HETEGRES (BB
shares for the purpose of diluted B 7 & R
(loss)/earnings per share 8 788,254,778 827,042,849
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share [RMB TRREE (BR)&F
cents) (AR¥%5) (3.04) 17.98
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10. DIRECTORS" AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of each director disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors] Regulations for the

years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 are set out below:

10. ESF B (&2 & % B

(a)

ESFH M

BHEEMBRA - BEARAGHE
383(1) & LA R A Bl (EE1EFE R #E
BORBE2HD  HEZT—LF
rE—E—XRE+_A=+—81
FE ZESHFHEEHIOT

Retirement Share-
Basic salaries benefit based
Name of director BEEgR Fees andallowances contribution  compensation Total
EXFHER BHRER URGRAER
e p=3:7 53 H < mE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Mz AR®TT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETT
Year ended 31 December 2017 HE-ZE—+&
+=A=+—-AL
FE
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Yang Eric Qing HBELE (i) - 1,454 89 6,203 7,746
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank REREE (i) - 1,454 89 5,131 6,674
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Liu Jiang 2ThAE = = - - -
Mr. Fan Tai BREE — = = = =
Mr. Chen Xian R 3Z S 4 = = - - -
Mr. Hua Guanfa EWBEE (iii) — = = = =
Ms. Fu Qiang o+ (iv) = = = - -
Independent non-executive BUHTES:
directors:
Mr. Ge Xuan B4 160 = = = 160
Mr. Lu Zhong BREE 160 — — — 160
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David KM A 217 = = - 217
537 2,908 178 11,334 14,957
Year ended 31 December 2016 Hz2_Z2—R&E
+ZA=+—HLt
FE
Executive directors: HiTES:
Mr. Yang Eric Qing BExE (i) - 1,440 77 10,503 12,020
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank hER%E (i) - 1,440 77 10,503 12,020
Non-executive directors: FRITESE:
Mr. Zhang Rongming REKBALE (ii) - - - - -
Mr. Liu Jiang 2ThAE - - - - -
Mr. Fan Tai BREE - - - - -
Mr. Chen Xian R % % & - - - - -
Mr. Hua Guanfa EHRESE (iii) - - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFRTES:
directors:
Mr. Ge Xuan Bk E 207 - - - 207
Mr. Lu Zhong BREE 207 - - - 207
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David KRB A 324 - - - 324
738 2,880 154 21,006 24,778

HREEERERAT —E—CEER @
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 10. ESH MR ES (=)

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) ESFM @)

Notes: B &

(i) Mr. Yang Eric Qing and Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank are also the (i) BE_Z—tFR-_ZT—X F+
co-chief executive officers of the Group for the years ended 31 —_A=+t—BHLtFE BELE
December 2017 and 2016. Ko fh BIAR 5% A TR AT AN SR BB T

TRAEE -

(il Resigned on 5 February 2016. i) RZTE—AR"FE-ARABEE-

liil  Appointed on 5 February 2016 and resigned on 23 June 2017. il MZTE-—A"F-_FRAHEZMER
RZE—+tFRXAT=HFE

livl  Appointed on 23 June 2017. v RZZTE—+tFSA-T=HEZ

£ -

There were no arrangements under which a director of the BE T —tHEE_ZT—XKF+

Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during ZA=ET—BIEE TERQA]

the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016. EENEIREREEAME 2

7k e
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10. DIRECTORS" AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

10. EEFHEREESF Mm@

(b) ABREFMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the

Group for the year included two (2016: two) directors whose

emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The

emoluments paid/payable to the remaining three (2016: three)

individuals during the year are as follows:

FRAAEEREESFMALD
FEERE(ZE—RF - ME)E
E HEMEE RBR EXSHH -
FAEN/EBNBT=ZH(ZF—
RNE ZR)ALHHEWT

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREF T
Basic salaries and allowances HAZ & KRR 5,048 4,027
Discretionary bonus B 1B IEAL 1,205 1,727
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & K18 F1| 5T 2l £ 3¢ 200 166
Share-based compensation expense  LARE{D A E A BN £ 5 X 1,108 2,819
7,561 8,739
The emoluments fell within the following bands: B <& B = 0 F A T4 -
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
Emolument bands B < 78 71
HK$1,500,001— HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T & 2,000,0007% JT 1 —
HK$2,000,001— HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% JT & 2,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$2,500,001— HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7t £ 3,000,0007% 7T —_ 2
HK$3,000,001— HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 7% JT 2 4,000,0007% 7T 1 -
1

HK$4,500,001— HK$5,000,000

4,500,001% JT 25,000,000/ 7T

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors

or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or

upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office

during the year (2016: nil).

FRAAEEHERTAESERT
EEBEHEMA LN ERNHE N
EREMAXREE L MAKREE
BRNRBIBEBRBE(ZF X
FE) -

HREEERERAT —E—CEER @
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1. Y% BERHKIE
Furniture
Leasehold Computer and office Motor  Construction

improvements  equipment  equipment vehicle in progress Total
EL93
HEWE BAE

£1& ERRE R "E EEIR @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTLT ARBTT AR%Tr AREKTT ARETR

At 1 January 2016 RZE—XKF
—-A-8
Cost B 23,837 61,593 13,503 1,068 - 100,001
Accumulated depreciation and ~ 2FTITE KA E
impairment losses E#E (5.412) (33,329) [4,475) (212) - (43,428)
Net book amount REFE 18,425 28,264 9,028 856 — 56,573

Year ended 31 December 2016 HZE_-Z— X

+=A=+-H
tEE
Opening net book amount FREFEE 18,425 28,264 9,028 856 - 56,573
Additions NE 7,656 18,713 6,460 562 — 33,391
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMRB AR
(Notes 32(b) & (c)) (Ff5E31(0) Relc)) (816) (1,146) (521) - - (2,483)
Disposals & (1,103) (131) (213) - - (1,447)
Depreciation nE (4,809) (15.501) 4,423) (344) - (25,077)
Exchange differences EHEH 35 531 41 - - 607
Closing net book amount FREmFE 19,388 30,730 10,372 1,074 — 61,564
At 31 December 2016 and R-E-X
1 January 2017 +=ZHA=+t-8
kR=-Z2—-t%
—-A-8
Cost DN 29,450 72,190 18,798 1,630 — 122,068
Accumulated depreciationand 25T & KR E
impairment losses &8 (10,062) (41,460) (8,426) (556) - (60,504)
Net book amount REFE 19,388 30,730 10,372 1,074 - 61,564
Year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-F—t#&
+=A=t+-H
LEE
Opening net book amount FNREFE 19,388 30,730 10,372 1,074 - 61,564
Additions NE 3,053 13,984 4,595 1,468 39,125 62,225
Disposals & = (477) (43) = = (520)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB R A
(Note 32 [a)) (Fit5£320a)) = (10) - = - (10)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Y B BT 2 =] (B
(Note 31(al] #31(a)) — - 38 - - 38
Depreciation & (8,858) (17,252) (5,046) (524) - (31,680)
Exchange differences X ERE (24) (501) (559) - - (1,084)
Closing net book amount FRE@FEE 13,559 26,474 9,357 2,018 39,125 90,533
At 31 December 2017 R=B—-t#
tZA=t-A8
Cost KA 32,503 86,174 23,431 3,098 39,125 184,331
Accumulated depreciationand ~ 2iF T E RRE
impairment losses B8 (18,944) (59,700) (14,074) (1,080) - (93,798)
13,559 26,474 9,357 2,018 39,125 90,533
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 11. V2% - BAE R R & @)

Depreciation charges recognised is analysed as follows: EREZITEERASTET :
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Cost of revenue NN 10,355 12,809
Selling and marketing expenses HELTBHEEER 7,711 6,157
Administrative expenses THHEX 11,850 4,474
Research and development expenses ot 2 & A 1,764 1,637

31,680 25,077

HRARDRERAT —E—CEER @
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 12.8BEEE
Game
intellectual
properties, Programmes
Computer trademark and Brand and  Unfinished Development Customer
software licenses name filmrights  contracts costs  relationships Total
it
ER BER HEREY
BRBH TR mEER RE AZTREH  BRRA BFHE g

RMB'000 RMBOOD ~ RMB0O0  RMBOOD  RMBIOO0  RMBOOD RMBOOD  RMB'000
ARETL ARETT ARETT AREBTR ARBETT ARETRT ARETR ARETI

At 1 January 2016 R-B-RE
-A-8
Cost R 10,397 84,397 99,093 57,092 29914 22871 - 303,764
Accumulated amortisation 2 5t # 85 [
andimpairment losses R {EER (5,740) (42,678) (6,614) (5,651) (8,504) - - (69,187)
Net book amount FmFE 4,657 41,7119 92,479 51,441 21410 22,87 - 234,577

Year ended 31 December HZ-Z—xf

2016 +tZA=1+-8B
LEE
Opening net book amount FNERFE 4,657 41,719 92,479 51,441 21,410 22,871 — 234,577
Transfers L - 30,661 - - - (30,661) - -
Additions NE 5,202 9,011 - 44,231 - 42,064 - 100,508
Acquisition of a subsidiary WM E 2 7]

[Note 31(b)) (Ba5E31(b)) - - - - - - 47,357 47,357
Disposal of subsidiaries &N B 7]

(Note 32 (b) & [c]) (P 3% 32(b) R (c]) - (2,165) - - - (1,849) - (4,014)
Amortisation B [2,819) [18,181) (13,535) 24,000) (13,509) - [1,579) (73,623)
Exchange differences EXER b4 - 5,718 4404 866 - - 11,052
Closing net book amount ~ FREEFE 7,104 61,045 84,662 76,076 8,767 32,425 45,778 315,857
At31December2016and R=B—AF

1 January 2017 +tZA=+-BkK

“E-t%

—-A-8H
Cost Z%N 15,889 121,727 105,608 107,170 31,376 32,425 47,357 461,552
Accumulated amortisation ~ 25+ # 3 KR BB

and impairment losses 8,785) [60,682) (20,946) (31,094) (22,609) - [1,579) (145,695)
Net book amount EmFE 7,104 61,045 84,662 76,076 8,767 32,425 45,778 315,857
Year ended 31 December HZ-Z—-+ &

2017 +ZA=1+-H

LEE
Opening net book amount FNEAFE 7,104 61,045 84,662 76,076 8,767 32,425 45,778 315,857
Transfers B - 39,304 - - - (39,304) - -
Additions WE 443 6,926 6,772 93,591 - 32,399 - 140,131
Acquisition of a subsidiary  UREEH B2 A

[Note 31(a)) (B FE31(a)) - 3N - - - - - N
Disposal HE - (3,455) - - - - - (3,455)
Amortisation B (2,530) (28,929) (13,885) (57,957) (5,409) = (7,868) (116,578)
Exchange differences EXEE - - 4,733) (4,617) (330) - - (9,480)
Closing net book amount ~ FREEFE 5,017 75,262 72,816 107,293 3,028 25,520 37,910 326,846
At 31 December 2017 R=-B-t%

+=A=t+-A8
Cost A 16,332 164,343 112,380 200,761 31,376 25,520 47,357 598,069
Accumulated amortisation it # $# LR EEE

and impairment losses (11,315) (89,081) (39,564) (93,468) (28,348) - (9,447)  (271,223)

Net book amount EHFE 5,017 75,262 72,816 107,293 3,028 25,520 37,910 326,846
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 12. REBEEm
The development costs represented all direct costs incurred in the HEXRAEREER BEBEBEEM
development of webgames, mobile games and software products. EmRAEEENEEENAE -
Amortisation charges recognised is analysed as follows: EREREBHEEASTOT :
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETTT

Cost of revenue WA B AR 30,119 43,541
Selling and marketing expenses HERMBHEERER 8,127 1,614
Administrative expenses TR 78,315 28,421
Research and development expenses HEEE R 17 47
116,578 73,623
13. GOODWILL 13. B8
The carrying amount of goodwill mainly arose from the acquisition of BHEEROEETZRER_Z—AFWE
the Peerless Group in 2015 and the acquisition of Beijing Zhangzhong Peerless Group R BIZE =T —tF+ = A
Qiji Technology Co., Limited during the year ended 31 December 2017 ST —HIEFERBIEREFTHREK
(Note 31(a)). The net carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as AR QA (K FE3E) - A EEEEEA
follows: AT
2017 2016
—E-—tF —E-REF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ T ARETT

At 1 January Rn—A—H 104,050 97,412
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 31(a)) Ut B B 88 2 7 (BT 7 31(a)) 34,409 -
Net exchange differences VEH =5 FEE (9,016) 6,638
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 129,443 104,050

HREEERERAT —E—CEER @
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13. GOODWILL (continued) 13. E%(E)

The carrying amount of goodwill, net of any impairment loss, is

allocated to the cash generating units of the following segments:

m & 2 BREE (0 BR E DR E B 1B) 7 B
EUTOMZRAEELEM

2017 2016

—E—+tF AN S

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T AR T T

Online games business — Lianzhong Group 4% E#EEI 2 — B REE 34,609 200
Online games business — Peerless Group %% _E %78 % 7% — Peerless Group 94,834 103,850
129,443 104,050

The recoverable amounts of goodwill relating to the segment of
Online games business — Peerless Group of RMB94,834,000 (2016:
RMB103,850,000) were determined based on value-in-use
calculations, using an annual cash flow budget plan covering a five-
year period with estimated long-term growth rate of 2.3% (2016: 2.3%)
per annum for the operation. A discount factor of 16.0% (2016: 16.0%)
per annum was applied in the value in use model.

The recoverable amounts of goodwill relating to the segment of
Online games business — Lianzhong Group acquired during the year
ended 31 December 2017 of RMB34,409,000 were determined based
on value-in-use calculations, using an annual cash flow budget plan
covering a five-year period with estimated long-term growth rate of 2.9%
per annum for the operations. A discount factor of 23.4% per annum

was applied in the value in use model.

The key assumptions include stable profit margins, which have been
determined based on the expectations for market share after taking
into consideration current economic environment and market
forecast. The directors believe that any reasonably possible change in
the key assumptions on which the recoverable amounts are based
would not cause the carrying amounts of the units to exceed their
respective aggregate recoverable amounts.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017
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14. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14. RIWEB AT B ERS

R-B—tFR-F-AF+=A=+

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017 and

2016 are as follows:

—BEXEMBRARFENAT :

Issued and
Country/Place and date of paid in capital/ Equity Principal activities and
Name of company incorporation/establishment Type of legal entity registered capital interest held place of operation
BRTR
ERRL/RINER/ B4Ex/
RAER WHRAH EAER EREL HERE TEXBREEHE
Directly held by the Company
KAREERE
Lianzhong Holdings [Hong Kong) Limited ~ Hong Kong/ Limited liability company 100 ordinary shares 100%  Investment holding
18 December 2013
BRER(EE)ERAR 74 AREART 100 & @& REBR
“E-ZHETZATNR
Noble Link Global Limited British Virgin Islands ["BVI")/ Limited liability company 100 ordinary shares 100%  Investment holding
5 May 2016
AEARRER ARRERT 100 E B REZR
(ER&BR#E))/
~F-R¥hARH
Huge Grace Holdings Limited Hong Kong/18 November 2016 Limited liability company Tordinary share 100%  Investment holding
[2016: nil
5k EREAAR RERR (CT-RF:E) REBR
ZE-RET-ATAR
Indirectly held by the Company
KRAAEERE
Beijing Lianzhong Garden Network PRC/21 January 2014 Limited liability company US$350,000 100%  Provision of computer related
Technology Co., Ltd technical support, in PRC
IREFZEMENFEREALA BB/ AREMERT 350,000 7T Rep B R4 E# A
“E-mE-AZt-H R
Beijing Lianzhong Co., Ltd. PRC/23 March 1998 Limited liability company RMBT2,000,000 100% Development and operation
of online card and board
games, in PRC
ERBREDRERNERAA mE/ BERELAA AR 720000007 RPERYREEERE
-AMNEZRZ+ZAR MBS
Shanghai Yaozhong Culture Broadcast ~ PRC/ Limited liability company RMB2,000,000 51%*  Provision of cultural events
Co., Ltd. 6 July 2012 organisation and
consulting services, in
PRC
EERRED N EREREALR  HE/-T-ZF+LARA BREELA AR %2,000,0007 R ERALEDER
REARE
Lianzhong International Company Limited  BVI/ Limited liability company US$1,780,000 100% PC games operation,
11 July 2011 inPRC
BRERERAA ABBARES/ EREARA 1,780,000 T R EEEPCEE
¥ !
Shanghai Lianzhong Garden Computer ~ PRC/ Limited liability company RMB10,000,000 100% Mobile games operation,
Technology Co., Ltd. 23 October 2013 inPRC
LERRREERRNARALAT F8/ EREELT AR 100000007 RPEEEBHER
“E-=%tA-1=H

BRERZEREEAT —E-CFFR
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14. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 14. KK BRI BVEE S (=)
Issued and
Country/Place and date of paid in capital/ Equity Principal activities and
Name of company incorporation/establishment Type of legal entity registered capital interest held place of operation
BETR
TRRL/ RINER,/ BEfEr/
AGES WERAH EAER EHEX BERE TEEHRELHY

Indirectly held by the Company

(Continued)
RAREERE(E)
Nanjing Shouyou Interactive Network PRC/ Limited liability company RMB10,000,000 100% Mobile games operation,
Co., Ltd 24 February 2014 in PRC
BRENEDBEERAT HE/ BREELH A B %10,000,0007 RPEFEBIEH
“E-BE-A-1EA
Tianjin Zhangzhongshangku Technology ~ PRC/9 April 2014 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100%  Mobile games development
Co., Ltd and operation, in PRC
REEPHEMBARAR hE/ AREMLRA ARH1,0000007 RPBRERELL DB
“Z-IEEANA
Tianjin Wanlianshifang Technology PRC/9 April 2014 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% Mobile games development
Co., Ltd. and operation, in PRC
REEBTARBARLT hE/"E-DEMAAA AREARA AR #1,0000007 REERERELRY
BE
Tianjin Juxian Tongchuang Technology ~ PRC/31 October 2014 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% Mobile games development
Development Co., Ltd. and operation, in PRC
REREREMEERARAT hE/ BRERAR AFH1,0000007 RPBEIRE RELHEEE
“E-META=T-H
Tianjin Miaoshou Kuyou Information PRC/31 October 2014 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% Mobile games development
Technology Co., Ltd. and operation, in PRC
REYFEBERRMARLT e/ ARARA AFH1,0000007 R ERERELLEE
“E-METAZT-H
Tianjin Shouyou Shikong Information PRC/31 October 2014 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% Mobile games development
Technology Co., Ltd. and operation, in PRC
RREERERERNERLT T/ ERELF ARH1,0000007 R EREREEREEN
“E-IE+A=ZT-H
Tianjin Lianzhong Yidong Technology PRC/11 November 2014 Limited liability company RMB10,000,000 100% PC and mobile games
Development Co., Ltd. development and
operation, in PRC
REBRRGNEARERLT mE/ ERELF ARE10,0000007 RPERERELPCR
“E-RE+-At-H oS
Tianjin Lianzhong Enjoyment Technology ~ PRC/4 December 2014 Limited liability company RMB100,000,000 100% Mobile games development
Development Limited and operation, in PRC
REBREBNRBRARAA wE/ BREELA AR#100,0000007 REERERELRE
“E-EEt-ANA EH

@4 Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

14. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 14. KK BRI BVEE S (=)
Issued and
Country/Place and date of paid in capital/ Equity Principal activities and
Name of company incorporation/establishment Type of legal entity registered capital interest held place of operation
BETR
TRRL/ RINER,/ BEfEr/
AGES WERAH EAER EHEX BERE TEEHRELHY

Indirectly held by the Company

(Continued)
RAREERE(E)
Dalian Zhangzhong Youshi Technology ~ PRC/9 December 2014 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% Mobile games development
Development Co., Ltd. and operation, in PRC
REZHEIHERRBRAR wE/ZB-MET-ANR BREELAH AR#1,0000007T ReERELERRD
B
Beijing Guangyao Hudong Technology PRC/7 December 2016 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100%  Investment holding, in PRC
Development Co., Ltd. [2016: nil)
AEAREIUEERARAA hE/ BRRELF AREI0000007 (ZF—7%F &) RoBRERE
“E-RETZAtH
Tianjin Shengyou Times Technology PRC/21 July 2015 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100%  Investment holding, in PRC
Development Co., Ltd.
RREERANRERERAA WE/ZZ-REtAZ+t-8 AREALA AR #1,0000007T RBEREER
Beijing Wangyu Lianzhong Internet PRC/12 August 2015 Limited liability company RMB30,000,000 69.45%**  Operation of an internet cafe,
Service Co., Ltd [2016:60.45%)  inPRC
IRBEHREHA L BRE hE/ AREALT ARB00000T  (ZF-A%F: RPEEE-RBE
BRAF “Z-1%)\ATZA 80.45%)
Tianjin Allied Esports Internet PRC/25 December 2015 Limited liability company RMB67,918,000 69.45%  Investment holding, in PRC
Technology Co., Ltd. [2016: 60.45%)
["Tianjin Allied Esports’]
AEBEERERBNRERAT  HE/ ERERAT AREGNB00T  (ZF—7E: ROEREZR
(REBEER]) “E-REtACtR 80.45%)
=
Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji Technology Co.,  PRC/26 December 2014 Limited liability company RMB666,700 100% PC and mobile games
Limited [2016: 0l development and
ERERFPREERAF - operation, in PRC
“Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji*)
IREFFRHRARAT mE/ EREMLAA AREs6T0L (ZF—7F:8) RPERERELPCR
(ERERFH]) ZE-MEFZAZ+RA BaEg
Peerless Media Limited Gibraltar/27 September 2004 Limited liability company 2,200 ordinary shares 100%  Television production, brand
licensing and tour
management, in Gibraltar
EfER/ BEREERT 22008 & B REMERIEZFERAR
“EEMEAAC-TLA 2 BERERL
BER
Club Service Inc. US/3 March 2010 Limited liability company T ordinary share 100% PC and mobile games
development and
operation, in US
8/ EREEAT 1R BER REEFREREEPCR
“E2-TH=-f=H BEHEE

BRERZEREEAT —E-CFFR
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14. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Country/Place and date of

Name of company incorporation/establishment Type of legal entity
EMEL/ RIVER/
NEER HERAH EARR

14. R BRIV )

Issued and
paid in capital/ Equity Principal activities and
registered capital interest held place of operation
BRTR
(-4

EREx KARE ZEXHRELHY

Indirectly held by the Company

(Continued)
RAREERE(E)
WPT Enterprise Inc us/ Limited liability company
16 October 2009
*8/ AREERT
“EEAETATAR
Allied Esports International Holdings US/5 October 2017 Limited liability company
Limited
XE/ZZ-+ETAEH AREERT
Allied Esports International, Inc. US/25 January 2017 Limited liability company
XB/-F—+F-A-THA BREMAF
ELC Gaming Limited Ireland/11 July 2016 Limited liability company
BRM/-T-RFLAT-H BREEAA
ELC Gaming GmbH Germany/2 June 2016 Limited liability company
#0/-F-AFAA"R  HRELLA
Champ Creation International Limited HK/8 November 2016 Limited liability company

BE/ZZ-R"ET-ANR  BREEAA

The directors of the Company consider that the non-controlling interests
in each of these subsidiaries during the years ended 31 December 2016
and 2017 were not individually material to the Group and thus no
separate financial information of each of these non-wholly owned
subsidiaries are presented.

o Held under Tianjin Allied Esports

The English name of certain companies referred herein represent
management’s best effort at translating the Chinese names of these

companies as no English name has been registered.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017

1 ordinary share 100% Television production, brand
licensing and tour
management, in US

TRE AR REBUEEEARY
fFaBERERLE
BE
EUR1 69.45%**  Investment holding, in US
(2016: nil)

1B (CF-R%:8) REERAER

- 69.45%**  Operation of eSports
[2016: 0] activities, in US
- (CE-REE) REEELEREHR

EUR100 48.61%  Operation of eSports
activities, in Europe
100B0 T RENEZEHER
EUR25,000 48.61% Operation of eSports
activities, in Europe
25,0008 7T RENELEREH
1 ordinary share 69.45%**  Investment holding, in HK
REER RERREER

* RAAREERARZENBRAR ZIF
EREEREE T - "FR_2F—
tE+ A=+ HLEFEEFHAR
SEMSLTAEKN I RFEZFHE
ENBAREB20HBEER -

o REBBEBRSE

RBERTRAME T AR EZTET
HEREERSEAZE IHZERAIZAF
XNEBBEMR  AETEETERNE
15 ©
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14. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 14. RIWE R T VELRS @)
The following table list out the financial information related to Tianjin TERHBINEBREHBEEFZRAMB A
Allied Esports and its subsidiaries, of which the Group has material Al (AEBHEAERNEZERER) NP B
non-controlling interests. The summarised financial information BHR o TX 258855 E R B E R ME
presented below represents the amounts before any inter-company Al A &) 4 85 BT A9 FXIE o
elimination.

Tianjin Allied Esports Group

XEWEEHEE
2017 2016
—®-—tE —EF—x%
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTTT

Proportion of ownership interests and voting 3£ i% I B8 f1 45 6 ¥ B 1 &

rights held by the non-controlling & =R L (B EE)

shareholders (note) 30.55% 39.55%
Current assets mEVE E 142,483 17,186
Non-current assets ERBEE 100,941 25,729
Current liabilities mEARE (15,616) (21,216)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (194,178) -
Net assets EEFE 33,630 21,699
Revenue PN 20,095 6,186
Other income E A A 402 17
Total expenses M 4% (74,615) (25,377)
Loss for the year FREIE (54,118) (19,174)
Other comprehensive income for the year & N E f 2 B W &= 2,810 54
Total comprehensive loss for the year FATHEBGIELE (51,308) (19,120)
Loss attributable to equity holders of RRABIRERE AEGER

the Company (35,158) (9,786)
Loss attributable to non-controlling FE VR IR AR SR FE AL T 1B

shareholders (18,960) (9,388])

(54,118) (19.174)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to RARIREREARBEEZEER

equity holders of the Company 4a % (32,683) (9,763
Total comprehensive loss attributable to FEIE R AR R (L 2 W B 1B

non-controlling shareholders FERE (18,625) (9,357)

(51,308) (19,120)

Net cash flows (used in}/from operating wEES(FTA) /B ReERE

activities FE (86,579) 2,790
Net cash flows used in investing activities & & EFETAR S K EFE (138,093) (11,358)
Net cash flows from financing activities mEETBAERSAEFE 254,178 15,000
Net cash inflows REenm A FE 29,506 6,432

HREEERERAT —E—CEER @
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14. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 14

Note: In July 2017, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement with
the non-controlling shareholder of Tianjin Allied Esports, pursuant to
which, the Group acquired additional 9% equity interest in Tianjin Allied
Esports held by the non-controlling shareholder. As a result of the
equity transfer, the Group’s equity interest in Tianjin Allied Esports was
increased from 60.45% to 69.45%.

15. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 15.

. KRB R IOV )

M RM—F—tFEth AEBEHEXEH

BEBOFERBRRT L D RESE

B B AREBERERER

FfT 4% RO B B2 F 5 9% AR HE o Fh B0 AR 4

HEAKERREHBAERORER
60.45% 38 & 69.45% °

RIE ATV

2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARETT

At 1 January n—H—H 75,894 13,768
Additions NE 36,778 54,845
Disposal & (6,236) —
Reclassification from interest in EMffBARERENDE(WE)

a subsidiary (note c) 1,033 12,011
Share of loss of associates DIEHE A REE (4,554) (503)
Provision for impairment of interest in REEE R B 2 R ERE

associates —_ (4,227)
At 31 December w+-—A=+—~ 102,915 75.894
Share of net assets DIEEEFE 41,218 14,777
Goodwill [ 61,697 61,117

102,915 75,894

Movement in the provision for impairment of interest in associates is

RBERRZEDRERBESHOT :

as follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
At 1 January R—A—H 4,227 —
Provision for impairment for the year FRRE B = 4,227
At 31 December R+—_B=+—H 4,227 4,227

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017
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15. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 15. R E NI @)

RZE—+F+R=+—H A&EEHEH
ATHERREBHAKBELTEANKZRQ

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had interests in the following
associates, all of which are considered not individually material to the

Group: Al :
Attributable
Country of equity interest Principal activities and
Name of company establishment Paid in capital  held by the Group place of operation
AEEERH
NEEW R KB R BaRE FBERE TEXBRELHE
Beijing Linghegu Online Technology PRC RMB1,371,429 14.21%  Provision of technology
Co., Ltd. ["Beijing Linghegu) development and
[notes a & e consultation services, in
PRC
ERERBRBENREREELF i ANERHE1371,6297T T A B 4 A e 7l 2
(MHEREBRRD) (Mialke) AR
Tianjin Huandu Network Technology PRC RMB127,692 27.3% Operation of billiards
Co., Ltd ["Tianjin Huandu") business and
development of mabile
games, in PRC
REBERERBEERAA i AE#127,6927T R EEEERER R
((R=2BED GEEEZIhE
Chengdu ZhiWeiXing Network Technology PRC RMB1,000,000 15.0% Mobile game development
Co., Ltd. ["ZhiWeiXing"] (note a) and operation, in PRC
HEEMERRREERAA i A #1,000,0007T REERELEERD
(MM E]D) (Ha) BB
Tianjing Zhongqi Weiye Sports PRC RMB10,526,320 40.6% Mobile games development
Development Co., Ltd. ("Tianjing (2016: 45.6%) and operation, in PRC
Zhongqi Weiye") [note b)
REPEEXREERAERAA i AE#10,526,3207C (ZB—RF: RTERBEREERD
(TR HEMEZE]) (D) 45.6%)  BE
Beijing Zhijing Zhonghe Cultural Media PRC RMB3,950,000 35.0% Mobile games development
Co., Ltd. ["Beijing Zhijing Zhonghe") and operation, in PRC
EREBRREXBEEER LA i AR #3,950,000 7T REERELEERD
([EREHEEE]) BB
Beijing Zhangwanbao Information PRC RMBS,750,000 35.0% Mobile games development
Technology Co., Ltd. ("Beijing and operation, in PRC
Zhangwanbao”)
LIREEEEERMERAF i AR H#5,750,000 7T REERELEERD
([EREBE) BE
HREARERBRAT “F—CEFEER
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15. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 15. R E NI @)
Attributable
Country of equity interest Principal activities and
Name of company establishment Paid in capital  held by the Group place of operation
AEEBRH

AREE RYHER BERkRA BiERE FREKRELHE

Beijing Xunteng Tianxia Technology PRC RMB1,250,000 20.0% Mobile games development
Co., Ltd. ["Beijing Xunteng Tianxia") and operation, in PRC

ERABRTHEERAA PE AR 1,250,000 7T RAEREREERE
(MEEAEXTD) A

Hainan Tichuang Lianzhong Sport Cultural PRC RMB5,000,000 45.0% Mobile games development
Co., Ltd. ("Hainan Tichuang Lianzhong"] and operation, in PRC

BHEEHREEXLERAAF PE A K #5,000,0007 RAEREREERE
(MemEEsR]) A

Beijing Shuimu Zhiyu Technology Co., Ltd. PRC RMB1,538,460 23.88% Mobile games development
("Beijing Shuimu Zhiyu") and operation, in PRC

ERAARERBEERAA PE AR 1,538,4607C RAEREREERE
(MHERARELR]) A

Beijing Shigi Zhiyi Culture Broadcast Co.,  PRC RMB50,000 40.0% Mobile games development
Ltd. ("Beijing Shigi Zhiyi") and operation, in PRC

ERUEEEXCERERAEAR FE AR 50,0007 RAEREREERE
(MEREHEEZE]) A

Beijing Weichu Information Technology PRC RMB1,538,460 35.0% Mobile games development
Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Weichu") and operation, in PRC

ERBBEERTERRA PE AR 1,538,4607C RAEREREERE
(T g 1) A

Zhike Zongheng Cultural Media (Beijing] ~ PRC RMB289,465 20.0% Mobile games development
Co., Ltd. ["Zhike Zongheng”) and operation, in PRC

BRME U EER) BRAF hE AR 289,4657C RPEREREEBE
(B4R i

Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon Sports PRC RMB10,000,000 42.5% QOperation of racing pigeon
Culture Development Co., Ltd. ("Beijing (2016:nil)  sports competitions, in
Chinese Racing Pigeon”) PRC

R RERE L ERERAR T AR®100000007 (ZF—RE:8) RTEELHSBERE

(MERFHESE])

Ourgame International Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2017
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15. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

15. R E N TV @)

Attributable
Country of equity interest Principal activities and
Name of company establishment Paid in capital  held by the Group place of operation
AEEREH
NEEW RIMER BaRE BERE TRXBRELHE
Beijing Yiqu Hucai Technology Co., Ltd. PRC RMB1,000,000 30.0% Mobile games development
["Beijing Yiqu Hucai") (2076:nil)  and operation, in PRC
ERZEBEYVRRERAF hE AR®10000007 (ZB—RF -8 RPEARERELBHE
([ERZEBEF]) B
Beijing Boyue Ledong Technology Co., Ltd. PRC RMB50,000,000 30.0% Mobile games development
("Beijing Boyue Ledong”) (2076:nil)  and operation, in PRC
ERBEREGREERAA hE AR®50,000000t (ZB—RF: &) RPERERELELYE
(MHEmEG 2e]) B
Shenzhen Seg Lianzhong Internet PRC RMB24,800,000 45.0% Operation of eSports
Technology Co., Ltd. (2016: nil) stadium, in PRC
["Shenzhen Seg Lianzhong”)
RYERBZEHANRERAF hE AR®24800000T (ZB—RF:E) NPELEEHER
(MR R])
eSports Arena LLC ("eSports Arena”) Us US$2,809,000 18% Organising and broadcasting
[note a (2076:nil)  video gaming
competitions and
entertainment events in
the eSports industry, in
us
eSports Arena LLC ([eSports Arenal) xH 28090007 (ZZ—RF:E) REBEELEESTER
(M &Ea) HERERITEORE
HH

HREARSBRERAT —E—CEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REOMBRITME (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

15.

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Management has assessed the level of influence that the Group has on
certain associates, with a total carrying amount of RMB14,880,000 as at
31 December 2017 (2016: RMB3,488,000), and determined that it has
significant influence even though the respective shareholding is below
20% because of the board representation. Consequently, these
investments have been classified as the Group’s associates.

In December 2017, the Group has disposed of 5% equity interests in
Tianjing Zhongqui Weiye for a cash consideration of RMB35,000,000. The
key terms are as follows:

Profit Guarantee

Pursuant to the disposal agreement, the Group undertook that the
audited net profit of Tianjing Zhongqui Weiye for the year ending 31
December 2017 and 31 December 2018 shall not be less than
RMB20,000,000 and RMB50,000,000 respectively (the “Tianjing Zhongqui
Weiye's Guarantee Profit”]. If the audited net profits are less than the
guaranteed amount, the Group shall transfer to the buyer a maximum of
5% equity interests in Tianjing Zhongqui Weiye at nil consideration.

Option to acquire further interest in the Tianjing Zhongqui Weiye

The Group has granted an option to the buyer an option to acquire a
further 5% equity interest in the Tianjing Zhongqui Weiye at a cash
consideration of RMB35,000,000 within twelve months of the disposal
date (the “Tianjing Zhongqui Weiye's Call Option”).

The directors, with assistance of a professional valuer, have determined
the fair values of the Tianjing Zhongqui Weiye's Guarantee Profit and the
Tianjing Zhongqui Weiye's Call Option amounting to RMB2,422,000 at
the date of the acquisition. The amount is recognised as contingent
consideration payable of the Group (Note 21)).

—tFT_A=1T—HLFE

15. REEE X TV )

F

(a)

(b)

B

EEEETGEASEHE TR =% —
t+-_ A=+t BEEEAEAR
#14,880,000L(=ZF — N F: AR¥
3,488,000 7T ) Ky B & R A B9 &2 B K F1E
HifE TEE RERAERREER

0% EERECEEETENTE  HY
BERNRDBEATE At - 2FK

BEWDERAEEBEANT -

R-ZT—+tFE+=-f AEEEHEX
EREMEERRE BERER/AR
#:35,000,0007T ° F E R0 T ¢

B ER

BRELEHZ A5EEAFHE=

—t&Ft+t=-_A=+— EI&_Z*)\E
T A=+ BLEEERERHEMEE
KEZEFNFEDINABIRARE
20,000,000t & A K ¥ 50,000,000 7t ([ K
AR MEEERE R o 8 E %5 T
FHIONERSE ASEEERER
EERFRHMEERZ5%RME -

WERBOEERRIIMES CBIRE

AEEMEFREH—BEERE UBRE
KB A B #35,000,000 7T 4% B8 X 2 b 1
MEZEEEING % 2 B ([ RIFFRHIMEER
BEHARE]) -

EEREEGHEMOGE R UEB H
EETXREPHEHEEERENRXRZE
FEGEERBEHENAABARE
24220007 - Z S HEERRAELAEEE
A NRE (MFEE21) ©

RMB'000

ARETTT

Consideration receivable FEU KB 35,000

Net assets disposed of HEEEFE (4,946)
Fair values of Tianjing Zhongqui Weiye's REFEHEXEERBFNEREZFEMEERFEHED

Guarantee Profit and Tianjing Zhongqui Weiye's A 7 1& (M 5E21)
Call Option (Note 21) (2,422)
Gain on partial disposal of an associate (Note 5) 1 & — BB & A 7 2 25 W= (f &F5) 27,632

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017
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15. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

15. Rt E QT VER @)

A gain on disposal of partial interest of RMB27,632,000 was

recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December

2017.

(c) Upon the Group disposed of 12.5% equity interest in Beijing Chinese
Racing Pigeon Sports Culture Development Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Chinese

Racing Pigeon”) in July 2017, the Group's equity interest in Beijing
Chinese Racing Pigeon was reduced to 42.5%, resulting in loss of

control over Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon. Accordingly, the fair value

of the retained interest in Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon amounting to
RMB1,033,000 was reclassified as interest in associates (Note 32(a)).

Set out below are the summarised financial information of each of the

material associate which are accounted for using the equity method:

Bt : (&)

b) (&)
HE-_T—+tF+-_A=+—B1L
FE - HEF B 2HEZARE
27,632,0007C B R Bz W HERR ©

€ RZZT—tFLtAXEEHEHLRF
BEEBEXEEERBRARA(ILERSF
A1) 125% R EE - REBRILERF
B Z B HER B 42.5% » EH K E YL
R A IR IAE o E it AL R R
BHRBEZMNA R EAR1,033,000
TEFDE AR S AR MRS (M=
(32a)) ©

TREVNSEZHLERAERAERIEA
BRZHMBERBE

Beijing Weichu Tianjing Zhonggi Weiye eSports

1t = 8 RIFFEHMEE Arena

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017

—E—tF —ZT—RF ZE—tF TN —E—+tF

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARE®TT AR%¥®TR AR®TT AR%®TxR

Current assets TmENEE 15,617 23,206 56,193 23,206 4,519

Non-current assets  FEREEE 205 344 10,007 344 21,813

Current liabilities BB E (259) (1,903) (25,950) (1,903) (22,694)

Net assets BEZFHE 15,563 21,647 40,250 21,647 3,638

Revenue Iz 7,956 21 50,255 6,719 13,188

Total expenses G (12,759) (14,654) (29,910) (12,117) (24,397)
Profit/(Loss) before  Br&i AT F, /(&5 18)

tax (4,803) (14,633) 20,345 (5,398) (11,209)

Income tax expense  FT{SFiB =X = - — - -

Profit/(Loss) for the R F(Ei8)
year (4,803) (14,633) 20,345 (5,398) (11,209)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRKRME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 HE=ZFT—+F + A=+ —HILFE

15. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the

carrying amount of each of the investments in associate is set out

15. REEE X TV )

£ XU A B TS B R A A R A A

FREEHRHIIWT

below:
Beijing Weichu Tianjing Zhongqgi Weiye eSports
3k I 1 RIZ P A2 Arena
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017
ZE—tF ZE—RF ZE—tF ZZE—RFE =ZE—tHF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TIT AR¥TR AR TR AR%®TR
Total net assets of BERNACEES
associates &4 58 15,563 21,647 40,250 21,647 3,638
Proportion of $E@T—iﬂﬁ%ﬁ%
ownership interests  #£z5 £ 17l
held by Group 35.0% 35.0% 40.6% 45.6% 18.0%
Goodwill GES 27,424 27,424 - - 10,895
Carrying amountof — RERE BB HRET A
the interest in ZEE N T R
associates in the ZIREE
consolidated
financial statements 32,871 35,000 16,342 9,871 11,550
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material: WIERBIE AR 2B ZE AT EEER :
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Aggregate carrying amount of individually ~ R4R& B ISR &R AW IE @RI &K
immaterial associates in the consolidated ~ ZBf& QN &E] 2 ERAEE 4278
financial statements 42,152 28,883
Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of ALEBEGZERZ N 15
those associates: RI8 7 #E%E -
Profit/(Loss) and total comprehensive FRERN(EBE) Re2Eks
income/[loss] for the year (BB ws (10,133) (503)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mEMBRETMEE (B)
Fortheyearended 31 December2017 HE=ZFT—+F + - A=+—HILFE
16. LOANS TO THIRD PARTIES 16. P E=ZER
2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET AR T T
Non-current portion JEENEI o
Loans = 13,890 44,600
Interest receivables JE U 71| B 540 7,976
14,430 52,576
Current portion BIHA 3B &
Loans g 46,000 1,500
Interest receivables JE U B 12,735 —
58,735 1,500
73,165 54,076

As at 31 December 2017, long-terms loans amounting to R ZZT — £ F Jr —“A=+—H'  AR%
RMB13,890,000 (2016: RMB44,600,000) are secured by unlisted equity ~ 13,890,0007C ( = & — /X & : A & 44,600,000
interest in companies of the debtors incorporated in the PRC with 7o) 2 K EIE &K EE O HR B A S B B A
interest at rates ranging from 4.75% to 12% (2016: 4.75% to 12%) per A& ZIE ETHREER - FFH = /|\$4 75% =

annum and repayable in 2019. 12%(ZF—NF 1 475%E12%) BAR =T —
NEEE-

As at 31 December 2017, the loans to third parties of RMB46,000,000 RZ-Z—+tF+=-_A=+—H K TFE=H
(2016: RMB1,500,000) become due within next 12 months and are ~ Z B A R#¥ 46,000,000 (ZF—RF: AR
included in current portion, of which, the amount of RMB40,000,000 is ~ #1,500,00070) # MR R+ =@ A W EI 8 B &
secured by unlisted equity interest in company of the debtor ¥EBIEAZSS @ E & A K #40,000,0007T 2 & 58
incorporated in the PRC with interest rate at 12% (2016: 12%) per FA R .EE\EHHEXIE']%W/\“EZ#J:T‘F%
annum. The remaining balances amounting to RMB5,000,000 and # &R+ FHEE12%(ZF — N F : 12%) °
RMB1,000,000 are unsecured with interest rate at 4.35% (2016: nil) /\E’r‘ﬁ5 000,0007T & A R # 1,000 OUUﬁ:Zﬁ%—F
and interest-free respectively. The carrying amount of the amounts &SR EIELR  FH KR BL35% (ZZF—RF :
due approximate their fair values. )Eﬁ S ZIHE IEZEEETEEQ DA
*H

HREARSBRERAT —E—CEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
iR e U MER M ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

17. INVENTORIES 17. B&
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET ARET T
Finished goods BIAY @ 1,235 1,248

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the cost of inventories HZEZE-ZET—tF+_A=+—HILEFE &

recognised as expense and included in selling and marketing RARITTAEERTSEHEEEBRANGTE

expenses amounted to RMB1,708,000 (2016: RMB3,928,000). RARBARKIT8000T(ZF—RF: AR
#3,928,0007T)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. ES R EMBIWMRIE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B o AR®T T ARETTT

Trade receivables ESEWRE (a)
From third parties EUE =7 215,356 210,066
Less: provision for impairment of B 5 RYGRIEIRE
trade receivables B (10,133) (10,133)
205,223 199,933
Other receivables H b fE W TR 1B (b)
Deposits, prepayments and other e BN RIE R E A E
receivables W k8 143,575 92,417
Advances to employees M 1{E 8 1E B 2 5K 25,872 16,780
Amounts due from associates JFE Uk B 2 N B SR IE 28,730 2,780
Interest receivables JiE W 1 B, = 155
198,177 112,132
Less: provision for impairment of B B FEUCGRIARLE
other receivables B1E (1,000) (1,000]
197,177 111,132
402,400 311,065

The directors of the Group considered that the fair values of tradeand AEEEZRAE 5 K EMEWRKIEN 2 R
other receivables are not materially different from their carrying BEEFEZFHREEBEITESAEZR  WIARZ
amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods on their ~ E & 8RN E £ &G B A ZIH -

inception.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BREME (E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a) Trade receivables

Trade receivables were arising from the operation of online
card and board games. The credit terms of trade receivables
granted to distribution channels and payment vendors are
usually 30 to 90 days. Ageing analysis based on recognition date

of the gross trade receivables at the reporting dates is as

18. ES R EMEBRIE @

(a)

2 5 e W 3 IE R B 1 43 1 b 3
XK -BRIoHERERIMEER
MEZREBEFENEENRBRE A
0B E9H - RN EHHAREE S
FERFRIEABNRERBH 2 RE

follows: N i N
2017 2016

—E—+tF —TE—RF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ET AR T T

0-30 days 0%30H 71,976 71,345
31-60 days 31E260H 26,273 15,136
61-90 days 612 90H 6,424 18,666
91-180 days 91%180H 34,547 54,331
181-365 days 181 £ 365 H 6,545 35,950
Over 1 year HBid1F 69,591 14,638
215,356 210,066

The movement in the provision for impairment of trade
receivables is as follows:

BHRBFARERBEBDNT

2017 2016
—®—tF  —F-AF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Balance at the beginning of the year 4 f145 & 10,133 2,889
Provision for impairment VERERE L] - 7,244
Balance at the end of the year FR & 10,133 10,133

HREEERERAT —E—CEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 18. EZS R EMEWRIE @)

(a) Trade receivables (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group reviews for evidence of
impairment on both an individual and collective basis. As at 31
December 2017, the Group has determined trade receivables of
RMB10,133,000 (2016: RMB10,133,000) as individually impaired.
Based on this assessment, provision for impairment loss has
been recognised accordingly and has been included in
“administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The impaired
trade receivables are due from distribution channels and
payment vendors experiencing financial difficulties that were in
default or delinquency of payments. The Group did not hold any
collateral as security or other credit enhancements over the
impaired trade receivables, whether determined on an
individual or collective basis.

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables that were
past due as at the reporting date but not impaired, based on
due date is as follows:

(a) ESEINIRIE @)

RERSESAH  AEEC ZHE5
EHERBENER R-_F—t
F+ZA=+—H AEBET
ERRENE 5 EUKKIEBARE
10,133,000t (ZE —RF : AR
10,133,0007T) R % it H ¥ 14 - B
BEEERBEEERALD T AR
EREMEMEERERITTREA
XA BERDHERER N HE
BHEREEZEZEKFKIEATIEE
BUMHRRE BHOLERNEK K
SEYRRDBENE S ERK
B (A fE R sk KR EE) 7 B F
MERRERERIEMERER-

REBHWESHERABRARER
HEBBERRE  ZIHBEHE
RO :

2017 2016
—g—t% —T-AF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

1-90 days past due BEI1ZE90H 56,121 43,648
91-180 days past due #HEI91£180H 6,684 55,301
181-365 days past due #HF 1812365 H 36,963 8,078
Over 1 year past due BHIR @ F 27,208 4,505

126,976 111,532

As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables that were neither
past due nor impaired were RMB?78,247,000 (2016:
RMB88,401,000). These related to a number of distribution
channels and payment vendors for whom there was no recent
history of default.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BERME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to a number of distribution channels and third-party payment
vendors that had a good track record of credit with the Group.
Based on past credit history, management believe that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balances are still considered to be fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral in respect of trade
receivables past due but not impaired.

As at 31 December 2017, 32% (2016: 32%) of trade receivables
are due from three (2016: three] major distribution channels
and payment vendors in cooperation with the Group’'s online
card and board games business.

Other receivables

Advances to employees mainly represent advances for various
expenses to be incurred in the ordinary course of business.
These advances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

There were no movement in the provision for impairment of
other receivables during the years ended 31 December 2017
and 2016.

—tFT_A=1T—HLFE

(a)

(b)

8. EZ R EMEWMRIR @)

B EIWRIE (&)

EBHERRENESEWHKE
BASEBRERIFERELEND
HWRERE=ZITXNHEEEH -
REBEEERE ERERRH
RESEEERLARAELEEAE
8 BRFEKRDERENTTHK
[ - B 7 B 5% A ERF AR
BEEF AKEALRKEECBHMER
BB E 5 WK IR R A E AR
Tﬁal:ll:l °

R=ZFT—+tF+=—A=+—8"
RB(ZEFE—RNF:02%)WE S E
WHRBBDEKRB=ZR(ZZ —
F . ZR)HEAKNEE G RE
BEEAENEZESHEHEERY
TR ER -

H {1 & WX R IR

MEBEENB2REZELEREE
XBBRTMELASERINR
Ko ZERFABKRAR 22 HBAE
BEREE -

BE_T—tFR-_F—RF+
:H:+—E¢¢ﬁ'ﬁm%W%
HRER B RS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(c) Loans to associates

18. ES R EMEBRIE @

(c)

fBPHELICER
2017 2016
—E—+tfF —ENEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T ARETTT

Non-current portion BN
Loans BX 21,979 —
Current portion BIHA 3B &
Loans = 6,800 —
Interest receivables JE U F) B 331 —
7,132 —
29,111 —

As at 31 December 2017, the loans to associates of
RMB27,179,000 (2016: nil] are unsecured, interest-bearing at
rates ranging from 4.4% to 6% (2016: nill per annum and
repayable from 2018 to 2021.

As at 31 December 2017, the loan to an associate of
RMB1,600,000 (2016: nil] are secured by unlisted equity interest
in an investment of that associate incorporated in the PRC,
interest-bearing at 4.8% (2016: nil] per annum and repayable
within one year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBRETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 9. IHHEEEMEE

2017 2016
—g—t% —T~F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Included in non-current assets FAAERDEE
Unlisted equity investments, at cost less ELETRARE - KA
impairment losses BEEE 154,344 110,759
Included in current assets FARBEE
Unlisted financial products, at fair value EETMEMESR AL ER 20,000 70,000
174,344 180,759
The unlisted equity investments are stated at cost less impairment FLETMRAZERZKNANRBRRESIE
losses as these investments do not have quoted market prices in an PR AARZEREREGIARTSHNR
active market and the range of reasonable fair value estimates are so B BEfstAAENEREHENREE &
significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion that its RN ARABEFRREAAE TR E
fair value cannot be measured reliably. MEHE o
The certain investments in unlisted equity securities have been RIELTRAZFRZ2E TIREKRNZ
measured at fair value as described in Note 33(g). Blg it AR B = -

HREARSBRERAT —E—CEER @
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M BRITME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 20. RITHEBRRERE

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET ARET T
Cash at bank and on hand RITEFERS 187,110 196,802
Restricted bank balances PR I SR 1T 45 5 52,410 —
Term deposits with banks EHSR T 5K 7,846 86,796
Bank balances and cash per the FAEMBARRARPIRITESRR
consolidated statement of financial bR
position 247,366 283,598
Less: Restricted bank balances B 2R B IRITE R (52,410) —
Cash and cash equivalents per the FeRenEXxTRe kRS
consolidated statement of cash flows =87 194,956 283,598

The Group’s major subsidiaries are based in the PRC and majority of
their transactions are denominated in RMB. Included in bank
balances and cash of the Group is RMB95,417,000 (2016:
RMB172,316,000) of bank balances denominated in Renminbi ("RMB”)
placed with banks in the PRC. The conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government. As of 31 December 2017
and 2016, other than the restriction from exchange control

regulations, there is no significant restriction on the Group.

Restricted bank balances represented cash held under an escrow
account to be used for construction of property, plant and equipment
in the United States.
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S M BREME (E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

21. ESREMBNANRIE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR®T T AR T T
Trade payables ESEARE
To third parties EBNE=H 33,404 38,715
To an assaciate JE — I HE & A ) 1,293 1,740
34,697 40,455
Other payables H fth FE {3 R IE
Receipts in advance T W K IE 231 177
Other payables and accrued charges H A 58 K fEET B A 40,042 17,226
Other tax liabilities HBRIE 4,873 4,151
Staff costs and welfare accruals et B TR RAE T 7,675 12,802
Contingent consideration payable JE A S SR RAB (BT 3E31(b))
(Note 31(b)) - 18,889
Deferred income related to government 74 B8 B T # B) & AU IE & YR A
grants — 750
Contingent consideration payable for W g R 2 R M AR R
profit guarantee and further acquisition — FI¥E (R 2 # — 25 U g HA
option in relation to the acquisition of B ENRARE
Tianjing Zhongqui Weiye (Note 15(b)) (MF5E15(b)) 2,422 -
Contingent consideration payable for We B b 7 5 Hp A U6 AR B &
profit guarantee in relation to the FERZ EMHARE
acquisition of Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji (Mg 3E31(a))
(Note 31(a)) 906 —
56,149 53,995
90,846 94,450

FERBEERESH At R=2F—+

All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of trade

and other payables as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were considered FER_F—RNF+_A=+—HZES
to be a reasonable approximation of its fair value. REMEMRENRAERESE AR
BzaBAE-

HREEERERAT —E—CEER @
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S M BRKRME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Trade payables primarily related to the purchase of services for
server custody, outsourcing game development and the revenue
sharing of licensed and third-party operated PC games and which is
payable to cooperated game developers according to respective
cooperation agreements. The credit terms granted are usually 30 to
90 days.

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on recognition date is as

21. ESREMBENARIER @

BZRNFBAETRRARRBERLEE 4
BEBRAERRES B A FHHELS
BE LI 2B = 7 45 & PC IR FE T 1 3 T Y
WASKEB ERHEEHEE /IO
290H -

B 5 RN RIERER B HE R 20

follows: N
2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBT T
0-30 days 0E30H 15,278 18,270
31-60 days 31E60H 6,401 9,138
61-90 days 61E90H 576 7,869
91-180 days 91Z 180 H 1,895 2,294
181-365 days 1812365 H 5,142 1,105
Over 1 year fBil—F 4,112 1,779
33,404 40,455
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REMBRETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

22. OTHER NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLE/ 22. HMIERES B RIE BN
PAYABLE E Q1]

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET ARET T

Non-current receivable IE 7 B FE R IE
Current portion BN ER =B > 38,872 25,285
Non-current portion SERNERER 5 256 13,759
39,128 39,044

Non-current payable ERE BT RRIE
Current portion BIER &8 2 38,872 25,285
Non-current portion JERDEREB & 256 13,759
39,128 39,044

In 2015, the Group has acquired the non-current receivable and
payable through the acquisition of Peerless Group. Other non-current
payable represents a contingent consideration payable to a third party
by Peerless and a subsidiary of bwin.party digital entertainment plc
("bwin.party”) for the then acquisition of the WPT brand in 2009 and
subsequent buy-out in 2012 of the contingent revenue share element.
Subject to certain conditions, including subsequent changes in
legislation in the US, the maximum aggregate contingent
consideration payable by Peerless Group and bwin.party’s subsidiary
amounted to US$6,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB42,208,000).

MRZE—RF A5 EBBYWEPeerless
Group 2% 15 3E It B & W X I8 K FE 5 3K
I8 o H b 3E /7% B FE - 5% IH 8 Peerless &
bwin.party digital entertainment plc ([ bwin.
partyl) — B AR ENE=ZFR=
TEZNFURBWTRER ZHAKE
REER-_ZE-—_FHBEROIA
Wamaln o RIEE THRME(BEEEE
R FE & & &) - Peerless Group & bwin.
party Mt B AR ER & LI ARE K
= A6500000X T(HERMARE
42,208,0007T)
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M B R RMEE (8)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

22.

248

OTHER NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLE/
PAYABLE (continued)

As at 31 December 2017, other non-current payable represents the
directors” current best estimate of the amount payable which they
consider is likely to be paid within and after twelve months from the
reporting date, after the effects of discounting at the effective interest
rate of 10.3% (2016: 10.3%). The directors of the Group consider that
the fair values are not materially different from their carrying
amounts. As at 31 December 2017, there has been no change in the
amount recognised since its acquisition (except for unwinding of the
discount and exchange differences of approximately RMB2,351,000
(2016: RMB3,646,000) and RMB2,267,000 (2016: RMB2,262,000)
respectively) and the non-discounted book value for the contingent
consideration amounted to approximately US$6,119,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB39,983,000).

Pursuant to the relevant share purchase agreement, the selling
shareholder of Peerless Group (the “Seller”) and bwin.party (the
“Seller’s Guarantor”, a company listed on the London Stock Exchange)
had contractually agreed to indemnify the Group against any loss and
undertake the repayment of all liabilities in connection with the
contingent consideration payable as detailed above. In this respect,
the Group has recognised an indemnification asset as other non-
current receivable at an amount equivalent to the fair value of the
indemnified liability.

DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue represented service fees prepaid by the game
players for the Group’s online games in the forms of prepaid game
cards, Virtual Currencies and virtual goods, for which the related

services had not been rendered at the reporting dates.
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HMIERSEWRIE BN
RIE (&)

RZE—tF+_A=+—H8 ' &3k
MEBENREEESHERBARSEH
HEt+t-—@MARskzRAESZFAERE
#103% (=ZZF — /N F : 10.3%) BB F &
ARz EREE R RN REN &
EhRFF - AEBEERRBEHA A E A
HEEmEL MIESEAZE - R —
+t&E+_A=+—8 WEERCHER
CE(TEEMRRERZEDRIHOA
R#2351,0000c( =T — NF: AR
3,646,0007T) & A R #2,267,000L (==
—NE: AR #22620007T)) KA K
BARMIRRMEEEL6,119,000% T (HE
R# A R#39,983,0007T) I 48 & & -

R AR B AR 19 B8 B 1 5% -+ Peerless Group
ZERBE(E AL Ebwin.party ([ & /5
BERAlL R"aBERXRZHEMHRAE)E
M EXPIFRNENKARE  AER
SRAREREEAENEMNBELREER
FTEaE -BMIEME  AEEEERK
HERBEEABZAARABESEERAE
BERAEMIERE BUGKRIE -
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24. DEFERRED TAXATION 24, IBERIRB
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as BIERIAEEREEHRIAR G DTN
follows: T
2017 2016
—E-tF —E-REF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Deferred tax assets RERIBE E (1,726) (1,726)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHRBRIE 4,181 6,078
2,455 4,352

The gross movement of deferred income tax account is as follows: BIEFSHER ZBEEEMNT ¢
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

At 1 January n—A—H 4,352 10,054
Exchange differences bE W = (291) 503
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 31(a)) W BE Mt 8~ =] (FF5E31(a)) 93 -
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 7) Rigmp R (MHeE7) (1,699) (6,399)
Effect on deferred tax balances resulting TR B) 8 B IR R TA 4

from a change in tax rate ER — 194
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 2,455 4,352

HRARDRERAT —E—CEER @
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24. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 24, IRERIE (@)
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the REANBEEFMSHEERBEENEF
year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances (R MER—MEREAEER AN
within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: EREEEH) a0 T ¢
Deferred tax liabilities EBERIBEER

Fair value adjustment on
business combination

EBESHAREBERE

RMB'000

ARBTT

At 1 January 2016 RZE—RF—H—H 10,637

Exchange differences ME i, = 503

Recognised in profit or loss RiEmEPRER (5,062)
At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 RZE—ARF+_A=+—HXK

—E—+HF—H—H 6,078

Exchange differences ME 3, = 5 (291)

Acquisition of a subsidiary 1o i B B 2 7 93

Recognised in profit or loss RiERPER (1,699)

At 31 December 2017 R-ZF-—tF+=-A=+—H 4,181
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24. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 24. IBERIR @)

Deferred tax assets

BEERREE

Provision for
impairment of

receivables Others Total
FE W E
B B Ht H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2016 RZZE—R"F—H—H 583 — 583
Recognised in profit or loss RiEZPER 724 613 1,337
Effect on deferred tax balances i R B B E B R AE
resulting from a change in tax MIEEHRHOTE
rate (194) — (194)
At 31 December 2016 and R-E—RF
1 January 2017 +—A=+—HXK
—E—+HF—HF—H 1,113 613 1,726
Recognised in profit or loss RiERPER — - -
At 31 December 2017 R==F—t#&F
+=A=+-—H 1,113 613 1,726

As at 31 December 2017, no deferred tax liability had been provided
for the PRC withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of approximately RMB463,496,000 (2016: RMB457,928,000).
Such earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC subsidiaries to
operate and expand its business in the PRC and not to be remitted to

a foreign investor in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forward
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through
future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2017, the Group
has unrecognised tax losses of approximately RMB116,525,000 (2016:
RMB49,051,000) to carry forward against future taxable income.
These tax losses do not expire under current legislation except losses
of approximately RMB65,305,000 (2016: RMB31,107,000] that may be
carried forward for 5 years from the year of incurring the loss.

MN-ZBE—tE+-A=+—H FTEHR
BHMPREBIHEORETFRBINOAR
B 463,496,000 (ZFBE—RNF: AR
457,928,0007T) sHR EMIEEFR B A -
BRARFTE S B A B A RRE A
KERBRERPFENEL IR AR
RETGEFIRZESE -

EREENTHEFERRECMSERE
E - EELNEEHERESIESEABBER
WERPRANERERR KT —+
F+—_A=+—HB  AEELRKRAE
BAESREAZRERR B AERRE
B8 49 A R 116,525,000 0 ( = & — 7%
£ AR #49,051,0007T) ° B Al 82 B E
SERZFEREE AT Z2BEROA
R #¥65305000c(ZZE—RF: ARK
31,107,0007T) 5h « B IK B BIER - 2 5
BB A AREm -

BRERZEREEAT —E-CFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRKRME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

—tF+t-A=t—BLEFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. B
The movements in the share capital of the Company are as follows: NANTIIRARESEE T -
Equivalent
Number Nominal value nominal value
of shares of shares of shares
B8
B EE KA EE SEmEE
Notes US$'000 RMB'000
B 7 TE1 AR T T
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of the Ko m] &k
Company:
At 31 December 2016 and RZFE—RER
2017 —ET—tF+
—_A=+—H 10,000,000,000 500
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR
Ordinary shares: FEIR
At 1 January 2016 RZT—RF
—H—H 786,912,624 39 240
Repurchased shares ot 45 B B AR 1)
cancelled (i) (512,000) — —
Exercise of share options 17150 B % 1 (ii) 392,750 — -
At 31 December 2016 and RZE—X
1 January 2017 +=-A=
—FT—+tF
—H—H 786,793,374 39 240
Exercise of share options 1718 B AR 4 (ii) 130,000 1 -
Conversion of Convertible Al MR R IRE R A
Notes into shares 1% 9 (iii) 64,864,864 22
Issuance of new shares BTG (iv) 71,351,351 23
At 31 December 2017 R-ZZE—+F
+=-A=+—8H 923,139,589 47 285
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Repurchase of shares

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company repurchased its
own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange as follows:

25. IR R (&)

F

(i)

B

i | iR 13

BHE-_FT—A"F+ZA=+—HL#F
B ARARBRXAERLEELAERN
T~

Equivalent

Number of Aggregate aggregate

shares  Highest price Lowest price  consideration consideration

Month of repurchase &[G A 1% repurchased paid per share paid per share paid paid

Bo BREBE BREE gf&a# gféaH

RHEE BXE HMXE K& REZE

HK$ HK$ HK$'000 RMB'000

BT BT FHELT ARETFR

July 2016 RZZE—REtA 512,000 3.03 2.74 1,484 1,278
The 512,000 shares repurchased in 2016 were cancelled on 10 August RZZT—/NEMREE 2512000k K5 E

2016. RZZE—RFNATBZEH-

Exercise of share options

During the year ended 31 December 2017, options were exercised to
subscribe for 130,000 ordinary shares (2016: 392,750) of the Company at
a consideration of approximately RMB314,000 (2016: RMB959,000), of
which RMB31 (2016: RMB100) was credited to share capital and the
balance of approximately RMB314,000 (2016: RMB959,000) was credited
to the share premium account. As a result of the exercise of options,
RMB91,000 (2016: RMB257,000) has been transferred from the share
option reserve to the share premium account in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 2.19.

Conversion of Convertible Notes into shares

On 28 December 2017, 64,864,864 shares were issued upon conversion
of the Convertible Notes (Note 35).

Issuance of new shares

On 28 December 2017, the Company issued 71,351,351 ordinary shares
to an independent subscriber, Noumena Innovations (BVI) LTD. at an
issue price of HK$1.85 per share. The proceeds was approximately
RMB110,526,000 (equivalent to HK$132,000,000). The proceeds are
intended to be used for further developing the eSports business and the
WPT business, revamping and updating the Group’s core mobile product
portfolio, acquiring and/or developing China regional card and board
games platforms and replenishing working capital.

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

RBE-_T—tF+=-_A=+—8H
LEEFER BETFEERERBEARQ A
130,000/% & @K (= F — /N F : 392,750
) REAHARK314L000T(=ZZ
—NE: AR®9590007T) ER AR
BNT(ZT—"F: ARMI100T) 7
AR R 4 AR #314,000T (ZF — <
F: NR#E959,0007T) 4 #8 5T ARR 1D %
BER - HRITEEARE - BIEM E2.19
FrE gt BeR - ARKE1.000L (=2 —
NE AR BE257,0007T) B B B A HE R
EEBEERMDEER-

B REERS KRG

R-ZE—+tF+_A=—+N\H ' AAQA
B 8 3 1] 48 AR 2 R 18 B 17 64,864,864 B%
B 17 (M 5E35) °

BATH IR 40

R-ZE—+tF+_A=-+N\H ' AAQA
BERISSBTHETER —ZBILR
8 A (Noumena Innovations (BVI) LTD.) &
1171351351 BB D TS RIBA K A
R % 110,526,0007T ( 48 & 7 132,000,000
L) c ZFTSRIBITERARE — 3%
R EH 5 RWPTET - B R AR
EENRLBBHERES  WER X
FErBEmEEENETARETE
BEE -

BRERZEREEAT —E-CFFR
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26. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds from
issuance of the shares of the Company over its par value, less
any dividends paid out of the share premium account and any
premium paid for the repurchase of shares of the Company.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations for the
Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, it is required
to appropriate 10% of its annual net profit determined in
accordance with China Accounting Standards for Enterprises
issued by the Ministry of Finance of PRC, after offsetting any
prior years' losses, to the statutory reserve. When the balance
of such a reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
respective company, any further appropriation is at the
discretion of shareholders. The statutory reserve can be used to
offset prior years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into
share capital by issuing new shares to shareholders in
proportion to their existing shareholding or by increasing the
par value of the shares currently held by them, provided that
the remaining balance of the reserve after such an issue is not
less than 25% of registered capital. The statutory reserve is

non-distributable.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of share options
granted by the Company to employees recognised and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.19.

Other reserve

Other reserve represent (i) capital reserve arises from capital
contribution by the controlling shareholders (including share-
based compensation expense arising from the 2014 Blink
Milestones Share Options under Note 27(al); and (i) the
difference between the consideration and the carrying amount
of the net assets attributable to the additional and reduction of
interests in companies comprising the Group being acquired
from and disposed to non-controlling equity holders
respectively.
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26. fEfm

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

s E

% EBAARA R ETRMDMEAT
BRBEFHEBLEABELD  BE
TRAEBRDEERFENMNERS
AR AR R E R G XA E A
i (B o

R TE Gt s

BEBERBEERZER  NEBERFBEH
MR A AR RN B AR AR
BRRHSBEANPE XS
STEARTE  EREEWBAEFE
ER%  BEFEFMNENI10%D
REXTHE ERHEHELEHES
N Al E A8 50% » B R AT B 1B
REFEME—THDER - EEFE
AR BRBEFEBIE(INAE)
B AT 4% f% 5E 3R A £F A% Lb 1 5k 38 N
BEBRBMFRMDOEERBE
TR FRRERRA - & EF
BREREZSBHTRET IR
& A 25% ° JEEREE T Al DK ©

BRERRR

BREREREEREAQART
BENBREZAAME BREH
A2 19BN ST BRETRIE -

H {th 5 fiis
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

TRANSACTIONS

(a) The 2014 Replacement Share Options issued

by Blink Milestones Limited (“Blink
Milestones”)

In 2014, 12,152,381 share options were granted by Blink
Milestones (the “2014 Blink Milestones Share Options”’] as the
replacement of the share awards granted by Beijing
Tongshengcheng Investment Management Center (LLP)
("Tongshengcheng”) to certain employees of the Group (the
“Participants”) in 2012. The share options are valid for a period
of 10 years from 20 February 2014 to 19 February 2024 with an
exercise price of RMB0.2625 per share (subject to adjustment])
and are subject to a vesting scale in equal proportions of 25%
on every anniversary date of the date of listing of the Company's
shares on any internationally recognised stock exchange,
starting from the first anniversary date until the fourth, and for
the Participants remaining an employee of the Group until and
on the relevant vesting dates. Blink Milestones is an investment
holding company and owned 12.43% equity interest in the
Company at the date of grant. Upon the completion of the
capitalisation issue on 30 June 2014, the number of share
options and exercise price per share has been adjusted to
25,009,600 options in total, at an exercise price of RMB0.1276
per share, respectively.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase
or settle the 2014 Blink Milestones Share Options in cash. The
2014 Blink Milestones Share Options entitle participants to
obtain existing issued shares in the Company held by Blink
Milestones and will not involve the Company issuing any new
shares, the 2014 Blink Milestones Share Options were
accounted for as a share-based compensation transaction by
way of capital contribution from the shareholders.

—tFT_A=1T—HLFE

27. MR RERNMER 3

(a)

/\—__

S "= —[MOEBlink
Milestones Limited ([ Blink
Milestones ) 3% 1T BV 8 B%
EER

B = Z — 04 - Blink Milestones #%
H12,152,38117 BB Bk 4 (1 — & — Y
F Blink Milestones & I # ]) » LA &
BIREEKEEEEFRL(AR
EB)VRABRKDR=ZZFT—Z=FMn
REBEETRE([2EE])KELA
HERD BREE T -—HF=
A-t+HBEBE-_Z_WF_-_A+
NBETERER  THFEERAER
AR #0.26257C (F] T 58 2) WA 7R
AN ER DT E B R R A E FH
RZMEMBEBEZSERASAH B
F—RABFEHZFENEBEFAE S
FIREFEN2%NM O EEFE
B2HEEEESEBASEEBHMD
57N & B {8 B - Blink Milestones &
—REWEERAE  WHRE L B
WA AR RA B 12.43%8 IR HE - B A1k
BTR_ZE—NFAA=F+HR
K% BRESE RSRTEE
7 Bl &4 $£25,009,6001 8 %
- TEERTRAREI276TT

AREBWHEEZEHHEERTENUR
A ABBEBRBEE-FT —HEF
Blink Milestones & ik 1 - —Z — m
F Blink Milestones i i% #& & T £ &
& JE 18 B Blink Milestones £ A ) K
NAEIRBEETRG BT R
BOARREMIRKR - —F—WMF
Blink Milestones #& % # i/ i A% 3 )+
EMAAAREAEUARNAERD

HREARSBRERAT —E—CEER @
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) The 2014 Replacement Share Options issued

by Blink Milestones Limited (“Blink
Milestones”) (Continued)

Movements in the number of 2014 Blink Milestones Share
Options are as follows:

—tFT_A=1T—HLFE

27. MR RERNMER S

(18)
(a)

R Z=—PM0EBLlink
Milestones Limited ([ Blink
Milestones]) 38 1T BV i A%
EER@

— T — I £ Blink Milestones & A% #&
HEMEFHMT :

the Company on 20 February 2014 was adopted and ratified by
the Board. The Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was
adopted for the purpose of providing participants an opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and help
motivate such participants to optimise their performance and
efficiency, and also to help retain the participants for the
continual growth and development of the Group. The maximum
number of shares to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Management
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 6%
of the issued share capital of the Company after an IPO, as
defined. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017

Average
exercise price
in RMB per Number of
share option share options
LAR®EHE
ZEHERE
ZPHITEE BREHE
RMB
AR
At 1 January 2016 RZE—XF—H—H 20,540,798
Exercised during the year FRITE 0.1276 (5,135,199)
Forfeited during the year FRE IR (176,401)
At 31 December 2016 and RZE-—RE+TZRA=+—HBK
1 January 2017 —T—t+F—A—H 15,229,198
Exercise during the year FRITE (10,152,798)
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+tF+=-A=+—H 5,076,400
(b) Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of (b) RRATR_SB—MMENE
the Company in 2014 BEaGR,AHAREINER
fESHE
Pursuant to an unanimous written resolution of the Board on 7 BEEselN _ZE—NE=+
March 2014, a share option scheme (‘Management Pre-IPO H— @ZL%EE’JEER%?‘ EEE
Share Option Scheme”) and respective share options granted by ERMBEERBARD ==

@i_ﬂ_-i—ElT‘ﬁE’J—IEE%Hx
B ((BEREERAMEEAE
Pt 8 )) MARERBRCHE - RE
IEEE/X’AE*EJ?*%EH@%%%A#EU
TrR2EERH-EARBAR
EERD RS Hﬁ@]ﬁ(‘n‘%ﬁ(%ﬂéﬁ
S2EERTTRENRERBE
TEPRBEZRE2EERAE
BHERR -RAE BREBEEERE
BRAMBEEMBRENS BK
B R 1T B B A R BT
ERETETHNERSROHEE &
AERTREBEBARAANRERR
MBEEREHTRANGDG - NE
BYEEEXEEEENRESE
B35 B % S B A E -
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of
the Company in 2014 (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2014, share options [in
aggregate to purchase 6% of the issued share capital of the
Company after an IPO) were granted by the Company on 20
February 2014 to senior management of the Group with
estimated total fair value of approximately RMB52,870,000. The
exercise price of the share options granted is US$0.34398035
per share (subject to adjustment]. The share options are valid
for a period of 10 years from 20 February 2014 to 19 February
2024. Twenty five percent (25%) of options granted shall vest on
the first anniversary of the grant date, and the remaining
options granted shall vest on 36 equal monthly instalments with
the first instalment vesting upon the 13th monthly anniversary
of the grant date and each of the remaining instalments vesting
on each monthly anniversary of the 13th monthly anniversary of
the grant date, and for the participant continuing to be an
employee of the Group or director of the Company until and on
the relevant vesting dates. In addition, the share options are
only exercisable after the completion of an IPO.

On 30 June 2014, upon the completion of the capitalisation
issue and the Listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
the total number of share options granted equate to 50,042,553
share options at an adjusted exercise price of US$0.16714303

per share.

27. MR RERNMER 3

(&)

(b)

ARARZS—NENE
BEaR REENBIRE
5t &l =)

REBEZE-FT—NF+=_A=1+—
BIEFE ARARRZ-ZZT—WFE=
A-ZtHBRASERAEEER
EHERE(RTEBERRAARY
RARBERBEITRANOG)
T AR EX A AR 52870000
T ERLERENTEERER
0.34398035% T (A T &) - B I}
EEEBE-_T-—NF-_A=-FTHZE
—E-_mMF-_At+NABLETER
B -EREERENESZ =T
F(25%)# A% H H B M E — @R
FHREB #HTORINBEREA
REARNEASELHEE ' 5
— @S HEB AL B BHMNES
BMARER  MEBKNEBEREER
LTHEBMERBEAEAFAREAS
HREEBE A2HEENEZEHEER
BH(EEZB)MAREBEMNE
B ARARIMNE S - Lo - BB
EORBERARBEETHEITE-

RZE—WENAZ+H =K
BEARAEBITERBERAMER L
ME BEREABTEESR
0.16714303 3 7T % S 9 B8 % # 48 25
7450,042,553 17 BE AR AE o

HREARSBRERAT —E—CEER @
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 27. MR RERNMER S
TRANSACTIONS (continued) (18)
(b) Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of (b) RRATR-_EB—MENE
the Company in 2014 (Continued) BER L HRBERNBKRE
&t 8l (m)
Movements in the number of share options during the year are FERNEREGBEEHOT :
as follows:
2017 —E—tF
Exercise Outstanding Granted Exercised Outstanding
price per asat during the during as at
Exercisable period share 1 January year theyear 31 December
R+=AH
R-A-H =
GEid BRTEE ie K 47 £ ERRH ERfTR 1ef A 47 6
us$
Y
Directors 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2026 0.16714303 41,702,128 — - 41,702,128
£ —E-t¥+tA-HE
ZEZRFERA=ZTH
Employee 20 February 2015 to
19 February 2024 0.16714303 4,517,801 — - 4,517,801
EE “Z-RE-A-1+HE
“E-ME-A+AE
46,219,929 - - 46,219,929
Weighted average exercise price per share (US$) 0.16714303 0.16714303
BRmMETFHITEEET)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 1.16 1.09
- BRIEERODARER
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options
outstanding at 31 December 2017 6.1years
RZE—tF+ZA=+—BHKRTEEREMNE
THHBENERH 615
Number of options exercisable at 31 December 2017 47,957,447

RZB—t+F+-A=+-BATEEREHA

Weighted average exercise price per share of options
excisable at 31 December 2017 (US$) 0.16714303
WZE—tF+ZA=+—BATFEEREZ
FRMETFHTEEET)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 1.09
- BRAEROARET
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 27. MR RERNMER S
TRANSACTIONS (continued) (#&)
(b) Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of (b) RRATR-EB—MENE
the Company in 2014 (Continued) BER L HRBERNBKRE
&t &8l (m)
2016 —E-RF
Exercise Outstanding Granted Exercised Outstanding
price per as at during the during the as at
Exercisable period share 1 January year year 31 December
Rt=A
R—R—H =+-H°
T H BRITHEE R AT FRRL FRTHE HARTTR
US$
eV
Directors 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2026 0.16714303 41,702,128 - 41,702,128
Ex “E-t+5+A-HZF
“E-RERA=TH
Employee 20 February 2015 to 0.16714303 4,517,801 — - 4,517,801
19 February 2024
&S —T-R¥-A=fHZ
“ZCME-ATAA
46,219,929 - - 46,219,929
Weighted average exercise price per share (US$) 0.16714303 0.16714303
FhmEFHITEE (K1)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 1.09 116

- BRAEROARKT

Weighted average remaining contractual life of options 7.1 years
outstanding at 31 December 2016

RIB-RE+TZA=T-BRRTROBRENE 118
FHRBEOERS

Number of options exercisable at 31 December 2016 31,624,184

REB-RE+-A=T—-BATEEREXR

Weighted average exercise price per share of options 0.16714303
excisable at 31 December 2016 (US$)

RZE-RETZAZT-BATEERE BRMNE
FHTERE (L)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 1.16
-~ ERAERDARET

HRARDBRERAT 2 CEER @
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of

(c)

the Company in 2014 (Continued)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 46,219,929 (2016:
46,219,929) share options outstanding under the Management
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of the Company in 2014, which
represented approximately 5.01% (2016: 5.87%) of the issued
ordinary shares of the Company as at 31 December 2017.

Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
in November 2014

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 19 November 2014, a
share option scheme was adopted by the Company and is valid
and effective for a period of ten years from 19 November 2014 (the
“2014 Share Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme is to provide
eligible participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage participants to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for
the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. All
directors, full-time employees and any other person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, have contributed or will contribute
to the Group are eligible to participate in the 2014 Share Option
Scheme. Each grant of options to any director of the Company,
the chief executive officer or substantial shareholder of the
Company must first be approved by the independent non-
executive directors of the Company.

The maximum number of shares to be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c]

Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
in November 2014 (Continued)

Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme or any other
share option schemes adopted by the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on

the date of adoption (the "Option Scheme Mandate Limit").

The Option Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed at any
time by obtaining approval of the shareholders of the Company
in general meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed
under the Listing Rules. However, the refreshed Option Scheme
Mandate Limit cannot exceed 10% of the total number of shares
of the Company in issue as at the date of such approval.

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total
number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and unexercised options) under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes adopted by
the Company in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

The period within which the options must be exercised will be
specified by the Company at the time of grant. The options may
be exercised up to 25% for each year after the first anniversary
of the date of grant for four consecutive years.

At the time of grant of the options, the Company may specify a
minimum period for which an option must be held and/or any
minimum performance target(s) that must be achieved, before
the option can be exercised in whole or in part. The offer of a
grant of share options may be accepted within 20 business days
from the date of offer, the offer is delivered to that participant

and the amount payable on acceptance of options is RMB1.
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c]

Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
in November 2014 (Continued)

The subscription price for the shares under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board, but
not less than the greater of (i) the closing price of shares as
stated on the Stock Exchange on the date of the offer of grant; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of the offer of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the

shares.

No options may be granted under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme after the date of the tenth anniversary of its adoption.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, 1,440,000 options
were granted on 28 April 2017 with estimated total fair values of
approximately RMB1,541,000. The exercise price of the share
options granted is HK$2.886 per share. The share options are
valid for a period of 10 years and subject to a vesting scale in
equal proportions of 25% on every anniversary date of the date
of grant, starting from the first anniversary date until the fourth.
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

—tFT_A=1T—HLFE

27. MR RERNMER 3

(&)
Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company (c) ARATR_-SB—OFE+—
in November 2014 (continued) BERme B ﬂx’fg st &l (@)
During the year ended 31 December 2016, 7,840,000 options, RBEE-_ZE—R"F+_A=1+—
3,000,000 options and 2,000,000 options were granted on 8 HIEFEE RARIRKRZZT—RFE—
January 2016, 17 May 2016 and 7 September 2016 with ANB-ZZE—X"FRA+tH
estimated total fair values of approximately RMB16,759,000, F—ZE—RFLALHDAED
RMB3,897,000 and RMB3,012,000 respectively. The exercise 7,840, OOOﬁ *3,000,00017 % 2,000,000
price of the share options granted is HK$5.506 per share, MBERE B2 BBED 5
HK$3.684 per share and HK$3.95 per share for option lots of B K AR 16,759,000 © A R
7,840,000 options, 3,000,000 options and 2,000,000 options #3,897,0007t & A K 3,012,000
respectively. The share options are valid for a period of 10 years JC ° $£7,840,00015 - 3,000,0001n K&
and subject to a vesting scale in equal proportions of 25% on 2,000,0007 fE Az 4 M = - PR A BB
every anniversary date of the date of grant, starting from the i #8172 B 9 5hl & 8 x5.506 %
first anniversary date until the fourth. JC - § B%3.6847% T & B B&3.95%8
T BREETERERS  BRF
Txﬁ HEBFHE(ZE—EBFHZE
FEEBEFB)RB%EEER -
The fair values were calculated using the Binomial Option NAaABEBEA-_BAPREEFEERS
Pricing Model. The inputs into the model were as follows: FrE - ZEAMBABENDT ¢
8 January 17 May 7 September 28 April
2016 2016 2016 2017
—XRE ZE—XEF —REF —E—+tF
—ANH EAt+tH hAtHR WA=+ NH
Exercise price 1TEE HK$5.506 HK$3.684 HK$3.95 HK$2.886
550678 7T 3.684BTT 3.95%87T 2.88687T
Expected volatility T8 HR R & 50% 55% 50% 50%
Expected life T8 B 5 2K Ef 10 years 10 years 10 years 10 years
104 104F 1048 106
Risk-free rate R A xR 1.589% 1.297% 0.875% 1.48%
Expected dividend TR HAAR B =X
yield — — — -
I RERIERBRA T

2 tEER @
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 27. MR R E RN MEZ S

TRANSACTIONS (continued) (#&)

(c) Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company (c) ARTR_-_SB—MOFE+—
in November 2014 (Continued) BN B IZ ST 8 (@)
Movements in the number of share options during the year are FANEREHBE 2EHHWT :
as follows:

2017 —E—+tF
Weighted
average
Exercise Outstanding Granted  Forfeited Exercised Outstanding share price
Exercisable price per asat during during during asat at exercise
period share 1 January the year the year theyear 31December Exercise date date
TEH SRTEE R-A-B HFARE FhRk FATE R+=B THAH RITER S
i R 1T = ZR%B
ief R AT R MEFHE
HK$ HK$
#7 b
Directors 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2026 2.67 23,520,000 - - — 23,520,000
E “T—t5tA-HE
ZEZR¥/AZTH
1 July 2017 to 30 June 2026 5.506 7,840,000 - - - 7,840,000
“E-t5tA-BZ%
ZEZRFERAZTH
Employees 5 January 2016 to 2.67 22,489,750 — (1,386,250)  (130,000) 20,973,500 16 March 2017 and 297
4 January 2025 6 April 2017
BE “E-"5-AnB% ZE-tF=ZFtXAH
—Z-Rf-AMA E-E—tF
)Py
9 July 2016 to 8 July 2025 4,402 22,365,000 — (425,000 — 21,940,000
ZE-REtANBZE
“Z-h5tANR
17 May 2016 to 16 May 2026 3.684 2,620,000 = (190,000) = 2,430,000

“E-REIATtAEZE
ZZ-RFEATAR
7 September 2017 to 3.95 1,850,000 - - — 1,850,000
6 September 2026
“E—tENAtHEZE
“E-REAARA
28 April 2017 to 27 April 2027 2.886 — 1,440,000  (220,000) — 1,220,000
—E-tE@AZTNR
E-R4F
mAZ++H

80,684,750 1,440,000 (2,221,250)  (130,000) 79,773,500

Weighted average exercise price per share (HK$) 3.49 2.89 N 2.08 3.50

ShENETHTEET)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 3.12 2.58 2.50 1.84 2.92
- BRREROARET

Weighted average remaining contractual life of T.4years
options outstanding at 31 December 2017

RoE— L= A=+ —BHAED T4
BRENETORNGANERS

Number of options exercisable at 31 December 20,146,250
2017

%éﬁ({¢+iﬂi+*ﬂﬂﬁﬁ%%%

Weighted average exercise price per share of 3.49
options excisable at 31 December 2017 (HK$)

RIZE—tE+- A=+ —AFTREREL
BRMETITEECET)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 2.92
- BREEROARET
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R MBRETME (8B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 27. MR RERNMER 3

TRANSACTIONS (continued) (#&)

(c)] Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company (c) "RABARZE—WNE+—
in November 2014 (Continued) B e 5 A& #E 5t &l ()
2016 —E-RF

Weighted
average
Exercise  Outstanding Granted  Forfeited  Exercised Outstanding share price
price per asat during during  during the asat at exercise
Exercisable period share 1 January the year the year year 31 December Exercise date date
®+=A RTEEH
®—A—H Er=F 2B
76 BREE  HAAE FARE FRRK  FROTE WAGTR THREH mEFHE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Directors 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2026 2.67 23,520,000 - - — 23,520,000
2 “F-t5tA-HZ
“E-RERAZTH
1 July 2017 to 30 June 2026 5.506 — 7,840,000 - - 7,840,000
“E-+E+f-BE
ZEZRERAZTHE
Employees 5 January 2016 to 267 23,460,000 — (5775000 (392,750) 22,489,750 5 January 2016 to 487
4 January 2025 12 September 2016
&8 —E-X"E-fRBZ ZE-R¥-ARAZE
—Z-Rf-AMA “B-RE
nA+ZH
9 July 2016 to 8 July 2025 4402 23,520,000 - (1,155,000] — 22,365,000
ZE-AFtANEE
“E-hEtANR
17 May 2017 to 16 May 2026 3.684 — 3,000,000 (380,000) - 2,620,000

ZE-tFRATLEE
“E-RFEERTAR

7 September 2017 to 395 — 2,000,000 150,000) - 1,850,000
6 September 2026

“E-tENRERE
“E-REAAKE

70,500,000 12,840,000  (2,262,500) (392,750 80,684,750

Weighted average exercise price per share (HK$) 3.25 4.8k 3.82 267 3.49

FRMETHTEE (BT
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 272 410 3.09 2.44 3.12
-ERAERDARKER

Weighted average remaining contractual life of 8.3 years
options outstanding at 31 December 2016 8.3F

RIB-AE+T-AZT-ARKTED
BRENETORNGBAOE RS

Number of options exercisable at 31 December 17,071,000
2016

RZZ-RE+ZA=+-BATEERE
#8

Weighted average exercise price per share of 3.25

options excisable at 31 December 2016 (HK$)
RIZ-RE+ZA=+-BATEEREL
BRMETITEECET)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 2.90
- SRAEROARKT

BREEZRERAT —E—CEER @
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
in November 2014 (Continued)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 79,773,500 (2016é:
80,684,750) share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme adopted by the Company in November 2014, which
represented approximately 8.64% (2016: 10.25%) of the issued
ordinary shares of the Company as at 31 December 2017

Share Award Scheme adopted by the Company
in May 2017

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 19 May 2017, a share award
scheme was adopted by the Company (the “Share Award

Scheme”).

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to align the
interests of eligible participants with those of the Group through
ownership of Shares, dividends and other distributions paid on
Shares and/or the increase in value of the Shares, and to
encourage and retain eligible participants to make contributions
to the long-term growth and profits of the Group. All directors,
full-time employees and any other person who, in the sole
discretion of the board of directors, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group are eligible to participate in the Share
Award Scheme. Each grant of award to any director of the
Company, the chief executive officer or substantial shareholder
of the Company must first be approved by the independent non-

executive directors of the Company.
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d) Share Award Scheme adopted by the Company

(e

in May 2017 (continued)

The maximum number of shares to be granted must not exceed
7% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to
The Share Award

Scheme Limit may be refreshed at any time by obtaining

time (the “Share Award Scheme Limit").
approval of the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”). At the time of grant of the awards, the
Company may specify any minimum performance target(s) that
must be achieved, before the awards can be vested in whole or

in part.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company has
purchased 300,000 Shares amounting to RMB514,000 through
its trustee on the Stock Exchange. No award was granted under
the Share Award Scheme during the year ended 31 December
2017. The acquired Shares was recognised and accumulated in
equity under the heading of “Shares held under Share Award
Scheme”.

The Group recognised a total expense of RMB24,929,000 (2016:
RMB42,746,000) for the year in relation to the above share
options granted by the shareholders or the Company, and the
share-based compensation expense were shown as a separate
item on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income.

—tFT_A=1T—HLFE

27. MR RERNMER 3

(&)

(d)

(e

ARIR_B—CERHRA
RV BR D 2= B 5T 8l (w0

BPREZROESHBE LA
BEARRITRERITRAZT %
(Thfp B2 B ET EIRFE D) - B fp 22 R
=t 81 [R 58 Al 7 E ] B 58 R S
ARABBRERRBRRRE £ 2tk
R,/ AR B R FAE S TR A
(TEmRADTAN A BEMEE
FTUREH RELRBE AQF

AHEAEED2 B%*V‘ﬁEmJ
VRESNEMREEERR

BE_T—tFt+-_A=+—H

ﬁ$§$ Tﬁiﬂﬁ u%}\B/\HHF
22 P8 B 300,000k i fn - 8RR A
R#¥51400m- BHE=F — L F
TZA=T—BIFE  BERE

ety BBt B4R 22 - B W IR
3[R 0 22 By =1 &I 38 B #5 AR 4D
_ﬁﬁIET$’E EPEEE/L/&E%H+

REBRFRNERNERZ B A
R#E N R 24,929,000 (Z & — 75
& NR#42,746,0007T) » It Jb E2
REF AR RE A LR H B
RREER - ARR (D AER OB
AR EmRkEMEE KRS
RINBBEIBA -

HREARSBRERAT —E—CEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
iR e U MER M ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 28. AR T8 FFiRK MK

COMPANY

2017 2016
—E—+t5 —E—REF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET R ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interest in subsidiaries Y DR RNEI ROk 291,541 51,528
Intangible assets BILEE 38,140 46,106
Available-for-sale financial assets AIHHESREE 30,000 30,000
Loan to a subsidiary BT —FMNBRRZER 191,570 —
Loan to a third party BTFE=ZAZER 10,890 35,740
562,141 163,374
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H b e Uk 3008 8,326 2,275
Loan to a third party MTE=ZRAZER 39,340 —
Amount due from an associate JE U — R B & R &) IR 200 —
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI B/ 92,654 401,201
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBRLERE 65,532 91,559
206,052 495,035
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables E A FRIE 7,188 20,429
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR ENGIE S — 36,144
7,188 56,573
Net current assets RBEEREE 198,864 438,462
Net assets EEFEE 761,005 601,836
EQUITY EH
Share capital & 7 285 240
Reserves (Note) EX A=) 760,720 601,596
Total equity BB 761,005 601,836
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 ZEEE@R _ET—NFE=ZA-t+tBHAERR
March 2018. T8 o

Yang Eric Qing

Ng Kwok Leung Frank

BE h BB
Director Director
4 2
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28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 28. &2 T 81 F ik i ] (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: B3 -
The movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows: RRRIEEBEESHIOT
Shares
held under
Share  Share Award Share option Other  Accumulated Total
premium Scheme reserve reserve losses reserves
% 13 & B
SEET
B 19 % {8 FERD BRERE Hitn ki eS| EEAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETx ARET:x
Balance at 1 January 2016 R =T —N4
—A—HZ&E® 574,723 - 65,541 - (57,259) 583,005
Loss for the year FAEBRE - — — - (22,139) (22,139)
Share-based compensation LA 15 & ZHE /)
(Note 27) W< (Ff 2£27) - - 41,049 - - 41,049
Exercise of share options 77 {if i % 4
(Note 251ii)) (P % 251(ii)) 1,216 - (257) - - 959
Transfer upon forfeiture of A8 Ut B A% #E
share options ] - - (561) - 561 -
Share repurchased and P 1 120 B8 % o 4
cancelled [Note 25(i)) (Bft = 25(1) (1.278) - - - - (1,278)
Balance at 31 December R -ZF—XN4
2016 and 1 January 2017 +-A=+—8”
RZZT—+F
—A—HZ&EH 574,661 - 105,772 - (78,837) 601,596
Loss for the year FAEBRE — — — - (77,141) (77,141)
Share-based compensation LA 15 & ZH &)
(Note 27) e (P 7E27) - - 21,713 - - 21,713
Exercise of share options 77 {if & % 4 (Fff 5%
[Note 25(ii) & Note 27) 25(ii) & i 5 27) 405 — [91) - — 314
Transfer upon forfeiture of A8 U B B% fE
share options o — — (1,502) — 1,502 —
Issuance of Convertibles /T AJ 2 R Z &
Notes (Note 35) (Pt 5£35) - - - 695 - 695
Issuance of shares BITRR D
(Note 25iv)) (P &% 25(iv)) 110,503 - - - - 110,503
Conversion of Convertible ~ A[#R AR Z {5 & in
Notes into shares B G (HFE35)
[Note 35) 104,249 — — (695) — 103,554
Purchase of shares for AR B ET 288
Share Award Scheme 51 A% 1
(Note 27(d)) (P &£27(d)) - (514) - - - (514)
Balance at —ZE—t&+=H
31 December 2017 =t+-HBz&&% 789,818 (514) 125,892 — (154,476) 760,720

As at 31 December 2017, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity holders of the Company was RMB635,342,000
(2016: RMB495,824,000).

R_ZT—tF+_A=1+—8a#sn
RYARAE=IFTAEANBEEXAA
R #635,342,000c (T —RF: AR
495,824,0007T) °

BRERZEREEAT —E-CFFR
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29. COMMITMENTS 29. K&
(a) Capital commitments (a) BEXRRE
At the reporting date, the Group had the following capital RBEBH  NREBEF AT E R
commitments: i
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Contracted but not provided for: BETHE R B E
Expenditure in respect of acquisition of HRKREEFEEZ T H
intangible assets 1,355 130,637
Expenditure in respect of acquisitionof B REWEYWE - BE L& EZ
property, plant and equipment X 32,326 —
Expenditure in respect of investments in AR ERE A5 2B
associates 21,918 15,168
Expenditure in respect of investments in BRI EAIHEESMEE 2
available-for-sale financial assets S| 25,000 12,000
80,599 157,805
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) EEHERE
The Group leases its servers, lines, offices and various AEERBEIAABELCERER
residential properties under non-cancellable operating lease wEEHRESE  RE HO=E
agreements. The leases have varying lease terms and renewal ERETEYHE -HEAEEGTRMEH
rights. At the reporting date, the total future minimum lease BrRiEH -RmEEH AEERE
payments payable by the Group under non-cancellable BRA 2l ENRRKKE
operating leases are as follows: HEBMNRAEFENT :
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Within one year —F R 29,544 14,431
In the second to fifth year inclusive “HRF(BEERME) 72,591 24,921
After fifth year RS 4,182 -

106,317 39,352
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REMBRETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

30. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 30. EXRAMPHRZS
TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in MRRGEMERREMMBAMBE ZR
these consolidated financial statements, during the year, the Group S/E8 FRASEHHE B 5 #E
had the following material transactions with related parties: THEARSWT ¢
(a) Key management personnel remuneration (a) TEETEBEASHE
Key management of the Group are members of the Board and AEBETEZEBEEAEEZKE
senior management. Included in employee benefit expenses are EefhERE NWARERHNMAX
key management personnel remuneration which includes the ZJEBEEEABMESEHINWOT ¢

following expenses:

2017 2016
—E—+tfF TN
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETTT

Basic salaries and allowances HEAH#H ¢ MERL 4,962 3,149
Discretionary bonus BISE4T 1,453 1,684
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R {K4& K| 51 2 £ 7 248 201
Share-based compensation expense D AEROB 2 11,888 22,298

18,551 27,332
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
M BRITME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 HE=ZFT—+F + A=+ —HILFE

30. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

30. EXHBIE RS @)

(b) Related party transactions (b) BAEK RS
Name of related companies Related party relationship Nature of transactions 2017 2016
W AR SR RAR S B R REMHE —E—tF —ERF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Shanghai Dacheng Network a company under Event service income 1,220 —
Technology Co., Ltd. controlled by substantial
shareholders of the
Group
B RAR I B A mAEEETEREREN  BERBERA
BRAA PA/NC]
Irena Group Co., Ltd. Substantial shareholders Event service income 981 —
of the Group
BE2BEXLEN AEBTERR BERBEA
BR DA
Beijing Shuimu Zhiyu An associate of the Group  Event service income 116 -
IERAKARE R REEKE R BEEZRBUWA
Tianjing Zhonggi Weiye An associate of the Group  Event service income 13 —
RAPEHEE REBEBE R BERBEA
Beijing Boyue Ledong An associate of the Group ~ Consultancy service 207 —
income
LR EIRLEE ZN ) N R AR A
Beijing Yiqu Hucai An associate of the Group ~ Consultancy service 269 —
income
IERZEBER AEEBEAR AR A
Tianjin Huandu An associate of the Group  Interest income 72 —
RAEHE AEBEBENT FEHA
Beijing Zhangwanbao An associate of the Group  Interest income 51 -
LtREESE AEEEKE R FLE A
Beijing Chinese Racing An associate of the Group  Interest income 8 —
Pigeon
b A AR AEEBERR FEMA
eSports Arena An associate of the Group  Interest income 200 —
eSports Arena REEBEAF FLE A
Beijing Zhangwanbao An associate of the Group  Disposal of intangible 3,985 -
assets
tREEE AEEKE QA HEEVEE

Ourgame International Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B MR M & (18)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

31. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

—tFT_A=1T—HLFE

3. MENWE LT m

(a)

On 11 October 2017, the Group acquired 100% of the issued
share capital of Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji Technology Co., Limited
("Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji") at a total cash consideration of
RMB36,000,000 (the “Consideration”). As part of the Group's
strategy is to actively seek investment opportunities that would
bring strategic resources to expand the Group's portfolio and
user base, the directors believes that the acquisition presents
an opportunity for the Group to complement and enlarge China
national games platforms. In view of the existing card and board
games developed and operated by Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji and
the market share of Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji in China, and the
experiences of the members of the core management team in
the Target in developing and operating card and board games,
the directors believes that the acquisition will further
consolidate the Group's leading position in its domestic China
card and board games business and enhance its brand
influence.

The following summarises the consideration paid for Beijing
Zhangzhong Qiji and the recognised amounts of assets acquired

and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

@) R=ZFE—+tF+A+—RH &&
BERBLRERFHEREER
AR REFRFH]) 2B B
TREA ReRELEBAARKE
36,000,0007T ([fX1E]) - {EAREEHY
—Ho AEBEBERES KB R
RREREAAEBAEGERAFR

MHIREKE EFRA Lt
Ue B8 Th /i B R 4B K AN & B B AT
BTEenge ERIERTEFTH
FE RIEE R IR A E BN BUA KR
I REFFTFRFEHTH D
BiEZERaizdEEE BB
MBEEIRER S TENEER 5
RAE PR EGE—PEELRSE
l#iﬁ&%ﬁﬂ%%%%%m
VIWRAHEBEZEN

AT REPTHDNHKE
DA&EH&Z@%EF&W%@%’%%\%
WERHZER S

Fair value of net identifiable
assets and liabilities acquired

EWEARAIEER
EBZARE
RMB’000
AR¥F T
Property, plant and equipment M- WEREE 38
Intangible assets EWEE 371
Trade and other receivables B 5 M H b fE WK IE 5,200
Bank balances and cash fETT EhRIRE 262
Trade and other payables 5 & EMENRIE (3,281)
Deferred tax liabilities EREBIABE (93)
Net identifiable assets acquired EESUHEAEEFE 2,497

Contingent consideration payable for RN R ENKARE
profit guarantee (906)
Goodwill [EES 34,409
36,000

Satisfied by: YRAR
Cash Be 36,000
I RERIERBRA T

2 tEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

31. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Profit Guarantee

Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, the vendors undertook
that the audited net profit of Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji for the next
twelve months upon completion of acquisition shall not be less
than RMB6,000,000 (the “Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji's Guarantee
Profit”).

Adjustments to the Consideration

In the event that the Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji does not meet the
performance guarantee, the vendors shall compensate to the
Group in cash in accordance with the following formula:

Compensation  (Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji's Guarantee Profit -

Amount audited net profit) x 8

In the event that the Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji exceeds the
Performance Guarantee, the Group shall pay additional amount

to the vendors in cash in accordance with the following formula:

Additional
Amount

~ (Audited net profit - Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji's
- Guarantee Profit) x 8

In no events shall the sum of the Consideration and the
Additional Amount exceeds RMB48,000,000.

If the difference between the Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji's
Guarantee Profit and the audited net profit is within +/-5%, the
vendors and the Group shall not compensate or pay each other.

Goodwill of RMB34,409,000 arose in the above business
combination as the cost of combination included a control
premium. In addition, the consideration paid for the combination
effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of
expected synergies, revenue growth, future market
development and the assembled workforce. These benefits are
not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not

meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017
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31. B BT )

(a)

& A R

BEWE R BHAGERKET
K+ =—EAANLRES FHH
KEABAFBEHETIELRAR
# 6,000,000 ([dE REF T B ER
A ]) e

REBE

Mt REFR T AREIRFEFEER
EHARE T AR RN KB
ERE :

mpey . CIREDBHRRIUA
—REA R FFEEE)«8

ﬁit?%‘qﬂ THBBEBFEEER KN
BEAEABRETHNARREFH X
%ﬁ%ﬁ@@ﬁﬁ-

(@B FISE— LR

EEAONS R =

BAER = s pmmia e
mHmE RELERENEEE

ﬂlT—ft A K #48,000,0007T ©

fisd db 7 2 AR &5 B 4R AR O A B AR R
HRAMFEIIEREL N
B RIED RAKE KT AHEER
e fe

FREBEHEEZEEBARE
34,409,0007T & & PR A - B IR %
BISEE o AN MAEHE BRI
ZREBEEBEHBRNE K
AN RERMHEREKEEE T
Pl fE 2 &5 - 25 F 2 I 4% 6
BEDRIER TR RELREE
BEVIE:FiA--2" 300

B LMK BEEZAETATA
fEI BUE R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REoMBRITME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

31. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

(a)

(Continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition is as
follows:

WENELT @

FRBBEZERSRZIONBT :

2017

—E—+tF

RMB’000

AR®T

Cash consideration paid ENBReRE (36,000)

Less: Bank balances and cash acquired B EERBRITER LIRS 262
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FFABRBEEGHReRCRERAESSE

included in the cash flows from investing BY 2Rt FE
activities (35,738)

The revenue and profit included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income since 11
October 2017 to 31 December 2017 contributed by the Beijing
Zhangzhong Qiji was RMB17,123,000 and RMB1,486,000
respectively.

Had the combination taken place on 1 January 2017, the
revenue and loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017 would have been RMB621,565,000 and RMB42,977,000
respectively. These pro forma information are for illustrative
purposes only and are not necessarily an indication of revenue
and result of operation of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January
2017, nor are they intended to be a projection of future results.

BE-E—tH&+A+—HE=Z
—tF+_A=+—H REF
TRFAEZTAGREREREE
WX 2 WS REFD B AAR
#17,123,0007T & A R #1,486,000
=

HWEHR _—_ZT—+tF—A—HB1E
B ASEREBEE-_ZT—tF+=
A=+—HBLEFEzZHK=KkER
DRI A AR 621,565,000 & AR
¥ 42977,0007T ° 5 & & RHE
B TEEERMBER T —tF
—A—HEKASEEERREK
wm MR ZIER R TEBIEARK
FE2TEM

It

HREARSBRERAT —E—CEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

31. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

(b)

In November 2016, the Group acquired the entire share capital
of Champion Light Holding Limited (“Champion Light"] from an
independent third party. The only identifiable asset of Champion
Light is an intangible asset, which represents game players list.
The transactions did not constitute a business combinations as
defined in IFRS3 “Business Combinations” and therefore, the
acquisition was accounted for as asset acquisition. The
consideration for the acquisition consisted of an initial
consideration of RMB28,468,000 and contingent consideration
of RMB19,579,000, which settlement will be based on the post-
acquisition performance of the intangible assets. The directors
with assistance of a professional valuer, have determined the
fair value of the contingent consideration amounting to
RMB18,889,000 at the date of the acquisition. Accordingly, the
aggregate amount of RMB47,357,000 was recorded as the initial
cost of the intangible asset as “Customers relationship” (Note
12). As at 31 December 2016, the fair value change of the
contingent consideration is considered to be immaterial to the
financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2017. The fair value gain on
contingent consideration payable of RMB6,873,000 was
recognised in profit or loss (Note 5).

@4 Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017

31. B BT )

(b)

RZE—RE+—A KEEMB—
% 18 37 8 = 73 W& Champion Light
Holding Limited ([ Champion LightJ)
#) & & B 7N o Champion Light & 1
— A HANEEREREE (B R
MRBE) - X5 W A1 B R B
BmELEEIRIEBEHIRE
ZEBAM Bt B AR
EFEEWRE KWBEREREDND
R ABE A K # 28,468,000 7T & 3k 28 X
B AR #19579,0007T - X8 1§ 1R
BEVEEWEBRREEHE &
SERFZEMERMA B EE W
BEHNKXAREBEAABERAR
%18,889,0007T ° E It RIF[IFE
BA1R] - S5 @8 A K% 47,357,000
TAE R BT & & & ) 0h A AR (Y 5
12)  RZE-—RFT_A=+—
H ZIARENCAELHERA
HPBHRRLAERK °

2 —tF+-_A=+—H
IEFE BHRARENQAERK
7= A R 6,873,000 7T A 18 %5 iR
(Hf7E5) »



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBRETME (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

Disposal of subsidiaries with loss of control
— Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon

In July 2017, the Group disposed of 12.5% equity interest in its
subsidiary, Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon Sports Culture
Development Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon”] to
independent third parties, resulting in a loss of control over
Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon. Upon the disposal, the Group’'s
interest in Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon was reduced to
42.5%. Accordingly, the investment in Beijing Chinese Racing

Pigeon was reclassified as interest in associates.

The assets and liabilities of Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon were
deconsolidated from the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position and the remaining 42.5% equity interest in
Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon has been accounted for as an
associate using equity method. The fair value of the 42.5%
retained interest in Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon amounting
to RMB1,033,000 at the date on which the control was lost is
regarded as the cost on initial recognition of the investment in

Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon as an associate.

—tFT_A=1T—HLFE

32. LEWERT

(a)

LEWBRATWEHRKE
EHE - LRPRERS

RZZE—tFLtA AEERBL
FZFEEEMNEB QAL mRA R
SEBEXEERABRAA(ILR
e ) 12.5% M Ak AE - B kR &
AL F RS R IEHE  BEE
AEBRIEEFBEENEIRE
42.5% ° Bt - RILR P B EHER
BEFNHEARNBE AR RES -

IERFRENEEREBETIBR
REEBEMNEGEETERDLRSP LR
AAER MARLEEFBRSHTH
42.5% % #E B 1% 7 75 75 A BR 51 (B B
ERElc RAREAEZEFIEE B - Rt
RAPRBEHL25%REERS 2 AR
B A R ¥ 1,033,000 7T # 47 & 1] 14 7
R R RS (EAHE AR
B B B AN o

RMB’000
ARET T
Fair value of interest retained REEZNAIAE 1,033

HREARSBRERAT —E—CEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRKRME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) SV

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries with loss of control
— Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon (Continued)

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control

LEHNBELR T m

(a) HEMBRAIWEHRKE
122 1l 8 — It SR 0P 5% 6% m)

REEFRNEERRBEIN

was lost
RMB’000
AR®T T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB R 10
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K& H b g R IE 1,422
Bank balances RITH % 1,113
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E b B RUIA (113)
Net assets disposed of EHENTFEE 2,432
RMB’000
AR¥TT
Consideration receivable JEURRE 1,250
Fair value of retained interests REBEZHANE 1,033
Non-controlling interests FE1E IR HE 2 (1,381)
Net assets disposed of EHERNFEE (2,432)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FXHBARZER (1,530)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBRETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Disposal of subsidiaries with loss of control
— Beijing Chinese Racing Pigeon (Continued)

Net cash outflow arising on disposal of a subsidiary

32. LEWBRT m

(a) HEMBRAIWEHRKE
12 1l 8 — I SR 0P 5% 6% m)

HEMBARELNRSFRE

RMB’000

ARETT

Consideration received (note) B WEARE (B FE) -
Bank balances disposed of BEHEMRITARR (1,113)
(1,113)

Note: The consideration receivable of RMB1,250,000 was included
under other receivables.

Disposal of subsidiaries with loss of control
— Tianjin Zhongqi Weiye

In April 2016, the Group disposed of 52.0% interest in its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Tianjin Zhongqgi Weiye Sports Development
Co., Ltd. ("Tianjin Zhonggqi“], to certain third parties, resulting in
a loss of control over Tianjin Zhonggqi. Accordingly, the
investment in Tianjin Zhongqi was reclassified as interest in an

associate.

The assets and liabilities of Tianjin Zhonggi were deconsolidated
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position
and the interest in Tianjin Zhonggqi has been accounted for as
an associate using equity method. The fair value of the 48.0%
retained interest in Tianjin Zhonggi amounting to RMB1,662,000
at the date on which the control was lost is regarded as the cost
on initial recognition of the investment in Tianjin Zhonggi as an

ek : EURAR B A R ¥ 1,250,000 T 51 A E Ath fE
¢ ¢

(b) LEHBRAIWEHRKE
EHE—RBPHEESR

R-ZZ—ARFOA AEERET
BYE=- N HEE2EMNBEQA
REPHBEXBEERAER QA
(TR G 1)52.0%8 ik # - Bk
REHRZREAIE G - Btk
RREPHEHOREEHSBELSN

g8 5 ) B 4 -

XKAEFENEERABBETHRA
SENGETBRARPES

R-MARREFENESZCIEER
EABRYI (R & A F] o AR K2
EE R RREPHBLB0%IR A
a2 A EAR1,662,000 7T
1875 1) 56 B R 1A K R L (1F & B

associate. BNaE)MIEEKA o
RMB’000
AR®T T
Fair value of interest retained REEZNARE 1,662

HREARSBRERAT —E—CEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
iR e U MER M ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 32. BEWBAT mw)

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries with loss of control (b) HEWBRAITWERKE
— Tianjin Zhongqi Weiye (Continued) EHE—RBPHEMEE -
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control LEBRHENEEREBED
was lost i

RMB’000
AR¥T T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- WEREE 2,459
Intangible assets mVEE 2,022
Current assets REBEE
Inventories T8 208
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk E A EY I 20,718
Bank balances RIT A BR 465
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E b A RUA (22,409)
Net assets disposed of EHENTFEE 3,463
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Consideration receivable e AE 5,200
Fair value of retained interests REEZHANE 1,662
Net assets disposed of EHENFEE (3,463)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-—XMBAR B RE 3,399
Net cash outflow arising on disposal of a subsidiary HE—ZXWELAITELENR
ZEARE
RMB’000
ARBT T
Consideration received (note) B AR E (B 3E) -
Bank balances disposed of B HEMRITES (465)
(465)
Note: The consideration receivable of RMB5,200,000 was included iz R—FBE—ARE+_A=1+—8H "
under other receivables as at 31 December 2016. FE W (X B A R #5,200,000 7T 51 A

H A & W ROR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 32. HEKWB AT
(c) Disposal of subsidiaries with loss of control (c) LERNBLATWEHREKE
— Beijing Lianzhong Zhiyu - R RE IR
The Group has disposed of entire interest in its subsidiary, AEBER-_ZTE—X"F+ AR
Beijing Lianzhong Zhiyu Technology Co., Ltd. ("Beijing ANEBE—FEZEQaAd RAKAKRE
Lianzhong Zhiyu") to an associate of the Group, Beijing Shuimu R EH W B A At R RS R
Zhiyu, in December 2016. BEERAR (It RBREIR]) 2

EEBAEL

The following summarises the assets and liabilities over which REERBMAEERIEZEER
control was lost at the disposal date and cash outflow arising BEERLEENBRAINELANIR &
on disposal of a subsidiary: Fom S
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control LEBHENEEREBED
was lost T
RMB’000
ARBTT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MR 24
Intangible assets mEE 1,992
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables 2 5 & H fib R R IA 78
Bank balances RITAE ER 84
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables BESRHEMEMNRIE (666)
Net assets disposed of EHENTFEE 1,512
RMB’000
ARBT T
Consideration receivable JE W AB 3,200
Non-controlling interests FE 1R I HE = (546)
Net assets disposed of BEHEMNFEE (1,512)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-—XMBAR B RE 1,142

HRARDRERAT —E—CEER @



32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries with loss of control
— Beijing Lianzhong Zhiyu (continued)

Net cash outflow arising on disposal of a subsidiary

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REOMBRITME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

32. LEWBRT m

(c) LEMBRATWEBKRE
il — R R EIR
(%)
HENBRATELENRE B
ifes!

RMB’000

ARETT

Consideration received (note) B WEARE (B FE) —
Bank balances disposed of BEHEMRITARR (84)
(84)

Note: The consideration receivable of RMB3,200,000 was offset against
the investment cost payable to Beijing Shuimu Zhiyu.

(d) Disposal of a subsidiary without loss of control
— Tianjin Allied Esports

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group disposed
of 21.5% shareholding in Tianjin Allied Esports to a substantial
shareholder of the Company and certain third parties without
losing control over the subsidiary. As a result of the disposal,
the Group's interest in Tianjin Allied Esports was reduced to
48.5%. The difference of RMB7,617,000 between the
consideration received of RMB12,900,000 and the amount of
non-controlling interests adjusted of RMB5,283,000 was directly
recognised in other reserve.

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment
activities. The financial risks include market risk (including foreign
currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group's overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk
management is carried out by the senior management of the Group
and approved by the Board.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure in
respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risks.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBRETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. WHRBREERAES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) =4C )

(a) Categories of financial assets and liabilities a) THEEREESSE
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement e B ISR O K P 51 BR TH & 5E B
of financial position relate to the following categories of TIemEERSREESE
financial assets and financial liabilities. 4 o

2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARETT

Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables B3R EWREIE
Loans to third parties BT E=ZFZEX 14,430 52,576
Other non-current receivable H b IE i B B W R IB 39,128 39,044
Trade and other receivables g5 N H e W ROR 353,291 261,823
Bank balances and cash RITHEHB LIRS 247,366 283,598
Available-for-sale financial assets AftHESRmEE 174,344 180,759
828,559 817,800
Financial liabilities TWMaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IZ# R AFEN SR AE
Trade and other payables H 5 MEMENRE 90,615 93,521
Other non-current payable H 37 B B 1 RUIA 39,128 39,044
129,743 132,565
(b) Foreign currency risk (b) 4hCE R b=
The Group's subsidiaries mainly operate in the PRC and in the AEEBZHBRAREERPE K
US and majority of the transactions are settled in RMB, USD or ERKE BHRHEIRZRHGUAR
EUR, being the functional currency of the group entities to B .ETHRTEE  EARSH
which the transactions relate. Foreign currency risk arises Mz ESEERMNINEEE - JNER
when future commercial transactions and recognised assets BAREBALIEAREEBNEERER
and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the EEAENARBER S RERE
entity’s functional currency. As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, REERBE RZZE—tFKk=
the Group did not have significant foreign currency risk from its TZ—RNE+-_A=+—H K&
operations. 275 0 % B K SR L B o

HREARSBRERAT —E—CEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRKRME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. WHERBREERASES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) =4¢-))
(b) Foreign currency risk (Continued) (b) 4 EE @ b (=)
Financial assets denominated in a foreign currency, translated LASNEEHE iR EBRE S AR
into RMB at the closing rates, are as follows: BEZEREENT :
2017
—E—iF
usD EUR HKD Total
P BT 7T &t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR¥Tn AR¥Tn AR TR

Bank balances and cash RITEB LIRS 12,465 1,801 50,539 64,805

Gross exposure arising EHRRAEHEEES
from recognised financial 2 2 &0 & k&
assets 12,465 1,801 50,539 64,805
2016
TN

usD EUR HKD Total

ETT BT BT &&t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTIE ARETT ARBTT AR®BTE

Bank balances and cash RITEHRER 2 6,562 402 2,132 9,096
Gross exposure arising ERRAEHEEEE

from recognised financial 2 ZF&E &

assets 6,962 402 2,132 2,096

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group’s [loss)/
profit after income tax for the year and equity in regard to a 5%
(2016: 5%) appreciation in the Group’'s functional currency
against RMB. The rate used represents management’'s best
assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017

TRIWSHEAEENEEE XA
R ¥ A E%(=F — N F:5%)
M AEBFARNKRAETRE S
1B),8 Bl A R 28 2 SRR - B
£ B A R 15 E 1B E ¥ INEE X 7]
e ENE 2 A fEfhET o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

(c)

3. WEERAREEBRANES

= (1|

(b) SMNEE R BZ (@)

2017
—2—tF
RMB’000
AR¥T R

Increase in loss for the year and equity FAEE RERIEM (2,430)

2016
—E—RF
RMB'000
ARET T

Decrease in profit for the year and equity F X5 M B hE m R A (341)

The same % depreciation in the Group’s functional currency
against the respective foreign currency would have the same
magnitude on the Group's (loss)/profit after income tax for the
year and equity but of opposite effect.

The Group does not hedge its foreign currency risk. However,
management monitors the foreign currency exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

Interest rate risk

Other than the interest-bearing bank deposits, the Group has
no other significant interest-bearing assets bearing variable
rates. The directors of the Company do not anticipate there is
any significant impact to these interest-bearing assets resulted
from the changes in interest rates, because the interest rates
of bank balances are not expected to change significantly.

AEBZNEEEAAEINER
BERZ%H  BEANEEFARA
BHRE(ER), BN RERBRE
EEERZEZE-

N5 B I 4 O S E LB o AT
EEEEENERR  UNEFE
R Z B P ERINER R -

() R=RRE

BE B RFERI - REEL mE
EARHBEE - KA AEEES
FEBH TR 2 AEBRE
AEARE BRREBEMHBTES
BAR IS TR EAERS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2017 B Z=—ZE—+F T+ A=+ —HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in relation to the Group’s
investment in unlisted financial products which are carried at
fair value. The sensitivity analysis is determined based on the
exposure to price risk of the unlisted financial products held by
the Group at the end of each reporting date. If the fair value of
the respective instrument held by the Group had been 5%
higher/lower, the profit for the year would have been increased/
decreased by RMB1,000,000 (2016: RMB3,500,000) respectively,
and no change in post-tax profit would have been expected for
the year.

The Group is not exposed to price risk for the Group’s equity
investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, they
are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at
the end of reporting date subsequent to initial recognition.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its bank
balances and cash, trade and other receivables and loans to

third parties.

The carrying amounts of each class of the financial assets as
summarised in Note 33(a)] above represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.
To manage this risk arising from bank balances and cash, the
Group only transacts with state-owned financial institutions and
reputable commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions in the PRC, Hong Kong and the US. There
has been no recent history of default in relation to these
financial institutions.

Trade receivables at the end of the year were due from
distribution channels and payment vendors in cooperation with
the Group. If the strategic relationship with the distribution
channels and payment vendors is terminated or scaled-back; or
if the distribution channels and payment vendors alter the co-
operative arrangements; or if they experience financial
difficulties in paying the Group, the Group’s trade receivables

might be adversely affected in terms of recoverability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BERME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(e

(f)

Credit risk (Continued)

To manage this risk, the Group maintains frequent
communications with the distribution channels and payment
vendors to ensure the effective credit control. In view of the
history of cooperation with the distribution channels and
payment vendors and the sound collection history of receivables
due from them, the directors of the Company believe that the
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding trade receivable
balances due from the distribution channels and payment

vendors is low.

For other receivables, management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The directors of the
Company believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in
the Group’s outstanding balance of other receivables.

For the loans to third parties, management makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of the amounts and
follow up on an ongoing basis. The loans were secured by
unlisted equity interests in companies incorporated in the PRC.
The directors of the Company believe that there is no material
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of the

loans to third parties.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature
of the underlying business, the Group aims to maintain flexibility

in funding by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual maturities
for its financial liabilities as at 31 December 2017. When the
creditor has a choice of when the liability is settled, the liability
is included on the basis of the earliest date on when the Group
can be required to pay. Where the settlement of the liability is in
instalments, each instalment is allocated to the earliest period
in which the Group is committed to pay.

—tFT_A=1T—HLFE
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(e)

(f)

==4¢ )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. WHERBREERASES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) ==4¢ )
(f) Liquidity risk (Continued) (fl REEZRKR @
The contractual maturity analysis below is based on the BESHEBEZABBERESRE
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities. VAR BT
Total
Within  Over 1year contractual
1 year or on but within undiscounted Carrying
demand 5years amount amount
R—FAR —FH0E EHRUEBR
RER BFUR MIEAEE IR H B

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTET ARBTT AR®TT

At 31 December 2017 R-E—+tF
+=BA=+-H
Trade and other payables & 5 K& H fth [ig {5 5k 18 90,615 - 90,615 90,615
Other non-current payable E fth 3 7 &) € 1~ 078 39,698 285 39,983 39,128
At 31 December 2016 R-ZE—XRF
+t=ZA=+—-~R
Trade and other payables & 5 & H fib JE 5 ZUIE 93,521 - 93,521 93,521
Other non-current payable E fth 3£ 775 &) FE 1~ 508 26,364 16,084 42,448 39,044
(g) Fair value measurements (g) RRESE
The following table presents financial assets and liabilities TERBEALREBERERRI KNGS
measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of BHRARPEZEARLBEFTENS &
financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. EERBE ZERBERARGS
The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three ZETREERBEZAAERN
levels based on the relative reliability of significant inputs used ERABABEBNEHATEEE SR
in measuring the fair value of these financial assets and BERBESB=MHKR - A rE
liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: EA&RWMT :
Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

—BR . REEERBBNERTISHNME CREHR)
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

“EBE . BRE-SEANREN  aBEEXRENEER (AER) R (BERITE) BRNBARE : X

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

FZER: ARERNATBRMSHE BITUERRGARE) NEEXABNBARE -
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33. UERREEBRAESE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (|
(g) Fair value measurements (Continued) () DA ESE @
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial BEHAALABFEEEATEN
asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on the BAENREERZAREER
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value HemMmEESRAB2EMMNU
measurement. pal I
The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the FaMBRAKRPERIAEFTE
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into MNEeMEEMBBERES AL TA
the fair value hierarchy as follows: AEER:
2017 —E—+tF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E-ER F-BER ZFZE#R B
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
i AREFTT AR®TT AR®TT AR%®TR
Assets gE
Available-for-sale financial AftHESRERE
assets
Unlisted financial products FEEMERER (a) - 20,000 - 20,000
Liabilities afE
Contingent consideration RERHEMEEES
payable for profit guarantee i FI#EIR 2 FE T 3K
in relation to Tianjing RRE
Zhongqui Weiye (b) - — (285) (285)
Contingent consideration RERHEMEEIEH
payable for further E-FWERREL
acquisition option in relation Tk AR E
to Tianjing Zhongqui Weiye (b) - - (2,137) (2,137)
Contingent consideration It RE R F AR
payable for profit guarantee  SEFIHER 2 B 5
of Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji ARE (b) - - (906) (906)
— - (3,328) (3,328)
Net fair values DREFE - 20,000 (3,328) 16,672
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. WHERBREERASES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) ==4¢ )
(g) Fair value measurements (Continued) () [ ESE @
2016 s
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—ER F_ER FE=ER e

Note RMB'000
M ARETT

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTE ARETT

Assets BE
Available-for-sale financial At ESRmEE

assets
Unlisted financial products FIrmemER (a) — 70,000 — 70,000
Liabilities =R
Contingent consideration JEfT S ARE

payable - - (18,889] (18,889)
Net fair values NAESFE — 70,000 (18,889) 51111

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out
of Level 3 (2016: nill.

Notes:
(a)  Unlisted financial products
The fair value of unlisted financial products is determined by

reference to the net asset value of the underlying investment in
the financial products.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(g) Fair value measurements (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Contingent consideration payable
The information about the fair value of contingent consideration
payable categorised under Level 3 fair value hierarchy are

described below:

As at 31 December 2017

3. WEERAREEBRANES

==N¢ )

(g) DRAESE @

Mt : (&)

(b) ENIRAKE

FRARAAEBEEF=ZBRIAT ZEN
ZARERXIABEBZERNT

R=—Z—tH&+=-A=+—H

Valuation technique Unobservable input Range

fHES % TABEEE EE

Profit guarantee Discounted cash flow Probability of meeting target 30%
& MR MERERE BEm=

Further acquisition option Polynomial option pricing model Spot price, volatility n/a

#— DU B ZHABEEEER HEE KB TEA

The fair value of contingent consideration payable of profit
guarantee (Notes 21 and 31] is estimated using present value
technique. As at 31 December 2017, the fair value of
RMB1,191,000 is estimated by the probability weighting the
estimated future cash flows of the earn-out arrangement. No
discounting effect is considered given the short term of maturity
of one year.

The fair value of contingent consideration payable for further
acquisition option (Notes 21 and 31) is estimated using present
value technique. As at 31 December 2017, the fair value of
RMB2,137,000 is estimated by the option pricing model. No
discounting effect is considered given the short term of maturity
of one year.

As at 31 December 2016

BRERZEFKAREAAE
(B %21 &31) Ty fE BIBRE Al
FreR=ZFE—+tF+_A=+—
H:' Ak EARK1191,00075T Ty
BRERTHZEFTAKREESR
B2 IR BEME (AT - =N R H
HMBAE—F R KEESH

=%
TE

E—SWRERBEZEMNIAR
B2 nECH 21 %31) T A
BEFAGT RZFE—LF+
—HA=t—HB 2AEBARK
2,137,000 7T Jh i@ @ HARE e (B =
et - EREHA A E—F -
M REE ST TE-

RN=ZF = xEr=H=er—H

Valuation technique Unobservable input Range
HER A NHBEEUE &0 [F
Contingent consideration
payable Discounted cash flow Probability of meeting target 100%
FERRARHKE FERERE EREY R

The fair value of contingent consideration payable (Notes 21 and
31) is estimated using present value technique. As at 31
December 2016, the fair value of RMB18,889,000 is estimated by
the probability weighting the estimated future cash flows of the
earn-out arrangement and discounting at 4.9%.

R RAREZ AR E =
21 %3 FERBEEER AN
FFeR-ZZFE—XNFE+_A=
+—H ' AKR%18889,0007T
ZARNERBERLEZM
FFARRIB SR E Z IR B
ML 9% 2 BEIR REL G E -

BRERZEREEAT —E-CFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &% =

34.

St

M B R RMEE (8)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group when managing capital are to safeguard
the ability of the Group in continuing as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’
value in the long term.

The Group monitors capital by regularly reviewing the capital
structure. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with the issued
share capital. The Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, repurchase the Company’'s shares
or sell assets to reduce debts.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 28 July 2017, the Company issued convertible notes with an
aggregate principal amount of RMB104,076,000 (equivalent to
HK$120,000,000 based on the fixed exchange rate of RMB1 : HK$1.153
(the “Fixed Exchange Rate”] as stated in the subscription agreement]
(the “Convertible Notes”). The Convertible Notes carry interest at 6%
per annum, payable quarterly in arrears and all interest payments
shall be in HK$ based on the Fixed Exchange Rate. The Convertible
Notes will mature in 30 months and the Company shall redeem at
100% of the principal amount on the maturity date. The noteholder
shall have the right to convert the Convertible Notes into ordinary
shares of the Company at the conversion price of RMB2.312 per share
(equivalent to HK$2.666 per share based on Fixed Exchange Rate) (the
The Initial
adjusted to equal to the new issue price if the Company issues

“Initial Conversion Price”). Conversion Price shall be
ordinary shares at a price that is lower than the Initial Conversion
Price. The number of ordinary shares to be issued upon conversion at

Initial Conversion Price will be 45,011,252 shares.

On 28 December 2017, the noteholder exercised the conversion rights
and the Convertible Notes were converted in full into ordinary shares
of the Company. The Initial Conversion Price was adjusted to HK$1.85
per share and the number of ordinary shares issued upon conversion
was 64,864,864 shares (Note 25).
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35. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) 35. JREEER @)
The movements of Convertible Notes during the year is as follows: AR EERNFRNZEEBMT :
Liability Equity
component component Total
S2ER =D &t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETRT ARETRT

At 1 January 2017 RZZE—-—+&—H—H — — —
Issue of Convertible Notes BATAI AR R 1R 103,381 695 104,076
Interest expense (Note 6) FERZ (M5E6) 2,775 — 2,775
Payment of interest expense B (2,775) - (2,775)
Exchange differences N ZERR 195 — 195
Conversion of Convertible Notes 83 A # f% 22 i& (103,576} (695) (104,271
At 31 December 2017 R-_Z—+F+_A=+—H — - -
The liability component represented the debt component of the BEFDIEAURBREEZEHLS B
Convertible Notes and was initially recognised at fair value. ANABERNILFT=E -

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 6. METHELECERBHIER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities REBMETSEE 2 BBEES D AN
can be classified as follows: T

Convertible Notes

iR R

RMB’000

ARET T

At 1 January 2017 R-ZZE—+H—-—H—H —
Cash-flows: REm:

— Proceeds —FT1S A 104,076
Non-cash: R

— Conversion to ordinary shares —E iR AT R (104,076)

At 31 December 2017 RZE—+tF+ZA=+—H -

HRARDRERAT —E—CEER @
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37. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The following significant events took place subsequent to 31
December 2017:

(i) On 4 January 2018, the Company issued 153,880,037 shares to
connected parties at an issue price of HK$1.85 per share. The
gross proceeds was approximately RMB237,111,000 (equivalent
to HK$284,678,000).

(i) On 16 January 2018, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement for acquisition of 100% equity interest in Shenzhen
Xunyou Internet Technology Co., Ltd. at a consideration of
RMB150,000,000, among which RMB75,000,000 shall be settled
in cash and RMB?75,000,000 shall be settled in issuing

consideration shares.

(i) On 16 January 2018, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement for acquisition of 100% equity interest in Nanjing
Haoyun Meicheng Electronics Co., Ltd. at a consideration of
RMB220,000,000, among which RMB136,000,000 shall be
settled in cash and RMB84,000,000 shall be settled in issuing
consideration shares.

(iv)  On 16 January 2018, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement for acquisition of 100% equity interest in Xiamen
Yiwantang Internet Technology Co., Ltd. at a consideration of
RMB55,000,000, among which RMB25,000,000 shall be settled
in cash and RMB30,000,000 shall be settled in issuing
consideration shares.
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